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Briush Atrways becomes the first airine in A new voluntary scheme s launched to British Airways unvells Its next generanion

the UK 10 enable passengers deparung from enable customers to offset the carbon business class cabin, offering greater comien

Heathrow to print their own boarding passes dioxide emissions from therr fights by making more space and storage

online for selected flights a contribution to an environmental trust

Who we are

British Airways is the UK's largest
International scheduled airline, flying
to over 300 destinations at convenient
times, to the best located airports.

‘We are one of the world's leading scheduled internatronal Our airine network generates econormc value by meeung the
passenger arlines Our principal place of business 1s Heathrow,  demand for business travel, by providing vital arteries for trade
one of the warld's premier arport locations, which serves 2 and investment, as well as providing leisure travel opportunities
large geographical area with a comparatively high proportion for ndividuals and families In 2007/08, we earned over

of point-to point business We also operate a worldwide air £8 7 billion in revenue, 3 1 per cent up on the previous year
Large business, largely in conjunction with our scheduled Passenger traffic accounted for 86 2 per cent of this revenue,
passenger services Cperating one of the most extensive while 7 0 per cent came from cargo and 6 8 per cent from
mternational scheduled airline route networks, with our other activities We carned 805,000 tonnes of cargo to
codeshare and franchise pariners, we fly to more than destnauons in Europe, the Americas and throughout the

300 destinations worldwide in 2007/08, we carnted mare world At the end of March 2008, we had 245 aircraft in

than 33 miflion passengers service, compared to 242 in March 2007

Our fleet. 245 aircraft

57 42 21

Boeing 747s Boeing 777s Boeing 767s

13 33 11

Boeing 757s Boeing 737s Airbus A321s

25 33 10

Airbus A320s Airbus A319s Avro RJ100s
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Bntish Airways places an order for 12 Arbus Bntish Airways first fhght from Terminal 5

A380 arcraft and 24 Boeng 787 arcraft departs to Pans on March 27, 2008
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£8,753m £8383m £875m -
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Revenue Profit before tax Operating profit
Group revenue for 2007/08 was Group profit before tax for 2007/08 Group operaung profit for 2007/08 2
£8,753 million, compared with was £883 million, compared with was £875 million, comgpared with H
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The operaung margin in 2007/08 Group earnings per share for 2007/08 Fuel costs rose by 64 per cent in
was 100 per cent compared with were 590 pence, compared with 2007/08 1o £2,055 milkon, compared
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Chairman’s statement

There is no doubt that the past
year has been a turbulent one
for our Company. There have
been highlights and lowlights —
some of our own making,
others outside our control.
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The embarrassing events surrcunding the opening of Terminal 5
have been well documented, as has our deep regret at the
frustraton and inconvenience the disruption caused

M
| want to reassure you that our recovery plani1sin
place and we are determined to rebuild our reputation
worldwide and restore the trust of our customers in
Bntish Airways. In the meantime our staff are rising to
the challenge of delivering the service our customers
deserve, despite the difficulties of working across
three terminals at Heathrow

e e

While the change 1o a phased move to Terminal 5 has had a
broader impact on Heathrow, it 15 vital that our operation is
embedded fully before the next stage of development at the
arport Although this has put back the move of other airlines
into Terminal 4, BAA agrees that it 15 i the interests of our
industry and UK plc that we move forward together

These events have taken the gloss off a very good set of
results which we achieved despste record fuel costs and the
impact of economic slowdown, caused mainly by the credit
crunch in the US

Financial performance

Our operating profit of £875 million gives us a record operating
margin of 10 per cent Our pre-tax profit of E883 mullion s also
arecord

Revenue up
3.1%
Pre-tax proa.

£883m

#
Achieving 10 per cent operating margin was a major
milestone for our Company It has been our goal
since 2002 and one of the necessary triggers for the
restoration of the dividend. The other was addressing
the pensions deficit which was one of the biggest of
the FTSE 100 companies.
ﬂ

The Board has always mainsained that we needed to tackle
our pension deficit, strengthen our baiance sheet and achieve
a 10 per cent operating margin before we would restore a
dividend Based on successful resolution of these matters,

the Board has decided on a dividend pohcy for the current year
to start at a modest level that reflects our lowered financial
expectations for the coming year and that will ailow it to grow
over time and be consistent with other cyclical companies and
our major arrline compettors

Our revenye performance was good, up 3 1 per cent n 2007/08
Operating costs were down O 7 per cent despiie the impact
of nsing fuel costs Fuel conunues to be a major cost and at
current prices we expect our fuel bill next year to be some
£3 biliion, up £1 bilhon on this year Our cargo performance
improved and cargo revenue was up 3 O per cent

Runway capacity

We await the recommendation fram the government on plans
to allow full utlisation of Heathrow's two existing ruriways and
the construction of a short, third runway — subject to meeting
stnngent environmental safeguards

Operating margin
10%

Operating profit

£875m
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Chairman’s statement continued

This follows a public consultauon during which protestors
made sure 1t was hugh on the media agenda Interestingly, in the
area around Heathrow, where you might expect opposition to
expansion o be strongest, a Populus opirion poll of residents
in the 12 boroughs closest to the airport showed 50 per cent
backing for a third runway, with oppositon running at 30 per cent
The majonity in favour of mixed mode was larger stitl

Business leaders were vocal in their backing for sustainable
growth and made it clear that l.ondon and the UK needs a
world-class airport that has the capacity to provide the range
of air inks you need for success 11t a global economy We hope
the government holds firm in its clear intent to go zhead with
the third runway because 1t I1s iImportant not just for British
Airways but for London and the UK economy

Climate change

In this context we realise that climate change is perhaps the
biggest long-term challenge we face It 1s important for the public
to understand that the atmosphere has no preferences whether
ermissions come from aviation or agriculture, from China or the
UK But it does matter that cuts in those emissions are achieved
in the most economically sensible manner This message 1s
often lost in the emottonal headlines around the 1ssue

Aviauon worldwide accounis for approximately 2 per cent of
global CO, ermussions, and allowing for growth, it is forecast by
the UN to produce about 3 per cent by 2050 In companson,
road transport generates about six times as much CO, and
power generation and deforestation around ten times as much

We believe carbon trading is the most effective way of
controlling emisstons in an economically sensible manner
5o when the LK Government endorsed the tntroduction

of aviation it the EU Emissions Trading Scheme (¢ should
have been a decision 1o welcome But we were disappointed
that the implementation date was delayed unul 2012 and
not confined to intra-EU airlines

To impose 1t on foreign arrlines fiying into and out of the EU
will provote significant international oppositton and lead to
further delays in implementation A beiter approach would
be to restrict the scheme to intra-EU travel and negoniate
the global development of an emissions trading scherme

HM Treasury announced its intention 1o replace Air Passenger
Duty with a new ‘per plane’ tax with effect from November 2009
The Treasury's consultation on this proposal has now closed

We have senous concerns that this new tax will distort competition
and discriminate aganst UK network and longhaul carners,
while at the same ume incenuvising travel over rival European
hub airports with no benefit to the environment

Any new tax should be balanced and non-discnminatory and
should retain the current transfer exemption for connecting
passengers In any svent, once UK aviation joins the EU
Ermissions Trading Scheme in 2012, any existing taxes should
be phased out

EU-US

Looking at transatfantic regulatory i1ssues, the limited progress
rmade in stage one of the EU-US aviation agreement has
allowed us 1o launch a new subsidiary airline called OpenSkies
offering direct services from continental Europe to the US for
the first tme The first senice will be from Paris to New York on
a Boeing 757 that offers flat beds and a urigue style of service

One reason we chose the name OpenSkies for our fledgling
new business 1s to signal cur commitment to stage two of the
talks between the EU and US towards a genuine Open Aviation
Area —with equal traffic nghts and removal of ownership
restnctions Then the industry can finally reap the benefits of
the kind of sensible cross-national consolidation that has taken
ptace in electronics, motor manufactunng, pharraceuticals,
banking and almost every other business sector

We will not hesitate to remind the government of its night to
rerminate the current deal of sufficient progress towards this
bigger goal has not been made by 2010

The new arr treaty has also enabled us to move our fhights

to Dallas and Houston from Gatwick to Heathrow and we are
increasing frequencies on flights to New York JFK, Washington,
Seattle and Orlando

Separate to the arr treaty we have announced our intention 10
launch serwices from London City airport to New York using
Airbus A318 arrcraft in an all-business, 32-seat configuration
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We are the only arrline offering the
benefits of a fuil service carmner
from Gatwick to destinations such
as Antalya, Faro and Malaga

New aircraft

We announced our long awaited order for ionghaul replacement
and growth aircraft during the year Both the Airbus A380 and
the Boeing 787 have huge potential for us and, of course, for
our customers

W
The ‘whispering giant', as the Airbus A380 has been
called, and the Boeing 787 Dreamliner, will set new
benchmarks in the sky for comfort and technology,
and in terms of emissions, NO, and notse.

e -

Boeing subseguently announced a delay to the onginal delivery
schedule, and while this s a setback we are working closely
with them to minigate this

Strategic partnerships

In an exciting development for the oneworld alliance, we are
explaring opportumties for closer cooperation with American
Aurlines and Cenunental Airlines

in the UK, our franchise madel has cutlived its purpose and
we took the opportunity to end our franchise with GB Arrways
when they made u clear they wanted to sell their business

We subseguenitly launched our own services on some of the
key routes previously operated by our franchisee and we are
pleased that they have proved to be very popular We are the
only arline offenng the benefits of a full service carner from
Gatwick to destinations such as Antalya, Faro and Malaga

We have also announced we are ending our franchise agreement
with Loganarr, and earlier in the year we ended our relationship
with BMED Our overseas franchises, however, are not affected
as they provide useful feeder traffic and extend our brand Into
areas we cannot serve ourselves

S —

Our relationship with Iberia continues to strengthen
and during the year we increased our shareholding
from 9.95 to 13 15 per cent. This purchase reflects the
strategic importance we attach to our relationship
with Iberia and our continued confidence In its
management. We will continue to consider further
opportunities to Increase our stake,

e —

Sponsorship

Sponsorshp alfows us to grve our support 1o worthy causes
and sparting events We are delighted and proud to support
Londan's bid for the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games
We will play an integral role in welcoming the world to London
in 2012

London 2012 1s abaut inspiring young people, transforming
and InspIring a nation, creating a lasting tegacy for Britain and
encouraging people to acuvely participate in the Games

we will support this wision with a number of initiatives over
the next four years that will nvest In communities whare the
Games wili be staged, suppert diversity and celebrate Brizan
at its best

The Brinsh Airways Qlympic Youth Bursary Scheme has been
created with the specific aim of encouraging young people to
get involved in sport and assist the next generaton of Clympic
hopefuls and aspinng athletes

Looking forward

The history of aviation economics indicates that it s )mportant
to be n a healthy financial condition at the start of a cyciical
downturn With oil at $120 a barrel, that’s exactly where we
are now In the coming year we will need a sensible financial
outcome, albeit down an the year just ended, but 1t will be
especially important to win back our customers’ trust

Martin Broughton, Chairman
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Chief Executive’s statement

L ast year turned out to be a
mixed one for British Airways.
We celebrated some real
triumphs — including achieving
a 10 per cent operating

margin for the first time ever,
announcing exciting new
services and placing important
aircraft orders. But the opening
of Terminal 5 went badly wrong.
Despite this, | think we can feel
confident about our future.
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After the early problems with Terminal 5 and a lot
of hard work by people right across British Airways,
we believe this fantastic new facility will increasingly
help us to transform the travelling experience of our
customers. That's what they deserve, and that's what
we are determined to give them.

Key achievements in 2007/08

Financial success

For the first time ever we achieved
an operaung margin of 10 per cent
in 2007/08

Continuing tight control of our cosis
played a crucial role in hitung thes
impartant target and 1t puts us 1IN a

far stronger position than many of our
competitars to cope with increasingly
tough econormic conditions in the
year ahead

Our profit before tax for the year
was £883 mulion, up £272 million,
onrevenue of £8,753 million, an
increase of 3 1 percent

Environmental commitment

Our industry's most pressing corporate
responsibility 1s to reduce the carbon
emissions from its operations

The recent agreement between the
international Arr Transport AssoQation
and the airtines to a joint commitment
on this 1s an important step forward
for our industry

We conunue (0 be leaders in this freld
We are the only airhne 1o have taken
part In an emissions trading scheme
Since 1990 we have cut our emissions
by 28 per cent and in 2007/08 set
ourselves the new target of cutting our
CO, by a further 25 per cent by 2025

Customer service developments
We have completed the fit out of our
new award-winning Club World cabin on
cur Boeing 747 fleet 2nd have started
putting it on our Boeing 777 fleet

It has already won design awards and
set new benchmarks for comfort in
the arr

On the ground we continue 10
improve our online booking engine
ba com and customers can now buy
online, check-in online and email
messages on bacomn 11 languages

We have placed an %8 billion order
for new aircraft and our design teams
have begun work on defining the
interiors of these arrcraft
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Chief Executive’s statement continued

The next few years will be immensely challenging for the
arrline industry Like our competitors we will have to respond
to sharply nsing infrastructure and fuel costs, changes in
regulation, flerce competition, possible restructuring of our
industry and significant environmentat challenges We must
contend with these while striving ta meet the relentiessly
high expectations of our customers

Thanks to a great deal of hard work In recent years
the fundamentals of our business are vastly improved.
So we will meet these challenges from a position

of financial strength that few other carriers enjoy.
Once Terminal 5 1s fully running, as it can and shouid,
we will have the tools to transform the travelling
experience of our customers.

L R

Terminat 5 — a new start

I want to put on record again my deep regret for the
inconvenience and frustratons we caused to customers
in the days after Terminal 5 opened

Our people have worked tirelessly to put things nght and,
thanks to this ongoing effort, customers will begin to see
this tfremendous new faciity in its true light

The first phase of the move of additional flights into Terminal 5
will take place on June 5 The services 1o be switched include
flights to and from New York |FK The other seven destinations
are Abuja, Bangalore, Beying, Cairo, Cape Town, Lagos and
Phoenix All these flights currently operate from Terminal 4
and combined they amount to about a quarter of the airline’s
Terminal 4 schedule

We will switch further flights from Terminal 4 when we have full
confidence that good standards of service will be maintained,
with the terminal handling larger volumes of customers and bags

BAO38 incident

Another inaident which attracted intense media focus was the
BAO38 which landed short of the runway on its approach to
Heathrow in January

There were 136 customers on board, 13 members of cabin
crew and three pilots Thanks to the heroism and skili of the
fight crew, the Boeing 777 aircraft landed safely and the
excellent work of the cabin crew ensured that ali our customers
were evacuated on the Captain's command with only a few
Injuries sustained

An incident of this kind 1s sormething we hope will never happen
but this 1s why we place so much emghasis on safety We focus
a great deal of importance on the guality and standard of our
traiming Our flight and cabin crew have shown the value of
their training and skills and were able to deal with the incident
professionally, effectrvely and safely

Alf the crew did a magnificent job supported by our frontline
staff from engineering to call centre staff and volunteers to
care for the passengers and keep our operations going

I am very proud of them, and from the emaiis and letters that
| received after this incident, | know many people around the
world share this view The Air Accident Investigation Board
(AAIB) continues to investigate what caused the incident

Customer development

¢ fully understand why many will be tempted 1o view our
performance this year through the prism of Termunal 5 But
we have made great stndes forward enhancing our service
for customers on the ground and i the air

We completed the mstallation of our new Club World cabin

on our entire 57 Boeing 747 fleet, offering better sleep to our
premium customers, and an improvead Club kitichen We have
also striven to set new benchmarks for comfort in the arr, and
the awards it has attracted tefl us that we are achieving that
We have started the fit out of the new Club World on our

42 Boeing 777 fleat

On the ground we continue to develop our online booking
service ba com

I referred earher to our order of new aircraft While the delivery
of the Boeing 787 and Airbus A380 may be some years away,
our design team has already begun the process of developing
our unique next generauon interior In terms of CO, emissions
per seat, the Awrbus A380 will be 17 per cent cleaner than

the Boeing 747-400 and the Boeing 787 will be 30 per cent
cleaner than the Boeing 767

“
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12 Asrbus A380 on order, with
options on a further seven

New services

We are also Invesung In new services to prepare for new
opporTunities i our markets We have ordered two Awrbus A318s
to operate our new business-only service from London City
airport to New York — a service we thunk will prove popular and
convenient for people working in these twa financial centres

- S — M

In longhaul we are expanding services to our two most
important markets, the US and India. This summer we
will fly 41 times a day to 18 US destinations We will
also launch a new daily service to Hyderabad in India
‘s ———

The allkiances we have with other airlines remain very important
to us and mean we can be much more responsive to our
customers' needs Cur ties with Iberia, where we now have

a 13 15 per cent stake, continue to get stronger and you can
expect us to enter new code-sharing agreements with the
Spanish carrier beyond those we already have

As the Charrman notes, we have alse announced plans o start
flying from continental Europe to the US

Controlling costs

Of course aur ability to invest n growth depends directly on
us controlling our cost base In the last seven years this has
been an absolute prionty To that end we tackied our pension
deficit and worked hard to reduce our debt levels from the
peak of over £6 billion to £1 3 billion

As a result of this concerted action, we have delivered
a 10 per cent aperating margin for the first tme ever

However, we expect 10 see our margins decrease n 2008/09,
due mostly to sharp increases 1n fuel costs — which we now
expect to nse by around a half to £3 billion (at current prices)
this year — higher employee costs, economic slowdown and
increased competiton

The expected reduciion in margin In the current year only
serves to underline how important our cost control efforts
have been and must continue to be

Another area of significant cost 1s airport charges which have
been set by the CAA for the five years between Apnil 2008
and March 2013 We continue to believe they were set at an

averly generous Jevel at Heathrow that s far in excess of what s
needed to upgrade faciiues through investrment in infrastructure
and improved service quality levels

We suffer from very peor regulation and the CAAs objective
should be to ensure that BAA provides the infrastructure
and services that customers want, bui in a cost effective

and efficient way that does not overcompensate the arport
operator financially

The focus of the Comperiion Commission’s current review
into the UK airports’ market should be 1o ensure that the nght
conditions are put In place that best meet customers' needs

Environmental leadership
We have put corparate responsibility at the centre of our

business prionties and our ambition is to be a leader in this field |

During the year we announced that Sila Maizey - formerly
Head of Procurement — had been appointed as our first ever
Head of Corporate Respansibility, reportng directly 1o me
we are determined to grow But we are equally determined 1o
grow responsibly, and | hope Sifla’s appointment will be seen
as a statement of our serious intent

Undoubtedly, cimate change 1s our most significant challenge in
this respect Our industry gets pilionied by some environmentalists
for 1ts contribunon to global warmimg We don't agree with therr
analysis, but | want to be very clear that we do intend 0 be In
the vanguard in tackling this issue

The corporate responsibility report can be found on pages
380 50

Confidence

At the end of a testng year for Briush Airways, I'd Iike to thank
everyone in the Company for their tremendous support and
dedication - not least as we warked to overcome difficulties
at Terminal 5 and restore the confidence of our customers

It's this spinit that, above all, gives me such a strong sense of
confidence in the future of this airine

Willie Walsh, Chief Executive
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Chief Financial Officer's report

Our profits reached record
levels in 2007/08, as we
achieved our target of a

10 per cent operating margin
for the first time.

This Chief Financial Officer’s report forms part of, and should be read
In conjunction with, the Directors’ report set out on pages 54 to 58
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Financial performance

Our operating profit in the year, at £875 millon, was up

£273 million, against a background of ever-increasing fuel
prices Pre-tax profits were £883 smufhon, up £272 miflion on
the previous year Our financial strength has been significantly
improved aver the last few years and these results put usin a
good positton to deal with the extremely difficuit chmate which
Is now gripping the Industry — caused by economic slowdown
and record fuel prices

Revenue

Revenue for the year was £8,753 million, up 3 1 per cent,
despite the negative impact of exchange rate movements
Excluding the impact of exchange, primarly down to the
weaker US dollar, revenue was up 4 6 per cent.

Our passenger revenue, at £7,541 million, was up 3 8 per cent,
on capacity up 0 8 per cent Seat factor, being the measure of
how full our flights are, was down 0 5 paints to 75 6 per cent
Despite the negative impact of exchange rates, yields (measured
as revenue per passenger kilometre flown) were up 3 6 per cent,
mainly due to more premium passengers travelling with us
Demand for our premium cabins remained strong The new
Club World product 1s now available on our entire 747 fleet,
and this added almost 10 per cent additional premium capacity
during the second half of the year Shorthaul premium traffic
weakened, partly due to concerns within the financial markets
Non-premium traffic on the North Atlanuc was soft duning

the year and this, In part, contnbuted to a reduction in non-
premium revenue

Our cargo revenue for the year was £616 million, up 30 per cent
Excluding the impact of exchange, it was up 4 8 per cent Cargo
capacity, measured in available tonne kilometres (ATK), decreased
by 0 2 per cent Our cargo volurmes, however, recovered strongly
n the year and were up by 4 2 per cent Premium product
volumes continued to grow and were up by 12 6 per cent. Our
cargo yield (revenue per cargo tonne kilometre) decreased

by 1 2 per cent Increased cargo fuel surcharges and a better
prermium mix in the second half of the year helped offset
ongowng price pressures evident in a number of markets

The strong euro continues to impact demand from Europe, and
price pressures due to overcapacity continued to be a feature
n South Asia Flown valumes from the Americas and the LK
improved, and Asia Pacific conunues {0 perform strongly

Overall load factor for the year was 71 2 per cent, up 0 8 points
on last year

Total revenue £ million

2007/08 [ ~ 18753
2006/07 [ 18,492
2005/06 [ 18,213
2004/05 [ —_ 17,772
2003/04 [ _ 17,560

Operating expenditure

Our cost performance in the year was strong Our expenditure
on operations decreased by O 7 per cent compared 1o last
year, with unit costs (toial expenditure on operations per ATK)
reducing by G 5 per cert This was a major achievemertt,
conssdering that we were facing rapidly nising fuel costs
throughout the year and we had also concentrated significant
additional resources on the operation for the move ta Terminal 5
Excluding fuel costs, our expenditure on operauons reduced
by 3 0 per cent

The table overleaf summanises total Group expenditure on
operations and year on year changes in expenditure over the
two financial years ended March 31, 2008 and March 31, 2007

Our employee costs reduced by.4 9 per cent to £2,166 million
within this, pension costs were down some £92 million
primarily due to the agreed changes to the future service
benefits as part of a 10-year programme to fund the defictn
the New Airways Pension Scheme (NAPS) The changes were
implemented in February 2007 Lower redundancy costs and
manpower efficiencies more than offset inflanon-inked wage
increases Our employee costs Included £35 million n respect
of our Employee Reward Plan (ERP) and management bonuses
The average number of employees in the Group, measured in
manpower equivalents (MPE), fell by 2 5 per cent to 42,403
and praductivity (measured in ATKs per MPE) improved by

2 4 per cent
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Chief Financial Officers report continued

(€ midlian} 2007/08 2006/07 (E;vfé[riref)
Employee costs 2,166 2,277 4 9%
Depreciation, amorusation and impairment 692 714 31%
Aircraft operating lease costs 68 81 16 0%
Fuel and ail costs 2,055 1,931 (6 )%
Engineenng and other aircraft costs 451 414 (89)%
Landing fees and en route charges 528 517 21)%
}:I;r;t—iﬁg chargz—:-_s,—c-agrmg a|:|—(1~_c>~ther opere;tTr;g E?si? S ) 977 930 (51)%
Selling costs _ S i ] i 359 436 17 7%
Currency differences 6 18 66 7%
Accommodation, ground equipment and IT costs 576 618 6 8%
Total Group expenditure on operations* 7,878 7936 07%

“Before non-recurnng items

Our depreciation, amorosation and impatrment costs reduced
by 3 1 per cent compared 1o last year This (s partly due to
changes in dilapidations charges and changes to the useful
economic lives of a number of assets

The number of aircraft we have on operating leases reduced
during the year and this, along with lease renegotiations and
the weaket US dollar, resulted in our aircraft operating lease
costs reducing by £33 million compared with tast year

Record fuel prices drove our fuel and oil costs up by
£124 millton compared with last year. This increase
was after the benefits of hedging of $392 million,

and the favourable exchange impact of the weaker
US dollar.
L]

Qur engineenng and other aircraft costs, at £451 million,
increased by 8 9 per cent compared with last year This was
partly due to contractuaf price increases on our flying hour
engine mamtenance contracts and partly due 1o prior year
tnventory provision releases on the back of a sustained
improvement in the control environment We also had an
increased number of wet leases (awrcraft with crew) this year,
and additional shorthaul freighter costs These increases were
partly offset by reduced fleet insurance rates due to the soft
awviation market

Landing fees and en route charges cost us £528 milltion, up
21 per cent This was partly due to rate increases and adverse
exchange movements, pnimarily the stronger euro
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Our engineering and other arcraft
costs, at £451 million, increased
by & 9 per cent compared with
last year

Handling charges, catering and other operating costs increased
by 5 1 per cent compared with last year The increase was
primardy down to the costs of repatnaung mishandled baggage
and compensation, following the baggage 1ssues we had in the
summer and more recently following the opening of Terminal 5
We also incurred additional costs as a result of our ongoing
investment in First and Club World

Operating expenditure  Unit costs
down 0.7% down 0.5%

Our selling and marketing cosis fell by 17 7 per cent, year on
year This pnmarily reflects increased booking through ba com,
lower advernsing costs and agency COMMISSIOns

QOur £576 milion spend on accommodanon, ground
equipment and IT was 6 8 per cent lower than last year This
reflects savings i IT development and operating costs as well
as lower property costs — mamnly due to rent and rates savings,
less anerous lease costs and reduced dilapidation provisions
Qur spend on tegal fees reduced, but this was partially offset
by higher consultancy costs associated with Terminal 5

Finanaal derivatsves

Net unreahised gains on fuel dervatives were £12 milhion
(2006/07 £12 million foss), reflectung the ineffective portion
of unrealised gains and losses on fuel derivative hedges
required to be recogrused through the income statement
under International Accounting Standard (1AS) 39

Net finance costs
Our finance costs for 2007/08 were £175 million, compared
with £168 million in 2006/07

Despite increases in the UK and US floating rates, our interest
payable on bank and other loans reduced, maimly as a result
of lower debt levels Qur interest costs also benefited from
increased capitalised interest, thanks mosily to Terminal 5
and arrcraft orders

Our finance income for the year was £111 milkon, down
£18 milhion on last year The reduction was due to lower
average cash balances, only parually offset by higher interest
rates The lower cash balance was due to one-off payments
into NAPS and the fine paid to the US Department of Justice
(DO for anti-competitive activity

Pension financing income and retranslation expenses
Pension financing income was £34 milhon in 2007/08
compared to a charge of £19 mithon in 2006/07 This was
primarily the result of a higher return on assets :n the pension
scheme following the one-off cash contnbunions into NAPS

The retranslation of currency borrowings generated a charge
of £11 millon, compared with a credit of £13 million the
previous year The movement versus last year was due manty
to a strengthening of the Japanese yen this year, partly offset
by lower yen debt levels

Profit on sale of fixed assets and investments

Profit on the sale of fixed assets and investments for the year
was £14 milion {2006/07 £47 million which included a profit of
£48 milion on the sale of our helding in World Network Services)
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Chief Financial Officer's report continued

Share of post-tax profits in associates

During the year, we mcreased our holding in Ibena from

995 per cent to 13 15 per cent The increase in our share of
post-tax profits in associates — up from £5 million in 2006/07
to £26 mithon in 2007/08 —in part reflects this increased
shareholding

Taxation
The analysis and explanation of tax 1s set out Innote 11 to
the financial statements

Owr total tax charge ansing on profits from continuing
operations was £187 mithon (2006/C37 £173 milicn) giving us
an effective tax rate for the year mn relation to our profits from
centinuing operations of 21 per cent (2006/07 28 per cent)
The tax charge benefited from a one-off deferred tax credit of
£76 million ansing from the reduction in the UK corporation
tax rate from 30 per cent to 28 per cent, which is effective
fram April 1, 2008, and there were charges relating to prior
years totaling £4 million (2006707 £14 milhon credit)
Excluding these one-off items the effeciive tax rate for the
Group would have been 26 per cent {2006/07 31 per cent)

We paid corporation taxes tortalling £66 millicn during the
year, compared with £128 milhion last year, 2nd we had a
corporation tax provision of £4 mifion at March 31, 2008
(March 31, 2007 £54 millron) Our deferred tax balance
at March 31, 2008 was £1,154 milhon (March 31, 2007
£930 million)

Earnings per share

I _

The total earnings attnbutable to shareholders for
the year was £680 mullion, equivalent to 59 O pence
per share. This represents a 131 per cent increase
on last year's earnings per share of 25 5 pence The
increase was driven by both the higher profit before
tax, and by a one-off credit to the tax charge, arising
from the reduced corporation tax rate effective from
April 1, 2008,

Dividend

The directors propose a dividend of 5 pence per share
(totalling £58 million} for the year ended March 31,
2008. The dividend will be submitted for approval

at the annual general meeting to be held on July 15,
2008. The financial statements do not reflect the
dividend payable which will be accounted for as a
reduction 1n shareholders’ equity in the year ending
March 31, 2009,

I Y

Capital expenditure
(£ million}

Aurcraft, spares, modifications and
refurbishments {net of refund of

2007/08 2006/07

progress payments) 428 258
Property and equipment 209 81
Landing nghts and other intangble assets 40 41
Investments T 57 0

734 380

Qur capital spend in the year was £734 million, up

£354 millon on last year This was primarily down to higher
spend on fleet assets, mainly due to the delivery of seven new
Aurbus shorthaul aircraft, higher investment in property and
equipment for Terminal 5, and additional investment in |beria

Capital commitments

Capital commitments authonsed and contracted for but not
provided in the accounts amount te £5,189 million for the
Group (2006/07 £554 millkon) and £5,185 mition for the
Company (2006/07 £553 mdlion)

The outstanding commitments include £5,162 millian for the
acquisition of four Boeing 777 awrcraft scheduled for delivery in
2009, 19 Airbus A320 famity (from 2008 to 2010), 12 Airbus
A380 (from 2012 to 2014) and 24 Boeing 787 {from 2012

o 2015)
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Working capital

At March 31, 2008 our total current assets and recevables
were £3,148 million, compared to £3,431 million at March 31,
2007 The reduction pnmanly reflects fower current iterest-
beanng deposits, due mainly {0 the payments to NAPS and
the DO, partially offset by increases in shori-term derivative
financial instruments

Our total current habiities at March 31, 2008 were

£3,244 million, down £381 million versus March 31, 2007
This mastly reflects a reduction in short-ternm provisions, due
mainly to the $300 mihon (£149 million) payment to the DO,
and a reclassification of some elements of the remainder of
the provision for anti-competitive activity from short-term

to long-term provisions

We believe the working capital is sufficient for our current
requirements

Cash flow

Our cash and cash equivalents position at March 31, 2008
was £1,864 milien This was a reduction of £491 mithon
compared with the position at March 31, 2007 The reduction
was driven by a number of one-off items duning the year

Firstly, we paid £560 millton into NAPS i Apnt 2007 as part of
the changes agreed to address the deficitin NAPS Secondly,
as discussed, we were fined $300 million ($100 mithon for
longhaul passenger fuel surcharges and $200 milhon for cargo)
by the DO} for anu-competitive activity This was pad dunng
the first half of the year Finally, we paid an addinonal £50 miflion
into NAPS in March 2008 Again, this was in line with the
changes agreed last year, under which we agreed to pay up 0
an additional £50 million a year for three years if our year end
cash balance exceeds £1 8 billion

Net cash inflow from operating activities was £303 million,

a reducuion of £453 mullion over 2006/07 This was primarily
due to the one-off payments highlighted above and changes o
working capital, parually offset by improvements in operating
cash flow

#
The £78 milhion increased cash outflow on tnvesting
activities was primarnily due to our increased spend

on property, plant and equipment (new aircraft and
Terminal 5), and increasing our shareholding in Ibena
#

Liquidity

At March 31, 2008 we had short-term loans and deposits
and cash at bank and in hand amounting to £1,864 milion
{March 31, 2007 £2,355 millon) In addition, we had undrawn
long-term commuitted arcraft financing faciives totalling
approximately $2,880 milhon, further commutted general
faciives of $115 mullion and ¥75 billion, undrawn uncommitted
overdraft linas totaling £20 milllon and €20 million, and
undrawn uncommutied money-market knes of £45 milhon

Net debt/total capital ratio

Net debt at March 31, 2008 amounted to £1,310 millon, an
increase of £319 milhon compared with March 31, 2007 This
15 net of cash and cash equivalents and other interest-bearing
deposits totalling £1,864 millon

Despite our Increase m net debt, the net debt/total capital ratio
at March 31, 2008 was 28 8 per cent, a 03 point reduction
on last year This was mainly due to growth in retained profits
tncluding operating leases, our net debt/total capital rauo was
38 4 per cent, a 1 2 point reduction from last year

Financial sk management

We are exposed to a vanety of financial nsks, including market
risk, credit nsk and hguidity nsk Qur overall risk managernent
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on our financial
performance This is covered in more detal in note 30 to the
financial statements

Keith Williams, Chief Financial Officer
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Business.review

Our strategy set out our
priorities for the three years

to March 2010. Within its
timeframe, the plan would see
us established in Terminal 5
and, subject to our financial
performance, allow us to order
new aircraft for our fleet.

This business review farms part of, and should be read in conjunction with,
the Directors’ report set out on pages 54 to 58
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Our business plan — BP10

Bring Terminal 5 alive

Termnal 5 represents our single biggest change and
challenge within BP10 In year one of the plan our 'Fit for 5’
programme was set 10 be completed, securing the necessary
agreement changes and the implementation of greatly

smproved working practices across the terminals at Heathrow
A successful delivery of Terminal 5 cantinues to be the key
to mproving aur operational performance and enhancing the
customer experience at our Heathrow base

1 3y Sutosdl ayelodio) l MR SSBUISY

BA Bastcs and Brillance

To justify the premium we charge our customers we need

to deliver the ‘BA Basics’ consistently and offer ‘Brilhance’

in areas where it really counts BP10ntroduced an immediate
focus on punctualty and baggage performance, with further
plans to improve ‘BA Basics' in a number of other areas for

the long term To set ourselves apart from our compeuiors,
we particularly focused on offering ‘Brilliance’ to our customers
in several key areas including our network and schedule from
London, ba com, CUSTOMEr Service, our premium customer
expenence and Terminal 5

Competitive cost base

Controlling our costs remains a prionty throughout BP10,
with savings expected across a number of areas of the
business But BP10 parncuiarly recogmsed the need to resolve

our pensions problem and reduce our significant deficit
positon Achieving a competitive cost base 1s cnical if
we are to achieve our Investment and growth plans

Invest in growth

Subject to satisfactory resolution of the pensions defiat,

BP 10 included plans to launch a competition for new longhaul
aircraft in the first year of the plan We wanted to secure the
first of these aircraft in 2009 to meet specific growth plans,
while the second batch wauld be used to begin replacing our

BP10 enablers

Continued involvement and engagement of our people 15
critical to the implementation of BP10 Local face-to-face
communication was recognised to be the most effective

type of engagement, and 1t formed a key part of our broader
communications strategy |T remained the second key enabler

fleet from 2011 We recogmsed the strategic iImportance
of our Gatwick and London City arrport operations in 8F10
The retenuon of BA Connect’s London City operations, as
part of the sale of our regional business to Flybe, was key
to our network development ptans from this arrport

for change across the business Qur investment plans in this
area included Terrmmnal 5, continued improvements in the
usability and functionality of ba com, using Employee Self
Service to simplify and automate corporate processes and
supporung a wide range of departmental change programmes

During the course of the year we drew up a new three-year business plan that builds on the priorities and thernes of BP10 The new
plan, BP11, will take us through to the end of 2010/11 We describe the new plan n more detall on pages 34 and 35 of this report
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" Business review continued

The markets we operate In

Regulation

The international airfine industry 15 subject to a high degree
of global, Eurcpean and UK Government regulation covering
both commerciat actvity and operational standards

UK airlines are regulated by the Secretary of State for Transport
and the Ciwil Aviation Authority {CAA), an Independent statutory
body Uinder the UK Civil Aviation Act 1982, the CAA 1S
responsible for supervising many aspects of an airhne’s financal
<ondimion, management and operaticns European airlines are
also subject to EU regulations, drawn up under the provisions
of the European Treaty (chiefly Artcle 71) Responsibility for
enforcement is shared between the European Commission
and the Member States

international regulation of awrline operations derives from the
Chicago Convention of 1944, which established the Internationat
Cwl Aviauon Organizanon ({CAQ) This 1s a specialist agency
of the United Nations, which fosters the planning and
development of international air transport Under the auspices
of ICAQ, rules establishing minimum operaticnal standards
are normally agreed on a multifateral basis Airlines’ nghts

to fly over, or make stops in, fareign countres for techmical
reasons are generally derived from the International A
Services Transit Agreement of 1944 Rights to carry traffic
between countries and the regulation of fares are normally
agreed an a bilateral basts between governments

Route flying rights

Our nights to carry scheduled passengers and cargo on
international routes outside Eurape generally denve from arr
services agreements between the UK Government and the
governments of the foreign states concerned Under these
agreements, each government grants to the other the right to
designate 4n airline or arrlines of its state to operate scheduled
services between specified points In their respective countries,
and sometimes to or from points in third countries, although
this also requires the agreement of the third country's government

Once an agreement has been reached, the UK Government
designates the arrlines that will operate the agreed services
We must also obtain the necessary operating permits from
the foreign governments concerned These are unlikely to
be withheld so long as our operations meet the required

international safety standards A government may have the
fight to prevent an arrline from operating the agreed services
it 15 not satisfied that it 15 substantially owned and effectively
controlied by the other government or its nationals (commoniy
referred 10 as the ‘nationality clause’} For this reason, our
Memorandum and Articles of Association contain provisions
that could be used to hmit the nghts of non-UK and non-
European nationals who own shares in British Airways Plc

in order to comply with EU law, all new or revised bilateral
agreements signed by EU countries rust contain a Community
designation clause in place of the nationality clause This
clause allows any EU airline to apply for available traffic nghts
between that £l Member State and the third country on

a non-discnminatery basis Currently, most UK agreements
still reserve traffic rights to UK airlines, but this s changing
gradually as the agreements are renegotiated

In 2003, ELI Member States granted the European Commission
a mandate to negotiate changes to existing bilateral agreements
between Member States and third countries, to comply with
Ell law A general framework was also agreed covening the
processes whereby Member States may continue to negotiate
biaterally with third countries

Within the EUI there 15 a single internal market for arr transportation
The most significant elements of this are a liberal pricing
regime, free access to all routes within the EU for airines and
a carner licensing procedure EU single market policies extend
to the Eurcpean Econormic Area (EEA) comprising the EU,
European Free Trade Area countries and Switzerland

Under the UK Civit Aviation Act 1982, the CAA must

balance a rnumber of objectives iIn making air transport or
route licensing decisions where applications to operate a
particular route are contested These include encouraging
British airlines to provide air services at the lowest fares
consistent with safety, an econormic return to efficeent
operators and the sound develocpment of the UK arr transport
industry, furtherng the reasonable interests of users, ensurnng
that British airhines compete as effectvely as possible on
international routes, and making the most effective use of UK
arrports The CAA grants global route hcences for scheduled
and charter air services The absence of the necessary bilateral
nights will not result in refusal to grant a licence application
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A new mululateral agreement
covering air services between
the ELi and the US signed
March 22, 2007, has enabled us
to launch our new OpenSkies
subsidiary

Charter operations are not generally covered by air services
agreements The CAA adopts a broadly Iiberal policy towards
apphcauons from Briush arlines for charter flying nghts Itis
then for the arline to seek the consent of the other government
within the EEA no distincoion is drawn between charter and
scheduled operations

£l - US Open Skies

A new multilateral agreement covering air services between
the ELJ and the US was signed on March 22, 2007 Thus first
stage agreement, which came into effect on March 30, 2008,
removes all restricions on transatlanuic flighis by ELLand US
arrhnes It also grants rights for EU arlines to carry passengers
and freight from the LS io third countnes on services that
onginate in the EL, and, in turn, for US arhnes 1o carry passengers
and freight from EU to third countries (both within and beyond
the EU) on services that originate in the US Tatks an a second
stage agreement, which will aimn to achieve further liberahsation,
commenced in May 2008

Aurport slots

Our ability to obtain stots at arports 1s cntical to producing
schedules that are attractive to our customers Allocation

of slots at a significant number of arrports where we operate,
including Heathrow and Gatwick, is dacided by the Airport
Coordinator, who acts In accordance with gwdelines laid down
by the International Aur Transport Association (IATA) These
guidelines give priority 1o the histonc rights of exisung users
Airpart Coordinators advise therr slot allocanons at the
biannual IATA Schedule Coordination Conference These
allocations provide the basis for slot negouiations with the
Airport Coordinators and other arlines

Regulations governing the allocation of slats in the US
are different, but the US has stated that i1 15 commutted
by 1ts International obligations to treat all carrers in a
non-discriminatory manner

We believe that we have sufficient slots to operate our existing
routes and generally we have been able 1o obtain slots to cover
previous route changes and expansions

Fare setting

The CAA no longer regulates fares of UK carriers But some
foreign governments still require all arhines to file and seek
approval of their fares It is a widespread practice among
arrlines to sell a substannal propertion of seats and cargo space
in many parts of the world at tariffs lower than the approved
levels or an other unapproved special terms We respond
competitively to such market conditions and accordingly a
large proporilon of our revenue 15 derived from such sales

We continue to offer our customers interine passenger

and cargo services with other IATA arlines but we no longer
participate 1n IATA tanff conferences Multilateral interline
passenger Lariffs for scheduled journeys and tanfs for cargo
interline services are now determned through the IATA e-tandf
and Flex Fare mechanism

Safety

Safety standards are generally agreed on a mulvlateral basis
under the auspices of ICAQ The country of registrauion of an
aircraft 1s generally responsible for ensuning that the arcraft
and its crew meet these guidelines, feading to vanations and
differences on specific requirements between States European
countries first attempted to harmoenise their safety requirements
through the Joint Avsation Authorities (JAA) and non-binding
Jaint Aviation Requirements Certification of complhance by the
state of registry is normally recogrnised by all other members
of ICAQ

In September 2003, arworthiness and malintenance standards,
hased fargely on [CAC and JAA standards, were adopted into
EU law and a new independent European Aviation Safety Agency
{EASA) was set up to adwse the European Commission and
Member States on safety matters The new safety framework
15 consistent with ICAQ requirements Member States are sull
responsibie for supervisian and comphance, but they can

no longer unilaterally vary standards in these areas except

to respond to an immediate safety problem or 1o meet a
short-term operational need without compromising safety

In December 2006, EU-OPS 1 was published as Regulation
1899/2006 EU-OPS 1 basically ransfers the operational
requirements and procedures from nen-binding JAA requirements
into European law It is anticipated that these will form the basis
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“ 7 Business review continued |
The markets we operate In |
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of EASA regulations when competence for operations and
licensing is given to EASA EU-OPS 1 comes into effect on
July 16, 2008

Briush airines are still required, except in imited crcumstances,
to operate Bnitish registered awcraft All British arrlines are
required to hold a UK Air Operator’s Certficate (AOC) currently
issued by the CAA, acting as a member of the JAA The AOC
will continue to be 1ssued by the CAA on behalf of the European
Comrmission or EASA The AOC confirms the competence

of the holder to operate and maintain its aircraft safety Each
arcraft operated under an AOC may only be flown (f it has a
certificate of arworthiness confirming compliance with the EU
regulations All fight crew and certain maintenance staff must
be licensed

Mamntaining our high safety standards is a key priority.
All departments, especially engineering, flight aperations
and ground operations, pay continual attention to
operational safety and the health and safety of
employees Specific responsibiity for advising on
safety matters rests with a separate department
under the Head of Safety and Secunty We have

a formal safety management system in place, and

we aperate a comprehensive monitoring system

to ensure that incidents are reported and action is
taken whenever appropnate,

Security

In the UK, the Secretary of State for Transport has the power
to direct the aviation industry to take measures to prevent acts
of cnminal viclence These measures often exceed both the
international standards developed by ICAQO and EU reguiations
Responsibiity for implernenting the measures and meeting their
costs falis on both arrlines and arport authorities A number

of foreign countries have alsc developed aviation security
programmes, which require us to meet specific secunty standards

Qur security department continuously assesses the threats

to our business, develops policies for the protection of our
operations and assets, directs our staff or agents to implement
appropriate countermeasures and monitors their effactiveness
There are also circumstances in which governments may seek
to prevent arhines from flying to or from vartous desunations
or otherwise hinder their operation Changes in customs,
immigration or other regulation may have the same effect

Widespread passenger disclosure requirements and
enhanced security measures exist and continue to

be introduced by the EU and vanous governments

to help control terrorism and sllegal immigration

We engage actively with the European Commission,
the UK and other governments and airports to try

to mimimise Inconvenience to our customers while
maintaiming the necessary levet of security.
R

Our secunty department
continuously assesses the
threats to our business, develops
pohcies for the protection of our
operations and assets, directs
our staff or agents to implement
appropriate countermeasures
and monitors their effectiveness




British Airways 2007/08 Annual Report and Accounts / 23

We maintain commercial
arrangements with other airlnes
covering scheduled passenger and
cargo services on a small number
of our international routes

Environmental regulation

Our activities are covered by a comprehensive network of
reguiations at local, national and international levels These
cover emissions to the local and global atmosphere, disposal
of solid waste and agueous effluents, noise and other relevant
factors In managing our envircnmental performance we aim o
comply with these regulatians as & minimum, but to exceed them
In 4 number of key areas For further detai see the environment
section on carporate responsibility on pages 48 and 49

Competition

Most of the markets in which we operate are highly competitive
we face competition from other arrlines on the same City-pair
routes, from indirect flights, from charter services and from
other modes of transport

The intensity of the competition varies from route to route,
depending on the number and nature of the compettors,
particularly whether or not they are state-owned or state-
supported, and on the regulatory enviranment and other
factors At one extreme, there are a few international routes
on which competition 1s imited o the other state's designated
airline and fares are regulated At the other extreme, there

15 a free market for internal fights within the whole of Europe
allowing any European arrline to operate on any route, setting
whatever fares they wish, subject only to nfrastructure
constraints and competition law

On many of the routes with multiple carrers, our pricing
decisions are affected by competition from other arrlines,
some of which have cost structures that are lower than ours
or other competitive advantages allowing them to operate at
lower fare levels

It 15 LIK Government policy to iberalise markets progressively
and to encourage far and equal competinon wherever possible
The presence of state aid, n all its forms, and in several different
markets, distorts competiion and 1s generally incompatible
with policies and regulations designed to open up markets

Commercial arrangements

We maintain commercial arrangements with other airlines
covering scheduled passenger and €argo services on a small
number of our nternational routes Commercial arrangements
can govern, among other things, capacity offered by each airline,
how revenue is shared between arrlines and how schedules are
coardinated In very few cases, some commercial arrangements
between cursalves and other aifines are required under the
relevant air services agreements For further details on some
of our key commerctal arrangements see the key alliances
section on pages 28 and 29
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Business review continued
The markets we operate In

The economic landscape

There has histoncally been a strong correlation between our
revenue performance and the heaith of the major economies
of the UK and US This relationship has continued throughout
2007/08 as both these markets began to show signs of weakness

The long awaited softening n the UK economy, which the Bank
of England had been trying to engineer through higher interest
rates, faled to materialise in 2007 Indeed, real GDP growth
accelerated to 3 1 per cent from 2 9 per cent in 2006

But duning the iatter part of 2007, there was growing evidence
that the LIK economy was approaching a turning point The
financial market crisis had intensified, white high interest rates,
high household debts, and reduced credit avalability were
finally starting to affect housing demand and prices Against
this background, there were also signs that the long expected
slowdown In consumer spending had finally begun

Economic slowdown reaily began to bite in the early part of
2008 The credit crunch has started to affect the real economy,
with households and businesses finding access to credit
materially reduced Growth in the housing market has stalled,
and house prices have started to edge down Rising fuel and
food prices have further squeezed reat disposable incomes,
although retall sales have remamed remarkably res#ient The
downside risks have increased, and growth 15 expected to slow

The US economy experienced a ciear softening in 2007, largely
as a consequence of problems in the residennal housing sector,
which culminated in the sub-prnime crisis Conditions have
continued to detenorate and at a faster pace, with consumers
hit by higher unemployment, nsing energy prices, continued
problems 1a the housing market, and falling wealth There are
also signs of weakness in the business sector

The Federal Reserve has so far responded with aggressive
cuts In meerest rates contrtbuting to a further weakening of
the US dollar, particularly against the euro and yen In addition,
the LIS Government has responded with stgruficant tax cuts

The competitor landscape

The arline industry remains highly competitive, with more
competition than ever before in a number of our market
segments

Domestic and shorthaul |
We face competition on the ground and in the air There1s 2 |
clear relationship between shorter rail journey times and the

ability of train operators to capture a bigger share of the total

air/rall travel market For example, between 2004 and 2007,

rall journey trmes between London and Manchester decreased

by 17 per cent and the tran's share of the total market grew

by 20 per cent

The development of Eurostar services has had a signsficant
impact on air travei With Eurastar now based at St Pancras
Internationat and journey times cugt by up to 25 minutes,
customers will expenence greater benefits from traveling
Into city centre terminals by train

Furthermore, increased awareness of the environment 1s
affecting demand in this market

In the arr, compettion in shorthaul 1s mostly coming from the
budget airlines, who will soon account for more than half of the
London market These carriers are now planning to Increase
their fleets signsficantly, but only a small proportion of this
growth seems destined for the London markets, with focus
shifting towards intra-Eurcpean services

Traditionally, full service airlines have had two cabins, with a
premium and an economy cabin In recent years, there has
been a move away from this configuration, with some arlnes
remcving premium cabins and others shifting to a hybnd three
class offer

Private Jets

Dremand for private charter arrlines meeting the needs of
business travellers 1s increasing These services are prermiem/
luxury standard and entirely flexible, offering a fast and
efficient service from smaller airports
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People are searching for products
and servicas that make their hves
less complex and chailenging

They are also looking to punctuate
therr busy hfestyles by taking ume
out to escape their hectic routines
or to reward themselves for dealing
with the pressures of the day

Longhaul
The quality and number of competitors has grown in the last
five years Competition will continue to Increase

e

While our traditional markets such as the UK

and the LIS will continue to be strong, new ones,
particularly India and China, look likely to grow.
The nse of the Gulf, as a destination and as the
home of key competitors, Is expected to intensify
We are also starting to see the first successful steps
towards airline consohdation in Europe with the
mergers of Air France/KLM and Lufthansa/Swiss.

Mainstrearmn competitors have begun to invest in their
products, facusing on inflight entertainment and new seat
technology New aircraft, n particular the Airbus A380,
will offer opporturuties for further product upgrades

Full service carriers continue to mvest in special faclities
for premium passengers, In some cases creating dedicated
premium terminals

Premium-only carriers

The aperation of premium-only services became a high profile
activity in 2005 with the almost simultaneous taunch of the
LIS carners Eos and MAXjet with a focus predominantly on
the London-US market, especially London-New York

Despite their appeal to consumers, these carners have not
proven commeraally sustanable and have both collapsed
in recent months

Low cost longhaul carners

Dedicated low cost airlines stll remain a rarity in the longhaul
segment, and most are linked to charter or tour companies
Indeed, it could be argued that existing charter airines have
already been serving the tow cost longhaul segment for
SOme years

The consumer landscape

Consumer expectations and spending power continue

to nse Consumers are leading increasingly complex and

busy lives As pressure on thewr tme grows, leisure ume will
become ncreasingly precious to them An agemg population
also means that there will be a greater number of older people
with the wealth and health to travel more There will also be
growth in the affluent, younger segment

#
An increasing proportion of our customers are
e-literate. The development of broadband and mobtle
technologies will make 1t easier for them to access
information quickly and change the way they buy
goods and services. Social networks will become
increasingly important with consumers relying more
on peer advice than traditional advertising when
making purchase decisions. Environmental concerns
are moving higher up the agenda, with consumers
expecting brands to be environmentally responsible.
#

Consumer travel and purchase behaviour

People are taking more holidays Short breaks — many arranged
independently - are growing partcularly strongly Although

the package holiday 1s not dead, there has been a significant
increase n the number of consumers creating trips and
holdays for themselves

The value of trips booked online shaws the strongest growth
The internet has undoubtedly been the single biggest nfluence
on changing the way we research and buy products, goods
and services
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Business review continued
The markets we operate In

Changing consumer trends

Caonsumers are iving increasingly fast, full and flexible lives
The boundarnies between work and leisure are blurnng and,

for many people, time and personal energy have become the
maost valuable resources in dally life Many of our products and
services are designed to help customers make the best use of
their ume — whether on the ground or in the ar For example,
we have smooth and fast check-in processes for afl, and
fastrack departures and lounges for premium custormers

Consumers are looking for ways to control their energy

levels and to save time by doing tasks more quickly or by
outscurcaing them That's why, in our lounges at Heathrow and
New Yark JFK we now offer a concierge service for custemers
to help them while they are on the move

People are searching for products and services that make therr
hves tess complex and challenging They are also looking to
punctuaie their busy hfestyles by taking time out to escape
therr hecuc routines or to reward themselves for dealing with
the pressures of the day

Award-winaing ba com allows customers to research, book
and manage their travel whenever they need ~ while at home
or when travelling We are constantly developing and adapting
our site 1o respond to the changing needs of our customers

Health and wellbeing

There is a growing interest In health and wellbeing, a trend
strongly associated with increasing affluence and with an
ageng papulation Good health underpins personal freedom,
and 1s naturally a g priority as peaple get older

Alongside health, peaple are concerned about individual safety
and internanional security For travellers these fears include

the threat of global conflicts, terronsm, the impact of climate
change, environmental disasters like the tsunams or the New
Orleans floods and health threats such as bird flu and SARS

Many people are now focusing on developing their emotional-
wellbeing, contentment and quahty of Iife Consumers increasingly
expect more basic needs to be fulfilled and thus have higher
expectaticns of therr overall wellbeing than previous generations

Our ‘Well Being In the Air' programme provides customers
with informauion to help themn reach their destination feeling
healthy, refreshed and relaxed We also offer a senes of
podcasts from our resident sleep expert ‘Dr Sleep’ to help
people manage the effects of jetlag Our wellbeing informatuion
15 available on both ba com and onboard through our inflight
entertainment programme, Highhife

Professional consumers

Consumers are becoming more demanding and sophisticated in
their shopping patterns As markets become more competitive
and spending power increases, the balance of power is shifting
from supply to demand, giving consumers the upper hand

We offer a range of products and services to meet the differing
demands of our customers This ranges from different cabins,
to choices on how customers book and manage their travel,

to the service offered on board

Despite the increasing affluence of consumers, value remains

a cniucally important factor in thewr choices Equally they are
prepared to 'trade up’ and pay a premium price for better
quality praducts Many brands are respondsing to this by
offering more luxurigus and more expensive versions of
everyday commodities For customers who want to ireat
themselves, we have recently Introduced attractive and popular
Club Europe upgrade prices for a range of leisure destinations
and will continue to look at options to extend this further

Commumication channels

The overload of available information 1s forcing consurners to
think about the communications and the information sources
they use Increasingly they are choosing for themseives what
media and communications tools suit them Digital technology
has rnade it easier for them to be creative in developing their
own content, and In sharing their \deas with others, for instance
by turrung to peer networks for word-of-mouth recommendations
We are experimenting with our own 'Google gadget' so that
customers can have the latest flight and operational news and
offers built into ther Google homepage We continue to look at
other ways that we can harness the knowledge and experience
of our customers and staff for social networking and blogging
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The way we run our business

Commercial

Our Commercial team 1s responsible for managing revenue and
pricing, sales, marketing and distnbution, as well as planning
our fleet and network

Revenue Management monitors and controts the sale of seats
to improve aur overall profitabiity It also sets the pricing

structure to ensure that, it all the countries across our network,
we affer the night rmix of prices and a flexible range of products

Our sales force develops and maintains relationships with key
customer groups and intermediaries using account management
teams around the world Product informanion, fares and
schedules are distnbuted either through travel agents using
global distnbution systems, direct through the contactBA

cail centres and, increasingly, through our website, ba comn

Qur Marketing and Distribution team develops, designs,
delivers and promotes our products and services This team
sets our distnbution and booking channel strategy, including
managing ba com and relationships with the major global
distribution systems |t also includes the management of
our subsidiaries, Britsh Airways Holidays and Air Miles

Fleet Planning develops our fleet strategy |t determines when
we need to acquire or dispose of aircraft to ensure we have the
nght fleet to meet our network requirements Network Planmng
develaps our schedule to maximise network profitabiity, plans
the requisite infrastructure and manages our slot portfolio
across the network

Engineenng
Our in-house engineenng funcuion manages and Mmaintains our
fleet of arcraft and provides hmited services to other operators

Our main base 15 located on the east side of Heathrow airport,
where aircraft management, technical and support staff are
located The main base has extensive faciliues to service and
repair our Heathrow-based fleet We have a second, smaller
maintenance base at Gatwick to support the fleet based there
Heavy overhaul facilines for Boeing 747, 767, and 777 awcraft
are located at Cardiff, Wales, and at Glasgow, Scotland, for
Boeing 737 and Airbus A320 family arcraft In addiwon, we
have component overhaul facilities in Wales and London

’

We retan a significant in-house engineenng capability to support
our fleat, but we also outsource maintenance where tt 1s higher
quality or more competitive to do so

Fhight Operations

Our Flight Operations team is responsible for the safe
operaton of our fleet and is responsible for the recruitment,
training and suppart functions for our pilot community
Approximately 2,900 of our piots are based at Heathrow,
with a further 350 based at Gatwick

To ensure we operate our arcraft as safely and
efficiently as possible, a team of technical experts
works closely with the awrcraft manufacturers and

our own engineers to create and maintain the policies
and standards to which we operate our aircraft. Flight
planning specialists create the routing, performance
and briefing material for our 400 departures per day.
ﬂ

within Flight Training we run 14 full-fight and four fixed-base
simulators We provide all of our own training requirements,
but also generate revenue by selling simulator facilities to other
arrlines, corporate customers and the general public A team of
fleat-specific traning managers ts responsible for the management
of all recurrent and conversion training

Operations

Our Operations team is responsible for the planning and control
of the worldwide operauon, with ulimate accountabiity for
network punctuality and baggage performance it is responsibie
for the planning of ground resources and of both flight and cabin
crew The team is also responsible for operational scheduling
of aircrafi, ensuring they are avatlable to fly the schedule and,
with Engineering, for maintenance Control of this operation 1s
parucularly mpartant when the schedule 1s disrupted, for example,
due to weather conditions At such iimes it1s our Operauons
team that decides how to reschedule aircraft, crew and resources

Operanons also incorporates Briush Airways Wortd Cargo
(BAWC), responsible for our cargo network The majarity of
cargo s carred in the holds of passenger arrcraft, with the
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Business review continued
The way we run our business

balance n third-party freighter aircraft In the UK, BAWC
has handling faciities at Heathrow, Gatwick and Stansted
airports With the exception of the US, all overseas handling
1$ subcontracted

Customer Service

The Customner Services directorate was created in November
2007 as part of our comrmitment 1o upgrade the customer
experience The new directorate brings together all staff
involved in the customer journey, including contact centres,
customer relations and passenger services on the ground and
in flight

At our main hub, Heathrow, our passenger services team

15 responsible for check-n, boarding and speaial services
including assistance for children travelling alone and passengers
with disabihties The worldwide airport solutions team ensures
the same level of service 1s provided by our third-party agents
at airports around the network

Throughout 2007 /08, customer service staff prepared for our
move to Terminal 5 These preparations included, amongst
other things, Improvements at our contact centres {0 sUpport
increased online check-in and training on new processes and
systems 1n the terminal

Infermation Management

IT 15 increasingly important to us Itis helping us to reduce
costs, simplify our processes and automate complex manual
tasks Our website, ba com, provides customers with the abihty
to book and check-in for Aights online and, thanks to recent
developments, now also prowides revenue from ancillary sates

There has been significant investrment n IT at Terminal 5 This
wcludes both infrastructure to run the terminal and systems

to ensure passengers are ‘ready to fly’ before they reach the
arport Self-service check-in will eventually reduce queuves and
significantly improve the arport expernience for our customers

IT has transformed the way all our staff interact, thanks 1o our
Employee Self Service (ESS) programme Almost all our staff
now use ESS every month and the system will eventually
become the place where everyone can find the information
and systems they need to do their job

IT also plays an impaortant role i helping us manage our
environmental impact The power used by our data centres
has remained the same despite a big increase In the number of
processars we use Our new notebook laptops are 70 per cent
more power efficient and personal computers are automatically
powered off overnight Whenever we dispose of PCs and
laptops we follow "Waste — Electrical & Electroric Equipment’
(WEEE) principles and we donate reconditioned PCs to
chanties we support in the UK and overseas

Key alhances

Qantas

Under the Joint Services Agreement (JSA) there 1s full strategic,
tactical and operational cooperation between ourselves

and Qantas on all flights that serve markets between the
UK/continental Europe and Southeast Asia/Australia This
cooperation provides our customers with improved flight
departure times, routings and value for money, and means we
can offer the very best of customer service to all passengers
In June 2005, the Australian Competition and Consumer
Commission extended permission for us to cooperate in

this way for a further five years, vakd from February 2005

We continue to work with Qantas to coordinate sales and
marketing activities worldwide We share all costs and revenues
on the JSA routes, providing both companies with an incentive
to rmprove the joint business

Amenican Aurlines

We currently codeshare with American Airhnes on points
behind and beyond our respective U5 and London gateways
We now place our code on more than 120 Amenican Arrlines
routes, whilst American Aurlines applies its code to more than
80 of our routes However, we continue to compete with
Amenican Arrhnes on North Atlanuc routes

We have recently announced we are exploring opportunities
for cooperation with Amencan Airlines and Continental Airhines
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At our main hub, Heathrow,

our passenger services teamis
responsible for check-n, boarding
and special services including
assistance for chitldren travelling
alone and passengers with
disabilities

Iberia

Under the Joint Business Agreement (JBA), on the Heathrow-
Madnd and Heathrow-Barcelona routes, our cooperation with
Iberia provides customers with improved schedules and value
for money Together with Ibenia, we codeshare on more than
30 domestic and international rouungs

During 2007 /08, we joned a Texas Pacific Group-led consortium
which considered making an offer for the equity of Iberia
However, the consortium eventually decided not to make a
formal offer During the year, we increased our shareholding

in fbena from 9 95 per cent to 13 15 per cent

Alliance and codeshare relationships

At March 31, 2008 the aneworld allance included 10 airline
members Bntish Airways, Amencan Airines, Cathay Pacific,
Finnair, Ibena, Japan Awrlines, LAN, Maley, Qantas and Royal
Jordaman Aer Lingus left the alkance on April 1, 2007, although
we have maintained our bilateral codeshare relatonship with
the airline

The oneworld alhance offers a substantial package of
customner benefits, including reciprocal reward and recogniuion
programmes, common lounge access, smaother transfers,
increased customer suppart and greater value

In addition to the above actvites, dunng 2007/08 we
mantaned codeshare relationships with oneworld members,
Cathay Pacific, LAN, Malev, Japan Awrlines and Finnair

In terms of relanonships cutside the oneworld alhance, we
have mantained codeshare relationships with bmi, Brussels
Airlines and Flybe The relatenships with Flybe and bmi were
formed during the year, following the sale of BA Connect and
termination of the BMED franchise respectively Additionally,
Canbbean Arrlines and TAAG place their code on our services
to Port of Spain and Luanda

Franchssing

As at March 31, 2008, we operated with three franchise
partner arlines Loganair in the UK, Sun Airin Scandinavia and
Comair in South Africa These three carniers carried 2 3 million
passengers dunng the year ro 38 destnations {including

24 destinations not served by our own network) in the

UK, continental Europe, and Africa In addition to providing
CONNeCcting passengers ta our own mainling services, the
franchisees pay a fee to us and also pay for any services

we provide to them

BMED and GB Airways also operated under franchises for part
of the year, prior to the termination of our agreements with
them The latter arrangement was terminated on March 28,
2008 following easylet’s acquisition of 100 per cent of the
share capital of GB Arways

In October 2007, Loganarr announced that it will cease to be
a Brinsh Asrways franchise operator from October 2008 We
expect to mantain a codeshare relationship with Loganair
when the franchise ends
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Our key performance indicators

We have established a balanced
set of performance indicators
for our business, both financial
and non-financial, to improve
our performance over time. As
part of the business planning
process, and in line with our
agreed strategic objectives, the
Board sets annual targets for
each of these key performance
indicators (KPIs).
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The following KPlIs were set for 2007/08, with our performance against them detailed on pages 32 and 33

Financial

We must achieve a consistent, strong financial perfermance

if we are to conunue investing in the future success of the
business and reward our shareholders through the payment

of a dividend Operating margin — which we define as operating
profit divided by revenue expressed as a percentage — 15 the
main way we measure our financial performance
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Customers

Customer recommendation is a key measure of our success
Our Global Performance Monitar {GPM) survey, an onboard
customer survey covering all the key stages of the flight
experience, together with a follow-up online survey on the
arrivals process, provides monthly insights into custorners’
views The survey 1s carried out by GfK NOP, the independent
market research company, and involves more than 55,000
customers each month

Operations

We must run a robust operation If we are to meet our
cusiomers’ expectations and create a cost-effective business
Having Heathrow at the heart of our operations, with all its
infrastructure constraints, puts a significant strain on dehivering
operational excellence, day i, day cut

Within our business plan we have focused our effarts on five
key areas of operational delvery — the ‘BA Basics' Among
these, departure punctuality 1s our primary operational
performance measure Punctuahty ensures other operational

Employees

Progressive, high performing organisations are increasingly
recognising that involved employees are more committed (o
organisational goals and values, and more willing to embrace
change and improve customer service Last year we started
using an Employee involvement index, as measured by an all-
employee Speak Up! survey This is run twice a year, with a full
verston In September and a shorter tracker version in March

in 2002 we set ourselves a target of achieving a 10 per cent
operating margin through the economic cycle In 2007/08
we set ourselves the goal of hitting a 10 per cent margin for
the year for the first time

The customer recommendation measure Is based on the
percentage of customers who, when surveyed, would highly
recormnmend Brinsh Airways to friends, family or colleagues
Apart from being extremely important In 1is Owr right,

we believe that this measure indicates how the customer
experience will affect future profitability Our target for
2007708 was for 63 per cent of customers to be ‘extremely
ikely’ or ‘very likely' to recommend British Airways

processes run smoothly and remains a key factor in whether
customers would recommend British Airways to other traveliers

we call our chosen measure of punctuality ‘Ready to Go' This
measures how many of our flights are prepared for departure
at three minutes before the scheduled departure time So
many Issues ¢an have an Impact on punctuabity, but using this
measure ensures we focus on the aspects of the departure
process within our control The target range for ‘Ready 1o Go’
puncruality for 2007/08 was set at 44-48 per cent

The Speak Up! surveys are conducted and hosted by the
independent research organisaiion, Ipsos MOR), and are
completely confidential As a business we aim to match
the involvement scores of other leading service sector
orgarusations, and a target of 73 per cent for Employee
Involvement was set for 2007/08
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- Business review continued
- Our key performance indicators |

. e Linking with our strategy Achievements in 2007/08
Financial Despite weakening econecmic conditions and We delivered record profits and an operating
increasing fuel prices 1n the second half of the  margmn of 10 per cent In 2007/08
year, we focused on establishing a competitive
cost base as part of the BP10 business plan to
ensure we achieved record profits for the year
L. ]
Customers BP 10 redefined our customer promise We achieved a custormer recommendation
. under the banner of ‘BA Basics and Brilhance’ score of 59 per cent dunng the year This
. This focused everyone in the business on represented a fall of 2 points on the previous
delivering the 'BA Basics’ to customers day in,  year, largely because of a disappointing
day out, and developing products and services  performance on the 'BA Basics,, particularly
that offer ‘Brilhance’ where 1t really counts at Heathrow
L ___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Ope rations Delivery of the 'BA Basics' as part of the ‘Ready to Go' performance averaged at
& business plans at the heart of our strategy 34 per cent dunng 2007/08, with a peak
- for improving our operational performance of 65 per cent In January 2008 Ths was
3 Punctualty, baggage performance, arcraft a disappoinung performance, which felt
3 cleanfiness, smooth connections and the short of our target for the year
2 relabitity and product offering of our inflight
.= entertainment systems are the key areas
of focus
.E_ '
§ EmDIOyeeS Annvolved and motivated workforce s a The results of the MORI Speak Up! survey
= key enabler to achieving the objectives in in September 2007 showed our Employee
';"" our business plan Investing 1n and developing Involvement Index at 65 per cent |
z our people, through training and by ensunng

all employees are equipped to do their jobs,
Is a fundamental buillding block In support
of our plans

LI TP |
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2008/09 will be a year of transition as our operations transfer between terminals
at Heathrow However, we are determined to deliver an improved customer
experience and Terminal 5 will be a significant step in this direction, providing a
fantastic opportunity for our customers and our employees

Performance over time

KP] measure

Understanding our KPIs going forward

2007/08 [ ]100%
2006/07 ______ J71%
2005/06 [ _185%
2004705 [ 169%
2003/04 [ 154%

Operating margin

Operating margin will conunue to be our key financia
performance indicator A more chalienging economic
outlook, the conunuing rse in the price of fuel, and
transional costs relabing to our move to Terminal 5
will all contnbute to a reduction i OUr Operanng margin
in 2008/09

2007/08 [~ ]59%
2006/07 " 161%

Customer
recommendation

Customer advocacy — the likehhood of customers to
recommend travel on British Airways — will continue

to be our key customer metric i 2008/09 The move
to Terminal 5, coupled with the conunued investment
in our mflight products and customer service on the
ground, give us the opportunity to deliver Improvement
in this indicator over the next year

2007/08 [ " 134%
2006/07 " ]36%

Punctuality -
'‘Ready to Go'

Departure punctuality 15 key to our operational success,
and focusing on the aspects within our control is criical
‘Ready to Go' performance does precisely that A key
driver of improved network punctuality over the next
year 1s the performance at Heathrow The move to
Terrrunal 5, with 1ts associated infrastructure and
process changes, will begin to play a huge rofe n
delivering improvements in this area

2007708 [ 165%
2006/07 " 170%

Not applicable

We are currently reviewing the appropridte measure
going forward for deterrmining the level of employee
involvemnent
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Business review continued

What the future holds

Qur new business plan — BP11 — sets the direction we will
take for the next three years

It sets out four key prionues which build on last year's plan
an upgraded customer experience, planning for growth, the
continuing need to control our ¢costs, and taking a lead in
corparate responsibility

Delivering an upgraded expenence to all of our customers — not
Just through Termunal 5 but through all aspects of our customer
service —is absolutely fundamental to our [eng-term success

BP11 also recognises the need to grow our business, and
in 2008709 we will take delivery of our first new longhaul
arcraft since 2001

To afford this investment in new aircraft and services, we
need te control our costs Faced with nsing fuel costs and
an economic slowdown tn some of our key markaets, this
will be mora important than ever before

Finally, BP11 includes a new theme of corporate responsibility
We are determined to demonstrate we can grow In a responsible
way and we will be doing and investing even more to manage
our environmental impact

An upgraded customer experience

Improwving the service we give to our customers (s central to
Qur success as a bustness Last year we introduced the idea

of doing the basics better, and adding brilliance where it really
matters to our custamers Terminal 51s central to this, but our
investment will not be limited to Terminal 5

We are improving the service we offer our premmum customers
The new Ciub World product that began its roll cut in 2007
saw the start of this Ininal feedback from customers has been
very positive We wiil continue 10 invest at this level duning the
life of BP11 to complete the roll out of the Club World product
across the remainder of the longhaul fleet In 2009 we will
introduce a new First cabin In addition, we will be Investing in
our terminal at New York JFK and in a number of our lounges
worldwide, complemenuing our new Gallenes lounge in
Terminal 5

Another prionty Is to improve the way we look after customers
when things go wrong We know from experience that brillrant
service recovery can turn frustration into loyalty and genuine
gratitude

Within our airtine operatrons, delivering the basics means a
focus on operaticnal excellence in all the activities on the
ground In particular we are focused on regulanty — which
means operating the programme as planned — punctuality and
baggage performance, all to the highest possible standards of
ground safety

In this business plan, Terminal 5 1s cnitical to achieving
operational excellence We will continue o work hard to get
this new facihty working to its real capabilities Ahead of its
opening we had spent more than three years and £300 million
developing new systems for the terminal

L
To overcome the early problems we encountered
with some of these systems, we have continued
this intense work And we believe Terminal 5 will
progresstvely transform the experience for our
customers, taking away the stress of travelling
through the airport.

But Terminal 5 is not the anly part of our operation where

we will be striving for operational excellence At various

ttmes during the first year of 8211 we will also be operating

in Terrinal 1, Terminal 4 and Terminal 3 at Heathrow, and,
with ail of the planned moves, we will make sure we deliver
the tughest possible standards of service there too At Gatwick,
punctuality and baggage performance remain two areas where
we can stay ahead of our competitors We will therefore be
focusing on maintaining our excellent recent record of operational
performance at Gatwick as we launch new routes from the
arrport this year

Operating as one team across the world, we are committed
to delivering on the promise of much betier senace to all
our customers
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We are improving the service

we offer our premium customters
The new Club World product that
began its roll out in 2007 saw the
start of this, and First will be
relaunched next year

A plan for growth
Successful businesses are growing businesses We have clear
plans to modernise our aircraft fleet and offer new services

Last year we announced a new order for longhaul aircraft
worth more than £4 billion These will both replace existing
fleet and expand our overall longhaul capacity These aircraft
are quieter, greener and more efficient and will establish a new
gold standard for environmental performance In 2008/09 we
expect to launch a competition for additional longhaul awrcraft,
due for delivery in the second half of the decade

To get the most of our investment in a modern fleet, we need
Heathrow's capacity to grow That 1s why we have strongly
backed the government’s plans for expanding tte aIrport at
Heathrow with a proposed third runway

Over the course of BP11, we will launch services to 13 new
desunations from Gatwick We have purchased two new
Asrbus A318s to offer business class-only fiights between
London City airport and New York Finally, through our new
subsidiary OpenSkies, due to launch in June of this year, we
will fly directly between continental Europe and the US

Competitive cost base

In the last five years we have worked hard to improve our
financial position so that we can Invest In new products
and services, and grow our business for the future

We have to keep investing to stay ahead of the competition
But we will also need to stay n healthy financial shape to
proiect ourselves from the impact of a global economic
slowdown and higher ol pnces

The price of fuel has almost trebled in five years In 2007/08
our fuel bili was In excess of £2 billion for the first time This
financial year it will nse sigmificantly agawn, and will represent
around a third of our total costs

Over the |ast few years, significant cost savings have been
made across the business to offset the higher cost of fuel
Guven the financial headwinds expected next year, we will
continue to focus on mantaning a competinve cost base

Corporate responsibility

BF11 establishes corporate responsibility as a new priority
for our business We will be doing even more to address our
environmental impact This will include cutting our carbon
emissions further, reducing and recycling waste, minimising
our cantribution to air and noise poliution, and contnuing to
INVesT IN our Community relations programme

Qur partnership in the London 2012 Olympic and Paralympic
Games will be the focus for some of our community activities,
including community work in East London and the launch of

a travel bursary scheme for young athletes

We are putting corporate respansibiity centre stage because we
beleve it matters and will help us stand out from our competitors
we intend ta lead our industry in corporate responsibiity
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Business review continued
Principal risks and uncertainties

The operattonal complexities itherent in our business, together
with the highly regulated and commercially competitive
environment of the arhne industry, leave us exposed to a
number of nsks Many of these risks — for example, changes in
governmental regulation, acts of terronism and the availabihity
of finance - can be mitigated to a certain degree but remamn
outside of our control

The directors of the Group beheve that the rnisks and uncertamties
described below are the ones that coutd have the most
significant impact on the long term value of British Airways
The list {presented in alphabeucai order) 1s not intended 10

be exhaustive

Brand reputation

Qur brand 1s of significant commercial value Erosion of the
brand, through either a single event, or senes of events, could
adversely impact our leadership position with customers and
ultimately affect our future revenue and profizability

Caputal investment

A wrong decision in respect of our planned fleet growth, In
terms of urming, aircraft numbers or fleet type, could have
a matenal adverse impact on our future performance

Competition

The markets in which we operate are highly competitive We
face competiuon from ather airlines on our routes, as well as
from indirect fights, charter services and from other modes
of transport Seme competitors have cost structures that are
lower than ours or have other competitive advantages Fare
discounung by compentors has historically had a negatve
effect on our results because we are generally required to
respond to competitors’ fares to maintain passenger traffic

Consolidation/Deregulation

Mergers and acquisitions amongst competiiors have the potential
to adversely affect our market position and revenue Certain
markets in which we operate remain regulated by governments,
In some nstances controlling capacity and/or restricting
market entry Relaxation of such restrictions, whilst creating
growth opportunities for us, may negatively impact margins

Environment

Falure to adopt an integrated environmental strategy could
lead to a detertoration 1n our reputation and consequential loss
of revenue An increased focus on corporate responsibility and
a publhished emissions reduction target will help dehver the
refocused strategy

Financial commitments

We carry substantal debt which will need to be repad or
refinanced Our ability to finance angoing operations, committed
arcraft orders and future fleet growth plans may be affected by
various factors including financial market conditions Although
most of our debt s currently asset-related, there can be no
assurance that aircraft will continue to provide attractive
secunty for lenders in the future

Fuel price

We use approximately six milion tonnes of jet fuel a year
Volatlity in the price of o1l and petroleum products can have
a matenal anpact on our operating results This price risk 1s
partally hedged through the purchase of oif and petroleum
denvatives in forward markets, which can generate a profit
oraloss

Global economic slowdown/Credit crunch

Qur revenue 1s highly sensitive to economic conditions in the
markets it which we operate The financial services sectar Is
one of our key customer segments and recent difficulties in
the banking industry represent a significant risk to our revenue

Government intervention

The airline 1ndustry 1s becoming increasingly regulated The
scape of such regulanon ranges from infrastructure 1ssues
relating to stot capacity and route flying rights, through to new
environmental and security requirements Our abiiiy to both
comply with, and influence any changes in, these regulations 15
key to mamtaning our operauonal and financial performance




British Arrways 2007/08 Annual Report and Accounts / 37

In Febrvary 2008, publc
consultation ended on the UK
Gavernment’s conclusion that

its environmental conditions on
Heathrow expansion could now be
satisfied and allow full utfisation
of Heathrow's two runways and
the construction of a short third
runway to go ahead

Heathrow and Gatwick airports and economic regulation
Our main operating bases, Heathrow and Gatwick, are subject

1o economic regulation by the UK CAA The CAA sets the
maximum level of arport charges, the airport’s capital
investment programme and service quality standards for five-
yearly periods A new five-yearly settlement came into force
on April 1, 2008 Significant benefits of the settlement inciude

« Major new capital investment that would be of benefir to our
businass for example Terminal 55 Satellite C, an automated
transfer baggage link to Terminal 3 where our other Heathrow
services and oneworld partners are due to operate, and
allowance for ‘mixed mode’ use of Heathrow's existing two
runways and investment In a third,

« A major cut in the cost of capital allowance for the airports
— which reduces our arport charges, and

= Raising and extending service quality standards, which
benefits our operations and customer service

But the settlement also includes a large rise in alflowed
aIrport operating costs — which adds to our arport charges

It 15 unclear If this settlement will stay in place as some other
arlines are considenng instigating a judicial review in 2008
which may lead to changes We will seek to protect our
interests should such a review take place

In parallel, the UK Compeution Commussion s holding an
inquiry into the UK arports market — notably BAAS arports
in SE England and Scotland

This inquiry 1s expected to issue 1ts formal report in 2008 and
must do so no later than March 2009 The report may lead to
wide-ranging structural changes to the regulatory amangements
and 1o the ownership of arparts tt may also involve a penod
of uncertainty during implementasion if the Commussion’s
recornmendation is contested by the parties

we will continue to put the case for a strengthened regulatory
structure (with licence requirements on the regulated airports)
we will also campaign for the right regulatory or ownership
structure to make sure neither prevents urgent aitention being
gwen to expanding Heathrow and transforming 1t into a modern
and globally-competiiive hub

Heathrow operational constraints

Heathrow has no spare runway capacity and operates on the
same two runways It had when it opened 60 years ago As a
result, we are vulnerable to sheort-term operational disruption
and there is little we can do to mitigate against this In February
2008 pubhic consultanon ended on the UK Government's
conclusicn that its environmental conditions on Heathrow
expansion could now be satisfied and allow full unhsaton of
Heathrow's two runways and the canstruction of a short thrd
runway to go ahead This would create extra capacity and
reduce delays, enabling Heathrow to compete more effectively
against European hubs like Pars, Amsterdam and Frankfurt

Industnal relations

We have a large unionised workforce Collecuve bargaining takes
place on a regular basis and a breakdown in the bargaining
process could disrupt operauons and adversely affect business
performance Qur contnued effort 1o reduce employment
costs, through increased productivity and competitive wage
awards, ncreases the risk mn this area

Pandemics

Epidemics, pandemics and other health nsks that may oceur,
can adversely affect demand for arr travel For example, in
the Spring of 2003, the SARS epidernic caused concerns
among many travellers and resulted in a decline 1 demand for
certain of our routes, most notably those to/from the Far East
infectious disease experts consider that there is currently a
serious risk of a global influenza pandemic

Safety/Secunty incident

The safety and security of our customers and employees are
fundamental values of ours Fallure to prevent a major safety
or secunity incident could adversely impact our operanions
and financial performance One of our Boeing 777 aicraft was
involved 1n a landing acaident in January 2008 [nvestigations
by the LIK AAIB are ongaing but at this stage the cause

does not appear to be related to either the operation or
maintenance of the aircraft
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Corporate responsibility

Our corporate responsibility
vision is to become the world's
most responsible airline, and
we have developed guiding
principles that describe what we
are doing to achieve this goal.

This report covers the activities of Brnitish Airways’ passenger and cargo
businesses and it forms part of, and should be read in conjunction with,
the Directors’ report set out on pages 54 to 58
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The highlights of our corporate responsibility

activities in 2007/08 are summarised under four
headings — workplace, marketplace, environment
and community investment.

Governance

In November 2007, we created

a new corporate responsibihty
department, bringing together our
former Community Relations and
Environment teams The activities

of the team are overseen by our
Corporate Responsibility Board
{CRB), which 15 chaired by our Chief
Executive, Wilhe Walsh and attended
by Baroness Kingsmill, a non-executive
director In addition, the CRB includes
representatives of health and safety,
as weli as people with responsibibity
for emerging 1ssues such as climare
change, whistleblowing, responsible
procurement and fuel management

The CRB, which meets guarterly,

i1s supported by the Corporate
Responsibility Team and Corporate
Respansibility Champions drawn
from across the business Therr
work 1s further supported by a
vanety of steering groups mcluding
health and safety, diversity, disabibity,
procurement, fuel, environmental
management and information
technology

Further mformation on our approach to corporaie responsibihity 1s available on bacam

Strategy

Qur approach to corporate
responsibility has three main
components — the vision, goals
and programme plan

Our actwities are centred in four
key areas

« Workplace - ensuring that we provide
sustainable employment for current
employees and become the employer
of choice faor future employees,

Marketplace - working with
suppliers and customers to build
a more sustainable business,

.

Ervironment — making sure
we minImise our Impact on
the enviranment, including our
contnbution to climate change,
air quahity, noise and waste, and

Community investment acuvities —
supporting diverse projects that
help to make communities In the
UK and overseas mare sustainable

We have idennfied performance goals
to measure our progress in each of
these four areas

Finally, we have developed a
programme plan containing over
80 programme level activities and
several hundred indidual projects
aimed at delivening our corporate
responsibility strategy

Communications

In January 2008, we upgraded our
corporate responsibility website
‘Respecting our World' The site
features the four key corporate
responsibility areas of workplace,
marketplace, environment and
community nvesiment It also
provides information on respansible
growth for aviation, future Heathrow
development plans and information
on responsible travel

Also, in January 2008 we upgraded
ssignificantly our carbon offset
scheme for passengers, introducing
a highly-visible, ‘one chick’ option
nto the booking process on ba com
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Corporate responsibility

The workplace

People and organisational effectiveness

A new change programme

We have recently embarked on a cufture change programme
that will transform British Airways into an organisation where
innovation, growth and clear customer focus are the defining
quahties

The programme has five main themes

+ Colleagues - engaging our people to make Briuish Airways
a high performance workplace,

+ Customers - focusing all our people to deliver consistent
customer service,

+ Partnerships — developing and maintaining world-class
partnerships with all key stakeholders, both internal and
axternal,

+ Performance — creating a performance-based culture, and

« QOperational effictency — driving continuous improvement,
short and long-term

This work, led by the Leadership team, involves and engages
employees right across our business

Traiming

We delivered 235,000 days of training during the year, including
30,000 training days to staff at Heathrow to support our move
to Terrinal 5

We have invested significantly i the development of our
customer service training porifolio and have developed a
programme for those working tn our Club and First cabins
Developed as part of a brands refreshment exercise, the
programme aims to make sure cabin crew deliver the highest
standards of service to our customers

Over the past year, some 3,100 people have joined our
Company This has required a high level of induction training
We have refreshed our new entrant training programimes to
make sure they reflect the prionties in our business plan

External accreditation of our traiming programmes
Foliowing the government revtew of vocational education,

led by Lord Leitch, we have explored how we can invest more
effectively in the development of cur employees to build both
their skilis and educational standards We have become the
first national airline recognised as a training centre by the City
& Guilds and, from February 2008, all new entrant cabin crew
will achieve an NVQ Level 2 qualfication on completion of
therr training It 1s envisaged that further internal training
programmes will become accredied and that employees
undertaking courses will achieve nationally recognised
quahifications

Colleague involvement

Employee involvement continued to be a key focus durtng the
year Employees are asked to give their views and apintons on
awide range of topics every year via the Speak Lip! opinion
survey, administered by Ipsos MORI The results from the
survey are communicaied widely and alt departments are
required to produce acton plans to address areas of concern

Results from the last survey showed significant iImprovements
over the 12-month period in the perception of the effectiveness
of ine managers However, despite these positive trends, the
overall response rate to the survey - at just 35 per cent -

was low Employees expressed concerns about our ability to
provide excellent customer service, reflecting some of the
difficulties over the summer caused by increased secunty
arrangements at UK airports
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Employee involvement contiued
to ba a key focus dunng the year
Employees are asked to giva their
views and opinions on a wide
range of topics every year via

the Speak Up' opiman survey,
administered by Ipses MOR]

One of our main aims this year s to increase the number of
people responding to the survey We also want o speed up
our action planning and, In support of the corporate change
pragramme, identify issues that would improve our percepuion
of British Aurways as a ‘great place to work’

Leadership development

Leadership was a significant priority dunng the year We have
developed a number of programmes to improve the capability
and performance of our leaders These included a one-day
programme for all managers, called ‘Leading the Business',
which focused on the challenges of managing change, engaging
employees and delivering resulis to support our bysiness
strategy As a result of this programme, a leadership website
has been developed which provides information and trairing
matenals to help managers with all aspects of their roles

Other development programmes included a three-day
‘Leaderstup Matters’ programme aimed at developing
world-class leaders throughout the arrline including our
pilot and cabin crew communities

There wilt be increased focus on talent and leadership
development over the coming year as we burld the capability
we need for growth

Bntish Airways values

We have defined our corporate values as part of the business
planning process All traring programmes now contain a module
which heips customer service coileagues understand how they
can demonstrate comimitrnent to our values in the work they
do Our recruitment processes have been redesigned to make
sure we select people who can clearly demonstraie these
essential values

Employee relations

Duning the year, we consolidated our UK operations in six
reglonal arports, and transferred ground roles to third-party
ground handlers This affected some 1,000 employees
Thase affected were helped to find alternative employment
both inside and outside the airine

As part of our transition to Terminal 5, 3 work pracuce and
technology change agreement was reached in early 2007 for
our customer service and ramp employees Following this, the
Terminal 5 change programme entered 1ts implementation phase

Since May 2007, we have held 113 full day, change implementaton
farums with employees represented by trades uions As 2
result, a further 55 key implementaton agreements were
completed delivering extensive change to working practices,
industrial agreements, operational processes and support
systems in readiness far the consolidation of our operations

in Terminal 5 As Terrinal 5 comes into full operaton, we are
commutted to working closely with the trades unions in this
next phase

A new system of performance pay has been implemented in
our Heathrow terminals, hnking pay to performance across
many job functions

Following the threatened cabin crew strnke of early 2007,
we committed oursefves to a fresh start Since then we have
continued to implement the settlement that was reached
and to develop a beiter relatonship with our cabin crew
trades union

within Flight Operations, we have agreed radical changes wiih
the trades umion In a far-reaching agreement on work coverage
This has involved changes to rostering rules, work bidding
practices, overtime payments and reserve establishment
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Corporate responsibility continued

The workplace

In early 2008 the pilots’ union, BALPA, balloted its members
for strike action over our plans to set up a new subsidiary,
OpenSkies, flytng between continental Europe and the US
We noufied BALPA that we thought strike action would be
unlawful, and BALPA did not call a strike Instead it 1ssued
legal proceadings agamnst British Airways in the High Court 1o
clarify the postion A tnal will start on May 19, 2008

Qur Industrial Relanons Change Programme s contnumng This
brings together trades union representatives and managers

in specific training and actuon planning events, to help us find
ways to solve problems together and involve colleagues across
the business

Reward

We operate two funded principal defined benefit pension
schernes in the UK, the Airways Pension Scheme (APS) and
the New Airways Pension Scheme (NAPS) Both are closed
to new members From Apnl 1, 2003 we commenced a new
defined contnbuiton scheme, the British Airways Retirement
Plan (BARP)

Total members

March 31, 2008
1 APS 32678

2 NAPS 639,333
3 BARP 5038

March 31, 2008

1 Active members 38,288

2 Pensioners in payment 33,821
3 Dependent penstoners 9,777
4 Deferred pensioners 25,163

ol

In April 2007 we introduced changes to future service benefits
as part of a 10-year programme to fund the deficit in NAPS
The changes provided people with choices about their level

of future pension savings and benefits

In February 2008, we also introduced a SmartPension
arrangement, which allows our UK-based employees to
make their pension contributions In a more tax-efficient way
The changes were introduced with trades umon support and
around 80 per cent of those eligible are now benefiting from
this arrangement

We operate an Employee Reward Plan (ERP} allowing our

non-management workforce to share in the success of the

business The plan, introduced n 2005, awards amounts to

employees based on our performance agamst a batance of ‘
financiat and non-financial measures These measures cover

operational, customer and financial performance and the plan

helps to reinforce the iImportance of all the various factors

that affect our overall performance

Management banus schemes use the same financial and '
non-financal performance metncs as the ERP, but also include
employee involvement as a further measure Our managers

are also rewarded for their indivtdual contribution towards
achieving the Company's goals and targets

We also operate a recognitron scheme, known as Bravo The
scheme enables people across our business ta be recognised
for their efforts and achievements The Bravo scheme was
reviewed and revised during the year, resulting In a significant
increase in the number of awards being made

In November 2007, we concluded consultations and announced

a revised staff travel package, which will be launched in April

2009 The changes will make this employee benefit simpler,

fairer and more flexible, and 1s designed to give greater choice |

Headcount

As at March 31, 2008, we employed 42,377 manpower

equivalents {MPE) There has been an increased level of attntion |
during the year, particularly within the Contact Centres and
Gatwick cabin crew Awverage attnioion is still low at 8 per cent
Qur employment costs have reduced year on year, due to
the pension changes, reduced severance costs and higher
productvity achweved through changes in working practices
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Baggage and loading staff have
completed thetr manual handling
training with cabin crew, flight
crew, engineenng and cargo
scheduled to start traning later ¢
the year Each traimng programme
will focus on nisks assoaiated with
the specific roles and we witi do a
root cause analysis with
employees who report an injury

Diversity and inclusion

Our Diversity team Jaunched a new Diversity and Inclusion
Strategy during the year This has two simple aims Firstly,
to ensure that everyone understands why and how diversity
Is tmportani to us and, secondly, to ensure that diversity is
integrated into every part of the business

We are committed to creating an inclusive working culture in
which all our employees feel valued, respected and motivated

We try to promote types of behaviour, values and working
practices which recognise and support individuals We want
1o reflect the wide cultural diversity of our customers so
that we can deliver the best products and services to them

In the first phase of the strategy we used a survey, INterviews
and focus groups to find out and discuss what harassment
and builying meant, and how awareness about this could be
raised A booklet and film were produced and these have
been distributed across the business Further work on how
bullying cases are resolved and on the role mediation might
play in tackhing harassment are also being explored This
work will conunue to be a priority for the corming year and
will be measured through the Speak Up! employee survey

We are working with key members of our major trades umons
on a Joint Dignity at Work project As a result, we have delivered
joint training for semor trades union representatives across the
business and run sessions on harassment and bullying with
trades union representatives in the ramp areas at Heathrow

we focused on relipon and behef throughout the year and
successfully defended an employment tribunal in November
2007 in this regard We have bacome a steenng group member
of a new orgamsation called ‘Employers Forum on Behef® and
we have established a new interfaith network group which
meets to discuss all aspects of religion in the workplace such
as prayer rooms, catering and umfarms

We also sponsored Gay Pride in London in july 2007 As

well as having positive commercial impact, there was also an
opportunity for our peaple to show their solidanty by marching
together We were proud that many of them chose to wear
their eniforms for the parade

As a responsible Company we take disability very seriously
We welcome applications from people with disabilies as

we aim to employ the most talented people, and we support
individuals with disabilities in reaching therr full potential by
making reasonable adjustments in the workplace

Wwe consult with our disabled employee group to identify
disability 1ssues and they help us to ensure that we are making
all our products, services and traning fully inclusive and
accessible All front ine employees are trained in disability
awareness to increase their knowledge about disabled
customers and employees

We are also constantly looking at how we can improve our
journey experience for disabled travellers We have putinto place
a disability strategy for the next four years, called ‘Building
Ability towards 2012’, which covers many areas and will ensure
that we can meet the needs of all our paralympic athletes

Gender profiles
Total employees

Women [ 143%

Men | _157%

Seniofr managers

Women [ ]27%

Men [ 173%
Managers

wWomen [ 137%

Men [ 163%
Absence

Wwe have continued to manage absence carefully and the
latter part of 2007/08 has seen the previous decline in
attendance start to improve, despite some trades union
unrest and a challenging operating environment Overall this
recovery has resulted in the annual headline absence figure
holding at 11 7 average days per persen per annum

Recent focus on the poorest attendees in each month 1s
bringing results Proposals for a rewsed world-class approach,
supported by accountable managers in the new People and
Organisational Effectiveness department, are targeied to achieve
a mmmum 15 per cent improvement during the caming year
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Corporate responsibility continued

The workplace

Due to improvements in the way we manage ill health
retirements we are continuing to achieve a 40 per cent
reducten in Il health pensions, halting inappropriate awards
and saving more than £10 mullion per annum

Absence - average days per person per annum

January 2008 | 1117
2003 baseline {

1167

Health and safety

in 2007 /08, there were 2 total of 23 major injuries recorded
across our busmess The majonty of these injunies related 1o
employees slipping or tripping

But within this total, there was an increase In reported Ijuries
involving engineers suffering fall injunies while working on aircraft
both in the hangars and on the line As a consequence of these
incidents, we launched a review of the access equipment used
by our engineers Following trials and a significant investment, we
started taking delivery of new equipment in March 2008 and
will continue this replacement programme up to September 2008
A combined communication and supervision process 15 being
introduced to ensure that the correct equipment 15 used for
the many tasks that are carried out and we expect to see a
reduction m fall-related imjuries as a result

Manual handling iquries continue to be the most common
inury In conjuncticn with our employer's habibiy insurers,

we are introducing a series of focused traiming programmes
across our business Baggage and loading staff have completed
their tratning with cabin crew, flight crew, engineenng and
cargo scheduled to start training later in the year Each traning
programme will focus on risks associated with the specific
roles and we will do a root cause analysis with employees

who report an yury

Employees imured whilst at work are able to benefit from a
company-sponsored rehabilitation programme This benefit
has been extended to employees who are injured away from
work to help them return to work as soon as possible

During the year, British Airways Maintenance Cardiff received
a Prohibiion Notice from the Health and Safety Executive for
apiece of access equipment that was deemed unsuitable The
piece of equipment was immediately removed from service
and the Notice closed

Mowving a huge number of vehicles and pieces of equipment
into Termunal 5 - safely and efficiently — required a considerable
amount of planning This involved closing a runway and moving
convoys of equipment from both Terminals t and 4 to Terminal &
throughout the might The migraton was completed successiully
and safely

Our behavioural safety programme, Rampsafe, continues (o
dehver safety improvements with a reduction in damage to
arrcraft and equipment

Working days lost from work-related imjury and ill health per 100,000 employees
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Employment tnibunals
Durning 2007/08, the Group was served with 63 new
proceedings in the Employment Trnbunals

British Airways Plc was the Respondent in all but six of the
69 proceedings The other six are one each in BA Avicnic
Engineening and BA CityFlyer, and two each in BA Intenors
and BA Regional

Of the 69 proceedings, the following points are noted

1 Eight clams were mulu-applicant proceedings, 1€ there is
more than one clamant OF these eight, five were groups
of fewer than 100 claimants Of the remaming, twa related
to how haliday pay should be calculated under the Civil
Aviation (Working Time) Regulations, and were brought
by pilot and cabin crew trades urwons on behalf of all their
(respectively) over 3,000 and 10,759 members who are
Brtish Atrways employees and the third was a claim for
a payment under the Employee Reward Plan by 114
employees of BA Regional Limited

2 17 of the claims were for unfair dhsrmussal, or unfar dismissal
plus other claims of which none were discnimination claims
Of these, seven reman ongoing, two were settled and the
other eight were withdrawn, won by British Airways or
struck out by the Tribunal

3 30 of the claims were for discnmination, oF discnmination
plus other claims Of these, 17 remain ongoing, three were
settled and the other 10 were withdrawn, won by British
Airways or struck out by the Tribunal

4 For the first ume, therefore, the number of claims including
a discrimination element outweighs the number of claims
for unfair dismissal
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- Corporate responsibility continued
The marketplace — suppliers
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Suppher market

Ovwerall suppler costs, excluding fuel, were held flat over the
year, despite significant inflationary pressures on suppliers’
Own Costs

We had a busy year with our supphers, with a number of major
sourcing projects either started or completed during the
period We placed new aircraft orders with Airbus and Boeing,
for 12 Arrbus A380 and 24 Boeing 787 aircraft We have also
begun to review our in-flight catering needs at Heathrow, with
a new supply contract required by March 2010 Additionally,
the launch of our OpenSkies subsidiary in mamnland Europe,
and direct fhights from London City to the US, will mean new
work with suppliers

Suppter risk

Qur procurement team records and measures risk
across our most important suppliers. We have currently
identified 25 suppliers who, if they ceased trading or
experienced severe operational difficulties, would
have a serious impact on our ability to operate. For
these suppliers, risk 1s measured across five dimensions,
updated each month and we take mitigating action
when any supplier 1s deemed to be at risk,

In addition to managing risks relating to key suppliers, we also
routinely monitor the financial health of a number of other
critical suppliers using monthly Dun & Bradstreet company reports
This information provides an early warning of increased nisk

We use Business Conunuity Plans to cover the risks of supply
fallures from our key suppliers and make sure that we can
demonstrate these plans are tested regularly Equally, we make
sure contingency plans are in place to respond to any supply
interruption, from secunng alternative suppliers, switching to the
use of our own resources, or scaling down the services required

Payment performance

We have again made good progress on paying suppliers
promptly On average, 88 per cent of payments were on time
in the UK for the year ended March 31, 2008 This compares
with 84 per cent In the preceding year

Next year our aim 1s to maintain this momentumn and
eventually to achieve a target of 90 per cent on time payment
worldwide Increased use of e-invorcing and purchasing cards
will help us Iin this effort

We are a signatory to the Canfederation of British Industry
{CBI) code of practice on supplier payment and are committed
to the payment to our suppliers on agreed terms The number
of days' purchases in creditors at March 31, 2008 1s calculated
in accordance with the provistons of the Companies Act 1985
and was 33 days (2007 34 days)

Corporate responsibility in the supplier base

We are committed to being fully responsible in our purchasing
decisions, and during 2008/09 we will develop our purchasing
process to make sure this happens We will continue to survey
potential suppliers to assess their corporate responsibility
credennals, and ensure that our staff are famdiarised with key
tssues In addinon, we will look at using independently-held,
self-certification data to better mform supplier selection decisions

Procurement delivery

We are committed to driving spend through preferred suppliers
In Decernber 2007, 97 per cent of our external spend was
with 2,050 suppliers and they have been awarded formal
preferred supplier status ‘We have also focused on ensuring
our spend is committed through our approved order-based
process, and in Decernber 2007, 99 per cent of spend was
through this process
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The marketplace — customers

The wellbeing of our customers Is extremely important to

us Every year, we research and listen 1o the views of over
600,000 customers This year, we have also sought the advice
of young travellers through our newly launched Kids Counail,
the first group of its kind of any airhne As a result we offer
and continue to develop a range of high-quality products

and services 1o meei the needs of all our customers

Terminal 5

Preparing for our move to Terminal 5 has been a major focus
thus year Despite the mnial difficulues on opening, this state-
of-the-art building will progressively offer a smoother check-in,
fewer gueues and less waiting around The building boasts a
huge range of options for eating, dnnking and relaxing as well
as the world's largest lounge complex for premium passengers

Club World

Club World has been redesigned from end-to-end In 2007/08,
we finished fitting the new Club World cabin 1o all our Boeing
747 arcraft and have been preparing to intreduce it on our
Boeing 777s The new cabin combines comfort, control and
prvacy It features Club Kitchen — where customers can find
a wide range of hot and cold food — and a new seat, which is
25 per cent wider A softer mattress, memory-foam headrest
and cosy quilt mean that customers can comfortably stretch
out on a fully flat bed and sleep in privacy behind a touch
button screen

Audio visual on demand

Qur new in-flight entertanment system Is now available on all
our Boeing 747s and Boeng 767s, offering increased choice
and control to our customers with more than 200 mowvies,

TV shows, audio options and interactive games We have seen
marked improvements In satisfaciion among passengers who
have used the new system

ba.com

A guarter of all bookings are now made through ba com and
we continue to improve our booking process People travelling
together can now easily share flight winerary and price information
pnor to purchase Customers also now have the option to offset
the carbon emissions of their journgy when they book ther
nicket on ba com, with all proceeds going towards UN certified
emussion reduction projects

Our award-winning online check-in system continues to
improve it now allows passengers to check-n on other
carrners for connecting codeshare journeys and select
how many checked bags they will be taking ta the airport,
highlighting important allowance informauon The system
i1s helping us with advance flight planning

More than 70 per cent of Executive Club redempuons are
made online and this year we introduced an enhanced mileage
calculator helping customers work out where they can go with
their miles

Service style

We are committed to providing excellent service and this

year we have updated and modernised our service style vision,
drwven directly by feedback from employees We are now
making sure everyone 1s aware of the new service style to help
themn offer a brlliani service whether they work in the airports,
onboard, 1n the contact centres of in customer refations

Baggage policy

As a result of the lifting of hand baggage restrichions by

the UK Depariment for Transport, with the exception of
Newguay arport, we were able to reintroduce our hand
bagpage allowance of two pieces for all passengers travelling
to, from and through UK airports

We also launched our new checked baggage policy First

and Club World passengers are now entitled to three bags

In addition, unlike many of our competitors, all of our customers
are now able to carry, free of charge and in addinon to thewr
normal checked baggage allowance, one piece of sporting
equipment, frorm our defined hst of sporung items

BA World Cargo

In September 2007, the LIFT loyaity and reward programme
was launched to support key regional custemers The programme
s the first of 1ts kind 1n the arr cargo industry and this is reflecied
in the high lavel of customer enrolment

Prermua, our new premium products faciity at Heathrow, has
seen its first full year of operauon Volumes of specialist and
ume-sensitive cargo have increased significantly as our
customers have recognised the added value that our new
bullding provides to the logistics supply chain
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Corporate responsibility continued

Environment

Environmental regulation
Our activities are covered by a number of environmental
regulations as discussed on page 23

Chmate change

We have made good progress in ynplementing a comprehensive
chrnate change programme This includes fuel and energy
efficiency initiatives, support for effective policy measures to
address absolute ermissions growth, voluntary carbon offsetting
and support for screnufic research

We have developed a company-wide target to improve carbon
efficiency, expressed in grams of CO, per passenger kilometre
(gC0,/pkm), by 25 per cent from 111 grams in 2005 to 83 grams
in 2025 in 2007 our performance was 110 gCO,/pkm

CO, emissions actual and targeted

FC0 dpkn
2025 [ |83
2007 [ 1110
2005 [ J111

This goal 1s now one of our overall corporate goals, signalling
the importance of ciimate change to our business (as discussed
on page 35)

During the year we have carned out an extensive assessment
of our carbon footprint, applying the greenheouse gases (GHG)
protocol corporate standard guidelines Cur carbon footprint
in 2007/08 was 17 7 milhon tonnes

In January 2008, we launched a sigmificant upgrade to our
passenger carbon offset scheme introducing a ‘one chick’
highly visible option into the ba corn booking process This
scheme helps fund UN certufied ermission reduction imtiatives
in developing countries, such as clean energy projects in China
and Brazl

We continue to work to secure the timely and pragmatic
inclusion of aviation CO, emissions into the EU Emissions
Trading Scheme in preference to aviaton taxes which we
believe are ineffective In tackling climate change We are actively
leading the development of a global agreement in aviation
chmate policy — both withinindustry {e g at IATA and AEA and
as a leading member of the UK Sustainable Aviation Group)
and in broader global forums such as the World Economic
Forum and the Gleneagles Cimate Change Dialogue, and

the European Round Table of Industriahsts

We are also supporting a number of chrnate change scientific
research projects These include work led by Cambnidge
Lintversity to investigate research pathways for improving
understanding of nan-CO, arrcraft chmate effects, the
European Commission IAGOS project which 1s investigating
the feastbility of using aircraft to collect atmospheric data in-
fight and work by the Global Canopy Programme to prevent
deforestation — a large source of climate change emissions

Waste

The total amount of waste managed through contracts at
Heathrow and Gatwick has decreased by 3 3 per cent during
the year We continue to develop new waste managernent
ininztives including recycling waxed paper coffee cups, plastic
lids, unwanted office furmture and recycling newspapers
offered onboard

in 2007 we recycled 30 per cent of waste at Heathrow and
Gatwick We have set ourselves the target of recycling half
our waste by 2010

The proporuon of waste at Heathrow and Gatwick disposed to
landfill reduced by 9 2 per cent We continue to work towards
a target of zero waste to landfill by 2010

Water

Water Is 3 valuable resource and consumption 1s routinely
monitored whenever possible Dunng the year, we cut waier
consumpttan at Heathrow and Gatwick by 8 8 per cent
compared to the previous year

Noise

We are subject to restrictions on departure noise and night
flights at many airports worldwide Major changes to current
noIse management systems are subject 1o the requirements
of the ‘Balanced Approach’ established by the Committee on
Awviation Environmental Protection (CAEP) of the Internatonal
Cvit Aviation Orgarusation (JCAO) These are designed to
ensure that noise management 1s balanced and targeted

Last year at Heathrow, we contravened the noise imits 47 nmes,
a reduction of 28 per cent, principally as a result of Boeing
747-400 departures being delayed into the might penod
However, we conunue to look for new ways to reduce noise
and wark continues on the Departures Code of Practice, with
other stakeholders, which will also include ground operations
At Heathrow, our Continucus Descent Approach adherence
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We remain committed to
protecting and enhanaing the
240 acres of Harmondsworth
Moor surrounding our Waterside
headquarters at Heathrow

{for fuel efficiency and noise reduction] was 95 per cent for
dayume and 94 per cent for night-ume for the last calendar
year, compared to 84 per cent for daytume and 88 per cent
for night-ume for the arrport average

Aur quality

Aurcraft engines are regulated for low altitude emissions and
areas araund many alrports have 1o meet stringent ar quality
timits To help reduce NO,, emissions, we continue 1o use
reduced take-off thrust to the lowest availlable when possible
for our arcraft operations worldwide We are also working with
ICAQ to define aircraft emissions’ characteristics and continue
to work with CAEP 1o help them model the impact of aircraft
emissions on lacal ar quabty

British Airways NO, emussions to 1,000 feet
(metric tonnes)

2007 L 11,107
2006 [ 11,096
2005 | 11,080
Terminal 5

in the planning for Terminal 5 an independent environmental
assessment advisory group (EAAG) was established to
mininise the environmental impact of the terminals design,
construction and operation Together with BAA and the EAAG,
we focused on improving hnks to public transport, reducing
noise and emissions, exploting iNnnovations In energy, water
and waste management, and maximising the use of sustainable
resources Features included innovauve vacuumn flush tolets,
taps and showers fitted with water-saving devices, using amber
from managed sustanable sources for lounge furniture and
veneers, and cladding shower pavilions with faux tmber
converted from recycled plastic milk bottles

Using aircraft stands with fixed ground power and pre-
condiioned air means we will rely less on aircraft auxiliary
power units {APUs), reducing noise and carbon emissions

Ground fleet

We are also improving our petformance on the ground

In Terminal 5, we invested £25 mullion 1in S50 new vehicles,
including 38 new buses specified to the future Euro 5 exhaust
emission standard Remote monitoring by telematcs technology
will be used to manage fleet efficency A fuel management

systern will be firted to refueling equipment at Heathrow

We are part of the Heathrow Clean Vehicles Programme which
aims to improve the environmental performance of our ground
vehicle fleet

Fleet modernisation

Improved environmental performance was a major consideraticn
behind our order in September 2007 of 12 Airbus A380
aircraft and 24 Boeing 787 arcraft to replace some of our
Boeing 767-300 and 747-400 awcraft All arcraft options were
evaluated using environmental critena for fuel efficency, total
NO, emissions, external noise and noise footprints, internal
cabin naise and ground noise for ramp aperations including
the use of the APU The awcraft we have selected are greener,
cleaner and quieter, with both the Airbus A380 and Boeing 787
rated as producing a quarter of the noise level of the Boeing
747-400, on approach

Summary of environmental achievements and targets

Target 2007 2006 2005°
Carbon efficiency gCO,/pkm 83** 110 118 1
€O, emissions {mihon tonnes)™* 177 166 161

Totat waste at Heathrow and Gatwick —
Including our catening comparnies (metnc tonnes)

26,043 26920 28456

% recyclng S0%

(Heathrow and Gatwick} by 2010 301 289 306
Waste to landfill (tonnes)

(Heathrow and Gatwick) zeroby 2010 3688 4063 4,540
Waste per passenger (kg) reduce by

{Heathrow and Gatwick) 2% perannum 076 078 Q083
Heathrow deparwre noise viclauons — day 1 g 7
Heathrow departure noise viclations — night 46 56 37
Conunuous Descent Approach

[Heathrow) % day 95 95 84 94
Conunuous Descent Approach

{Heathrow) % might 95 94 g8 a3
Heathrow air quality /NG, emissions

1o 1 000 ft (metrnic tonnes) 1,307 1,096 1080

- calendar years
** by 2025 based on 2005
*=+ 2007 ncludes arcraft property and vehicles, priof years inClude awcraft only

Biodiversity

We remain commutted to protectng and enhancing the

240 acres of Harmondsworth Moor surrounding our Waterside
headquarters at Heathrow, and have retaned the Wildlife Trust’s
new Biodiversity Benchmark
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Corporate responsibility continued
Community investment

Connecting communities

We are committed to developing strong community
partnerships Qur prionty 1s to invest in educaton and youth
development, supporting employees, sustainabie tournsm,
henitage and the environment in 2007 /08, we supported
130 communty and conservation organisations worldwide,
donating travel awards, excess baggage and cargo

We continue to be a member of both the London Benchmarking
Group {LBG) and Business in the Community's {(BITC) Percent
Club The LBG's benchmarking model 1s used to assess our
totat contributions te the community

Education and youth development

Our Commurnity Learning Centre ~ close to our Waterside
headquarters at Heathrow - has welcomed over 44,000 young
people and adult learners since opening in 1999 Interactive,
arline-focused programmes relevant to the school curncutum
are delvered to lacal school pupifs Programmes include global
education weeks delivered in partnership with the United
Nattons International Children's Emergency Fund {LINICEF),
focusing on places we fly to The children are immersed in the
culture of the country they are studying and also learn about
the LIN Convention on the Rights of the Child

Languages

The British Airways’ Language Flag Award 1s offered to
schools across the UK and has been recogrnised by both the
Foreign and Commonwealth Office and the Brtish Language
Champion Scheme in recognition of its work on the promotion
of language learning

Partnerships

In the UK, through corporate partnership with the Natural
History Museum, we have developed programmes to provide
opportunives for pupils from Heathrow schools to visit the
museum, meet sctentists and expenence the work of the
Darwin Centre Overseas, we have been working with the
Mukuru Promotion Centre in Nairob, Kenya, for over five
years supporting over 4,000 children On the development of
IT and educatuon programmes, 15 teachers have participated in
teacher exchange programmes to gain a better understanding
of both the UK and Kenyan educauon systems This programme
will continue to be developed in 2008/09

Change for Good

Our partnership with UNICEF, Change for Good, raised

£2 5 millicn in the year to March 31, 2008 The onboard
collecuion programme, supported by aver 2,400 cabin crew
champions, enabled us to fund UNICEF's work with vulnerable
children Programmes included HIV tesung, treatment and
counselling (Tanzama), HIV-prevention (Ghana} and emergency
cyclone relief (Bangladesh) Change for Good launched the
first branded Change for Good toy, Fudge the Dog In 2008
Change for Good wili celebrate 1s £25 million mitestone

Employee fundraising

Over 4,000 retired and current employees donated over
£600,000 directly from their payroll to their chosen chanties
through our Giving Scheme In addition, we hosted 10 fundraising
events rasing over £160,000 for a range of employee-
supported charities Our employees have been taking part in
the BA Fun Run for over 14 years, raising over £735,000 for
Cancer Research UK During 2007/08, our World Cargo team
collected and delivered 15 tonnes of high-quality gifts, donated
by employees from around the airline

Donations

BITC reported our total direct and in-kind donations for
2007/08 at £5 7 million (2006/07 £6 3 milion) Of these,
direct chantable donations amounted to £398,000 (2006/07
£1 2 milion) Over the past year we have donated more than
£800.,000 of surplus merchandise to charities in the LIK

and overseas
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Corporate governance
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Board of directors

The names and details of the current directors are set out below
All served throughout the financial year ended March 31, 2008

Board members as at May 15, 2008

Chairman

Martin Broughton

Board Member since May 2000 Deputy Charman from
November 2003 becoming non-executive Chairman in July 2004
At the time of his appointment, Marun met the independence
critena set out in paragraph A 3 1 of the Combined Cede on
Corporate Governance (June 2006) Chairman of the Nominations
Committee Martinis President of the Confederation of British
Industry (CBI}

Chief Execuuve

Wille Walsh

Executive Board Member since May 2005, becoming Chief
Executive in October 2005 Formerly Chief Executive of Aer Lingus,
he 1s an honorary board member of Fhight Safety International

Chief Financial Officer

Kesth Williams

Executive Board Member since January 2006 Having joined the
arrbne in 1998 as Head of Taxation and additionally appointed
Group Treasurer in 2000, Keith was appointed Chief Financial
Officer in January 2006 He i1s a chartered accountant

Non-executive directors

Maarten van den Bergh

Independent non-executive director since 2002, senior ndependent
non-executive director since July 2004 Norminations, Remurneration
and Safety Review Commuttees Maarten 1s Chairman of Akzo
Nobel NV, Deputy Chairman of BT Group and non-executive
director of Royal Dutch Shell! plc

Baroness Kingsmufl

Independent non-executive director since November 2004 Audi,

Nominatcns and Safety Review Committees Untl December
2003, she chaired the Department of Trade and Industry’s
Accounung for People task force and was Deputy Chairman
of the Competition Commussion She 1s a senior adviser to
The Royal Bank of Scotland and a member of the Microsoft
European Policy Council

Jim Lawrence

Independent non-executive director stnce November 2006
Remunerauon Commuitee Jim s Chief Finanaial Officer of
Unilever and serves on the Board of Avnet, In¢

Chumpol Nal.amlieng

independent non-executive duector since November 2005
Audit Committee He 1s @ member of the Board of Directors and
Chairman of the Management Advisory Committee of the Siam
Cement Public Company Limited, non-executive Charrman of
Singapore Telecommunicauons Ltd and non-executive director
of The Siam Commercial Bank Public Co Lid

Dr Martin Read

Independent non-executive director since May 2000 Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee Nonrunauons Committee
Marun was Group Chief Executive of LogicaCMG ple from 1893
to 2007 Sernuor adviser to Candover Partners Limited and served
as non-executive director at Asda Group plc (1996 to 1999) and
The Boots Company PLC (1999 to 2006)

Alison Reed

tndependent non-executive director since December 2003
Chairman of the Audit Commuttee Remuneration Committee
Alison was previously Group Finance Director of Marks & Spencer
plc and Standard Life plc She 1s a chariered accountant

Ken Smart

independent non-executive director since July 2005 Chairman of
the Safety Review Committee Audit Commuttee Ken 1s Charman
of the UK Awiauon and Manume Industries Confidential Human
Factors Inadent Reporung Programme (CHIRP), 2 member of

the Flight Safety Foundation Board of Governors and a Visiting
Professor at Cranfield University

Baroness Symons

Independent non-executive director since July 2005 Audit and
Safety Review Committees The Right Honourable the Baroness
Symons of Vernham Dean Is a senior member of the House of
tords Created a life peer tin 1996, she served as a Minister in the
Foreign and Commonwealth Office, the Ministry of Defence and
the Department of Trade and industry and was Minister of State
for the Middle East, and Deputy Leader of the House of Lords
untif she resigned from the government in May 2005

Company Secretary

Alan Buchanan

Joinad the airfine n 1990 as Principal Legal Adviser Finance,
becorming Company Secretary in April 2000 Alan s also Head
of Risk Management

All directors are subject to retirement every three years and are
ehgible for re-election by the shareholders In accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association, Willie Walsh, Maarten van den
Bergh, Baroness Kingsmidl, Ken Smart and Baroness Symons will
retire and seek re-election by shareholders at the annual general
meenng to be heid on July 15, 2008 Biographical notes about the
directors seeking re-election are set out i the explanatory notes
of the Notice of annual general meeting

Details of the directors’ remuneration and share interests are set
out In the report of the Remuneration Committee on pages 65
073
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Leadership team

In the day-to-day runming of the Company, the Chief Execuuve 1s
supported by the Chief Financial Officer and the Leadership team,
the members of which as at May 15, 2008 are

Robert Boyle

Commercial Director Jomed the airhne sn 1993 in Carporate
Finance, becoming Commercial Director in Gctober 2006
Prior to this he was Director of Planning

Paul Coby

Chief Informauan Officer Joined the airine in 19586 as Informauon
Management Systems Supply Board Manager, becorming Chief
Information Officer in 2000

Garry Copeland

Director of Engineering Joined the awline n 1989 Having held
various positians including Chief Powerplant Engineer and GM
Engineering and Quality Services, he became Director of
Engineering In September 2006

Roger Maynard

Director of Investments and Allances Joined the airline In 1987
as Vice-President Commercial Affairs North Amenca, becoming
Director of Corporate Strategy 1n May 1991

Tony McCarthy
Director People and Organisational Effectiveness fomned the airline
in December 2007 from Royal Mail

Robert Webb QC

General Counsel Jotned the aidine in 1998 and has responsibility
for Legal, Government and Industry Affairs, Safety, Secunty and
Briuish Airways Health Services

The six members of the Leadership team are designated as persons discharging managenal responsibility, along with the 11 directors

The number of Board and Committee meetings attended by each director during the year 1s shownin the table below

Apdit Nominations Remuneration Safety Resiew
Board Meetings Committees Committees Commuitees Comrmitees
attended in the attended in the attended m the attended in the attended m the
penod or pencd penad or penod pericd or penad penad or penod Penox of penad
Carecror af service of service of service of serice af ser e
Totalin penod 8 4 1 5 4
Marun Broughton 8/8 11
Willie Walsh 8/8
Keith Withams 8/8
Maarten van den Bergh 7/8 11 4/5 4/4
Jim Lawrence* 6/8 2/3 1/1 /3
Baroness Kingsmill 8/8 4/4 1 4/4
Chumpol Nalamheng 7/8 4/4 4/4
Dr Martn Read 8/8 141 575
Alison Reed 8/8 4/4 5/5
Ken Smart 8/8 474 4/4
Baroness Symons 8/8 374 3/4

“Due to jim Lawrences appainiment as Chief Financial Officer of Uindever in September 2007 he was unable 1o attend two Board Meeungs one Audit Committee and
one Safety Review Commitee As a consequence of ths 3ppointment a review of the Committees ook place anc he stood down from both the Audit and Safety Review
Commttees on Novernber 1 2007 and joined the Remuneration Committee onjanuary 1 2008
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Directors’ report

The directors present their Report and Accounts for the
year ended March 31, 2008 The accounts are set out on
pages 77 to 127

Principal activities

The main activities of British Airways Plc and its subsidiary
undertakings are the operation of internatronal and domestic
schedufed air services for the carnage of passengers, freight
and mail and the provision of ancillary services

Results for the year

Profit for the year attnibutable to members of British Airways
Plc amounted to £680 million, against a profit on the same
basis of £290 milion in the previous year

Business review

The Companies Act 1985 and the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules of the UK Listing Authonty (DTRs) require
the Company to include a business review in its Directors’
report as per section 234Z7ZB of the Companigs Act 1985
and DTR 4 1 8 The information that fulfils the business review
can be found in the following sections of the annual report
which are incorporated intc this report by cross reference

« Chief Finanaial Officer's statement on pages 12 to 17,
= Business review on pages 18 to 37,
=« Corporate responsibility on pages 38 1o 50, and

» Corporate governance statement on pages 590 61

The Board of directors

The names and details of the directors who served during
the year are set out on page 52 and form part of this
Directors’ report

Directors’ interests

A statement of the interesis in shares of the Company

(or dervauves or any other financial instruments relating
to those shares) of each director (incfuding the nterests of
their connected persans of which the Company 15 aware)
as at March 31, 2008 and any changes in those interests
from that date until the date of this report can be found

in the Remuneration report on pages 65 to 73 and form
part of this Directors’ report

Directors’ and officers’ hability insurance

The Company has purchased insurance against directors’

and officers’ liability as permitted by the Comparies Act 1985
and Companies Act 2006 for the benefit of the directors and
officers of the Company and its subsidiaries

The Company has granted rolling indemnities to the directors
and the Secretary, uncapped in amount but subject to
applhicable law, in relation to certain losses and liabilities which
they may incur in the course of acting as officers of companies
within the Group These indemnities also set out the terms on
which the Company may, In s discretion, advance defence
costs A specimen indemnity 1s available for view on the
Company's investor relauons website, bashares com by chcking
on the heading Corporate Governance

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information
to the auditor

The directors who are members of the Board at the time

of approving the Directors' report and business review are
listed on page 52 Having made enquines of fellow directors
and of the Company’s auditor, each of these directors |
confirms that

« To the best of each director’s knowledge and belief there 15
no information relevant to the preparation of the auditor's
report of which the Company’s auditor 1s unaware, and

« Each director has taken all the steps a director might
reasonably be expected 1o have taken to make him or
herself aware of relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company's auditor ss aware of that information

This confirmation 1s given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provisions of Section 2347A(2) of
the Companies Act 1985

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in relation

to the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
United Kingdom law and those International Financial Reporting
Standards {IFRS) as adopted by the European Urnion (EU)

The directors are required to prepare financial statements for
each finanaal year, which present farrly the financial position of
the Company and of the Group and the finanaal performance
and cash flows of the Company and of the Group for that
period In preparing those financial statements, the directors
are required io

» Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently,

= Present nformation, including accounung policies, n a
manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable mformation,

+ Provide additional disclosures when comphance with the
speaific requirements i [FRS is insufficient to enable users
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to understand the impact of particular ransactions, other
events and conditions on the entity's financial poesinan and
financial performance, and

« State that the Group has complied with IFRS, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any ume
the financial position of the Company and of the Group and
enable thern to ensure that the financtal statements comply
with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Group and hence for taking reasenable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties
In addition, the directors are responsible for the maintenance
and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included 1n the Company's website Legislaton in the UK
governing the preparation and dissermination of financial
statements may differ from legistation in ather junsdictions

Directors’ responsibility statement pursuant to DTR 4
The directors confirm that, to the best of each person's knowledge

(a) the Group and Parent Company finanaial statements in
this report, which have been prepared in accordance with
IFRS as adopted by the EU, IFRIC interpretanion and those
parts of the Cornpanies Act 1985 applicable to companies
reporung under IFRS, give a true and fair view af the assets,
liabiliies, financial position and profit of the Company and
of the Group taken as a whole, and

(b) the management report contamned in this report includes
a fair review of the development and performance of the
business and the position of the Campany and the Group
taken as a whole, together with a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties that they face

Corporate governance
Information on corporate governance s set out in the statements
on pages 59 to 61 which form part of this Directors’ report

Employee involvement

informauon on employee involvement 1s set out within the
corporate responsibiity report on pages 38 to 50 and forms
part of this Directors’ report

Diversity and inclusion

Informauon on the Company’s palicy on equal opportunites for
dhsabled employees is set out within the corporate responstbility
report on pages 38 to 50 and forms part of this Directors’ report

Chantable donations

informanon on charitable donations is set out within the
corporate responsibility report on pages 38 to 50 and
forms part of this Direcrors’ report

Political donations

At the snnual general meeting in 2006, shareholders passed
a resolution to authonse the making of polincal donations
and the incurrng of political expenditure for the purposes

of section 347C of the Companies Act 1985 for a penod

of four years As from October 1, 2007, the provisions of
the Companies Act 1985 relaung to poluical donations and
expenditure were repealed and replaced by provisions of the
Companies Act 2006 The resolution passed at the annual
general meeung in 2006 is treated, by virtue of applicable
transitional provisions, as complying with the requirements
of section 367 of the Companies Act 2006 (notwithstanding
that it does not comply with the requirements of that section
as to the heads under which donations and expenditure are
1o be stated) A new resclunon will, however, be proposed

at the annual general meeting to be held on July 15, 2008 10
authorise donations or expenditure under the heads specified
in section 367(3) of the Companies Act 2006, for a further
penod of four years This authersation 1s being taken on a
four-year basis as a precaution only and the directors have
no present intention of using it In the event that any pohicat
donation 1s made or pohtical expenditure incurred, the Board
would seek further shareholder approval .

The Board has repeatedly confirmed that 1t does not make
political donations oy incur palinical expenditure within the
ordinary meaning of those words and that it has no intention
of doing so The amount of pohucal donations made and
political expenditure incurred in the perod from Apnl 1, 2007
to March 31, 2008 was £ril {2006/07 £nil)

Waiver of dividends

The British Airways Employee Benefits Trust (Jersey) Lirmited,
which holds British Airways shares for the purpose of satisfying
awards and aptions granted to employees under the Company’s
employee share schemes, has waived its nghts t© dwvidend The
Trustee does not vote the shares that it holds At March 31,
2008 there were 2,087,147 shares held in the Trust

Going concern

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable
expectauon that the Company has adequate resources
to continue operating for the foreseeable future For this
reason, the going concern basis has been adopted in
prepanng the accounts
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Directors' report continued

Payment policy

Information on the policy and pracuce of the Company
regarding payment of the Company’s creditors can be found
within the corporate responsibility report on pages 38 to 50
and forms part of this Directors’ report

Impact of change of control

The following significant agreements contain provistons
entithng the counterparties to exercise termination or other
nghts m the event of a change of control of the Company

+ All of the Company’s share schemes cantain provisions
relating to a change in control Other than the Performance
Share Plan, which 15 subject to the satisfaction of any
performance conditions at that trme, all outstanding oprions
would normally vest and become exercrsable on a change
of control,

» Joint business agreement with Iberia, which coordinates
schedules, marketing, sales, freight, pricing and customer
service actvities,

» Codeshare agreements with Amencan Airlines, Cathay
Paaific, Ibena, b, Qantas and Aer Lingus, and

« Contracts to sell miles to Alaska Airlines, American Arlines,
Lloyds TSB and Tesco

Neither of the executive directors’ service contracts provides
for compensation to be paid in the event of change of control
of the Company

Substantial interests in shares

The Company has been notified pursuant 1o the DTRs of the
following interests in 2 per cent or more of the Company's
1ssued ordinary shares as at May 15, 2008

Name of Percentage Direct  Indirece
sk arebakees of hokling % %
INVESCO plc 1105 Nl 1105
Standard Life plc 907 769 138
Barclays PLC 690 690 Nii
AMVESCAP Pic 674 Nl 674
AXAS A 485 075 410
Legal & General Group Pic 407 407 Nl

Receipts and returns to shareholders

Dividend

No interim dividend was paid during the year The Board has
decided to recommend the payment of a final dvidend of

5 pence per share

Prior to this the Company last paid a dividend in July 2001

Share i1ssues, buy-backs and treasury shares

The authenised share capital of the Company ss unchanged
from the previous year However, there has been an increase in
the 1ssued share capital Details of the current authorised and
1ssued share capital are set out in the sections headed ‘Shares
and Shareholders' and ‘Capital Structure and Shareholder
Rights' respectively

Linder UK legislation, the Board can be given authority to allot
shares in the Company by the passing of an ordinary resolution
at a general meeting of the Company The Board currently has
authority to allot shares in the Company up to an aggregate
nominal value of £89 millior by wvirtue of a resolution passed

at the annual generat meeting of the Company held on July 14,
2003 This authonty expires on july 15, 2008 and shareholders
will be asked 1o renew this authority at the 2008 annual
general meeting

Without prejudice to any special nghts previcusly conferred
on the holders of any shares or class of shares for the ume
being 1ssued, any share m the Company may be 1ssued with
such preferred, deferred or other special nghts, ar subject to

such restricions, whether as regards dividend, return of capital,

voting or otherwise, as the Company may from time to tume
by ordinary resoltution determine {or, in the absence of any
such determination, as the Board may determine} and, subject
to the provisions of the Statutes, the Cornpany may 1ssue any
shares which are, or at the option of the Company and/or the
halder are, liable to be redeemed

The Articles of Associauon of the Company can be altered
by the passing of a special resolution by the shareholders at
a general meeting of the Company

Rules about the appointment and replacement of directors are

set out In the Company's Artcles of Assoaation The directors’

powers are conferred on them by UK legistation and by the
Company's Articles of Association

At the annual general meeting held in july 2007 authonty
was given to conduct share buy-backs up 10 approximataly
10 per cent of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital,
subject to certam Iimitations relating to the maximum and
mimimurm prices that may be paid for any shares bought back
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The authaonty gives the Company flexibility in managing 1ts
balance sheet The authonity will be exercised only if, in the
opinion of the Board, this will result ui an increase N earnings
per share and would be in the best Interests of shareholders
generally The Company did not conduct any share buy-backs
i 2007/08 Sharehclders will be asked to renew thus authority
at the 2008 annual general meeting

The Articles of Association permit the Company to hold any
shares which are bought back in treasury However, the Company
15 not able to do this without first seeking the authonty from
shareholiders to conduct share buy-backs Treasury shares

can be sold quickly (subject to insider dealing rules) and cost
effectvely, giving the Company addiuonal flexibility in the
management of its capital base Whilst in treasury, the shares
are treated as of cancelled so that no dividends are paid on
them and they have no voting rights No shares were held

in Treasury duning the year ended March 31, 2008

Shares and sharehclders

The number of ordinary shares ssued and fully pard as

at March 31, 2008 was 1,153,105,000 (March 31, 2007
1,151,575,000) The increase over March 31, 2007 reflects
the 1ssue of new ordinary shares 1o satsfy the share options
exercised durning the year under the Briush Airways Share
Option Plan 1999 See note 32 to the financial statements

Capital structure and shareholder rights

The authorised share capital of the Company 1s £378,000,000
divided into 1,512,000,000 ordinary shares of 25 pence each
and one special voung share of 25 pence All ordinary shares
have equal rights to drdends and capiial and to vote at
general meetngs of the Company The nghts attached to the
ordinary shares, in addition to those conferred on thewr holders
by law, are set out in the Company's Articles of Association

The special voring share has no dividend nights, limited
capital nghts and reswicted voung rights The sole function
of the special voting share is to ensure that the votes capable
of being cast by the UK shareholders of the Company, taken
as a whole, need never fall below a majonty Its voting nghts
would only be tnggered if the number of UK shares represent,
or are reasonably likely to represent at the ume of the next
scheduled annual general meeung, S0 per cent or less of the
issued ordinary share capital and if the Board considers that,
as a result, any air service operating right wtuch Is currently
granted to, or enjoyed by, the Company may be matenally
restncied, suspended or revoked Once its vouing nghts have
been triggered, the special voung share enutles the holder

to such number of votes as, when aggregated with the votes
which are capable of being cast by holders of the UK shares,

i J

are equal to 50 per cent of the total number of votes which
are capable of being cast, plus one On any resolution, votes
cast by the holder of the special voung share may only be
cast in the same manner and proportion as the votes cast

by the UK shareholders Full details of the rights attaching 1o
the special voting share are set out in the Company's Articles
of Association The special voting share 1s held by The Law
Debenture Trust Corporation Plc

The directors may, in the case of shares held in certificated
form, in their absolute discretion refuse to register a transfer
of shares (not being fully pad shares) provided that, where any
such shares are admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing
Authority, such discretion may not be exercised in such a way
as to prevent dealings in the shares of that class from taking
place on an open and proper basis The directars may also
refuse to register a transfer of shares {whether fully pa:d or
not) 1n favour of more than four persons jointly Full details

of restrictions on the transfer of shares are set cut in the
Company's Articles of Associaton

The directors may, In their absolute discretion, refuse 1o
register any transfer of the special voung share whatsoever

Where, under the Articles of Association, a person has been
served with an Affected Share Notice, the shares which are
the subyect of such notice may, subject to the specific terms
of the relevani notice, no longer confer on the holder any nght
to exercise any rights conferred by membership in relation ta
general meetings, Including to attend or vote either personally
or by proxy at any general meeting of the Company ar any
meeting of the holders of any class of shares In addition, the
rights to attend, speak and demand a pall which would have
artached to the shares, but for the restrictions set out In the
Affected Share Notice, shall vest in the Chairman of the
relevant meeting

The person on whom an Affected Share Notice has been
served may also be required to dispose of the shares which are
the subject of such notice, In accordance with the provisions of
the Articles of Associaton

where, under the Artcles of Association, a person has been
served with a direction nouce as a result of default for the
prescribed penod in providing the Company with the required
information concerning interests In shares held by them those
shares shall no longer confer on the holder any right to vote
either personally or by proxy at a general meeung of the
Company or exercise any other nghts conferred by membership
in relation to general meetings of the Company or meetings of
the holders of any class of shares
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Directors report continued

in addiwon, If the person served with a direction notice holds at
teast a 0 25 per cent interest in number or nominal value of the
1ssued shares of that class in the Company, then the Board may
also withhold payment of all or part of any dvidends payable to
such person in respect of the shares which are the subject of
the direction notice and refuse 1o register any transfer of such
shares until such ume as the default 1s remedied and the Board
determines that the direction notice shall cease to have effect

There may also be restrictions on the transfer of ordinary
shares or on the exercise of voting nghts attached to them
where (1} the Company has exercised its nght to suspend therr
voting nghts or to prohibit their transfer following the omission
of thetr holder or any person interested in them to provide

the Company with information requested by it in accordance
with Part 22 of the Companies Act 2006, or (1) their holder

1s precluded from exercising voung nghts by the FSA's listing
rules or the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers

During 2007/08, the Company delisted its Amencan Depositary
Shares (ADSs) from the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and
deregistered and terminated 1ts reporting ablgatons under the
Securiues £xchange Act of 1934

The Company maintains an American Depositary Receipts
(ADR) programme in the LIS as a Level 1 programme This
means that the Company'’s ADSs are traded on the over-the-
counter market Each ADR i1s the equivalent of 10 ordinary
shares and each ADR holder 1s entitled to the financial nghts
attaching to such shares, although the ADR depositary s the
registered holder of the shares As at March 31, 2008, the
equivalent of 26 2 million shares were held :in ADR form
{March 31, 2007 33 7 million shares)

Wwhere shareholders choose to appoint proxies to vote on their
behalf on a polt at shareholder meenngs {or any adjournment
thereof), such appointments must, under the Articles of
Association of the Company, be received {whether sent by
post or by electronic communication) at such office or address
as may be specified in the relevant notice of meeting not less
than 48 hours before the ume appointed for holding the
meeting (or any adjournment thereof)

For the annual general meeting to be held on july 15, 2008,
shareholders can appoint a praxy online via the Campany's
website or by posung the proxy form to the address set out

in the notice of meeung Proxies {whether submitted online ar
by post) must be received by 11am on Sunday July 13, 2008
If the shares are held in British Airways Investor Services, the
Company Nominee, voting instructions must be received by
11am on Saturday July 12, 2008

tn order to protect the operating rights of the Company, the
number of ordinary shares held by non-UX nationals 1s monitored,
as is the number of ardinary shares held by persons who are not
nationals of states comprising the European Econormic Area (EEA)
At March 31, 2008, 31 per cent of the ordinary shares of the

Company were held by non-UK nationals (March 31, 2007
39 per cent) and 19 per cent of the ordinary shares were held
by persons who were not natianals of states comprising the
EEA (March 31, 2007 16 per cent} Although there are no
large interests of single or associated non-UK nationals, the
dwectors cannot rule out the possibihty that the directors may
be required to exercise their powers to restrict non-UK or
non-EEA share ownership in order to protect the Company's
operating rights

Shareholder analysis
As at March 31, 2008 there were 214,254 shareholders
(April 30, 2007 217,727} An analysis 1s given below

Percemage Percentage

Size of sharehclding of shareholders of shares
1-1000 8809 465
1001 - 5,000 1056 367
5,001 - 10,000 Q77 096
10001 - 50000 032 113
50,001 - 100,600 006 072
100,001 - 250,000 006 168
250,001 - 500,000 004 278
500001 - 750000 002 254
750,001 - 1,000,000 002 242
Qvwer 1000000 006 7945
10000 10000

Percentage Percentage

Classdicauon of shareholdng of sharebolders ©f shares
Indraduals 8794 953
Bank or Nominee 175 8829
Insurance companias oo 002
Penston trusts 001 013
Investment trusts 002 oM
Other corporate bodies 027 202
10000 10000

Auditors

Resolutions to reappoint the retiring auditor, Emst & Young LLP,
and to authorise the directors (o determine their remuneration
will be proposed at the 2008 annual general meeting

Overseas branches

The Company fhes to a number of destinations around the
world (see inside front cover) In addition to the overseas
branches it has established in many of these countnies, it
has overseas branches in countries to which it does not fly
to such as New Zealand

Approved by the Board and signed on 1ts behalf by

M““ =
Alan Bucha

Company Secretary
May 15, 2008
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Corporate governance statement

This corporate governance statement forms part of, and
should be read in conjunction with, the Directors’ report
set out on pages 54 to 58

The Company is committed to high standards of corporate
governance The Board 1s accountable to the Company's
shareholders for good corparate governance The Company has
adopted the code of best practice set out in Section 1 of the
Combined Code as amended from time to time and appended
to the Lisung Rules of the Financial Services Authority {the
‘Combined Code’) as Its corporate governance statement

In accordance with the Listing Rules, the Company s

required to report firstly on how it apphes the principles

of the Combined Coede and secondly to confirm that it has
apphed the Code's provisions or, where it has not, to provide
an explanation The following section outlines the way in which
the Company has applied the main and supporting principles

in the Code

The Board provides entrepreneunal leadership of the Company
within a frarmework of prudent and effecuve contrals, which
enables risk to be assessed and managed The Board sets the
Company's strategic aims, ensures that the necessary financial
and human resources are 1n place for the Company {0 meet its
objectives and reviews management performance The Board
sets the Company's values and standards and ensures that

its obligations to its sharehalders and others are understood
and met

As 3 unitary Board, all directors are nvolved in, and responsible
for, the development of the Company’s strategy The non-
exacutive directors review the performance of the Company
with the executive directors on a regular basis The Board
delegates certam of its functions to committees consisting of
non-executive directors as detailed within this section The
Board of the Company routinely meets eight brmes 2 year and
additionally when necessary to consider all matiers relatng to
the overall control, business performance and strategy of the
Company, and for these purposes the Board has drawn up

a schedule of matters reserved for Board decision Broadly,
the Board has reserved to itself major strategic and financiat
decisions, including investment and divestment decisions,
approvat of significant alliance or codeshare partnerships and
capital commitments of greater than £1C million The Board
has also drawn up a schedule of matters which must be
reported to it These schedules are reviewed at least annually
A statement of the directors’ responsibiities in respect of the
financial staternents Is set out on pages 54 and 55and a
staterment on going Concern is given on page 55

The Board 1s led by the Chairman anet tMeExdruve
management of the Company 1s led by the Chief Executive
Their respecuive roles are more fully descnbed in the corporate
governance section of the Company’s website bashares com
Of the 11 members serving at the year end, excluding the

Chairman, two were executive directors and elght were non-
executive directors The eight non-executive directors are
drawn from a dwversity of business and other backgrounds,
bringing a broad range of views and expenences 10 Board
deliberations Maarten van den Bergh 1s the Board's senor
independent director The Board has included eight fully
independent non-executive directors throughous the year
under review Although they are eligible for non-contractual
travel concessions in addition to therr fees, this I1s not
considered to affect ther independence

All directors receive regular information about the Company
so that they are equipped to play as full a part as possible in
Board meetings Papers for Board and Committee Meetings
are typically distributed in the week prior to the relevant
meeting All Board members have access to the Company
Secretary for any further information they require In addition,
the Secretary ensures that the Board members receive an
appropriate induction and further training as necessary The
appointment and removal of the Secretary Is a matier for the
Board as a whole Non-executive directors are encouraged
to visit the Company’s operations and to speak to customers
and employees They are also encouraged to attend the
annual investor day to meet major shareholders Independent
professional advice would be available 1o directors In
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense All
directors are required to submit themselves for re-election
every three years New direciors are appointed (o the Board
on the recommendation of the Nominauons Committee The
Committee 1s responsible for ensuring that there are adequate
succession plans ta maintan the appropriate blend of skills and
expenence both on the Board and in the Leadership team

In addiuion to the Nominations Commuttee, the Board has
three other specific Board Commuttees Audit, Remuneration
and Safety Review Each of the Committees meets regularly
under terms of reference set by the Board Copies of these are
also available on bashares com Every Committee has authonty
to take external advice a$ required A Standing Committee,
consisting of the Chairman or senior independent non-executive
director, one executive and one non-executive director, 15 also
available when necessary The work carned out by each of the
four specfic Committees i1s described in thew respective reports

The Board receives briefings on changes in regulation or

law, as circumstances require A significant example of this s
the process the Board and the Company have gone through
during the year to ensure that the Company’s decision-making
processes take account of the changes to diwectors’ duties
made I1n the Companies Act 2006 As a result, management
is now required to ensure that factors such as the impact

of proposals on relationships with suppliers or on the
enviranment are taken into account n order to ensure the
long-term success of the Company
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Corporate governance statement continued

The Board receves regular feedback on investors' views As
part of 1ts commitment to ensuring that the Board presents a
balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s
financial position and prospects, an external review of the
Company's investor relations function was carnied out dunng
the year Feedback from this exercise was used to ensure the
information given to those attending or watching the annual
investor day in March 2008 was approprate to therr needs

The Company mamntains regular coniact with its larger institutional
shareholders through its investor relations team and through
meetings with the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer
and the Chairman as well as annual institutianal mvestor events
The presentations from these institutional Investor events are
also available to private shareholders through the Company’s
investor relantons website, bashares com The annual investor
day in March 2008 was attended by every member of the
Board and major investors were given the opportunity to
discuss corporate governance matters with non-executive
directors In one-to-one meetings Private shareholders receive
the Company's shareholder magazine twice annually and

are encouraged to attend the annual general meeung and to
express their views by completing and returning a freepost
"Issues of Concern’ card, the main themes of which are
reported to the Board and responded to in the Chairman's
address at the annuat general meeting Since 2000, all voting at
the annual general meeting has been by way of a poll to ensure
that the views of all shareholders are taken into account

Towards the end of 2007/08, a performance evaluation of the
Board, ts committees and individual directors was undertaken
through a questionnaire and one-to-one Interviews by the
Secretary The results of this exercise were presented 10, and
considered by, the Board The Charman and non-executive
members typically meet without any executives present on at
least two occasions duning each financiat year At least once a
year, the non-executive members of the Board meet under the
charrmanship of the sentor independent director to review the
performance of the Chairman, taking account of the views of
the executive directors

Throughout the year, the Company has compled with all
relevant provisions set out int Section 1 of the Combined Code

Internal control

The directors are responsible for, and reviewing the
effectiveness of, the Company’s system of internal control,
including internal financial control, which 1s designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding (a} the
safeguarding of assets against unauthonsed use or disposition,
and (b) the maintenance of proper accounting records and the
relability of financial information used within the business or
for publication These controls are designed to manage rather
than eluminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
due to arcumstances which may reasonably be foreseen and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss The Company has a
Statement of Business Principles applicabie to all employees
The Company also has a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
which applies to all employees These are two of a number

of Standing Instructuons to employees of the Group designed
to enhance internzl contrel Along with the Finance Standing
Instructions, these are regularly updated and made available

to staff through the Company’s intranet

A clear organisational struciure exists, detaihng lines of
authonty and control responsibihiies The professionalism

and competence of staff 1s maintaned both through rigorous
recruitment policies and a performance appraisal system which
establishes targets, reinforces accountabelity and awareness

of controls, and identfies appropriate training requirernents
Action plans are prepared and implemented to ensure that
staff develop and maintain the required skills to fulfil their
respansibifitties, and that the Company can meet (ts future
management requirements

Informauion systems are developed to support the Company's
long-term objectives and are managed by a professionally
staffed Information Management department Appropriate
policies and procedures are in place covering all sigruficant
areas of the business Dunng 2007/08, the Company has
worked to enhance controls in relation to IT nsks

The business agenda 1s determined by the business plan
{(see pages 34 and 35) which represents the operational and
financial evaluation of the carporate strategy, setting out the
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agreed targets for financial return and service standards,
identifying and prioniusing improvernent opportunities 1o
dehver those targets, and the agreed capital and manpower
requirements The business planning process confirms that the
targeted results can be achieved, sansfies departments that
their plans are robust and establishes performance ndicators
agamst which departments can be evaluated The business plan
15 approved by the Board on an annual basis

A comprehensive management acCounting system is in

place providing management with financiat and operatonal
performance measurement indicators Detalled management
accounts are prepared monthly to cover each major area

of the business Vanances from plan are analysed, explained
and acted on i a umely manner As well as regular Board
discussions, monthly meetings are held by the Leadership
team to discuss performance with specific projects being
discussed as and when required Throughout 2007/08, the
Capital Investment Committee was Instrumental in maintairing
ught control of capital and external expenditure and headcount
All major corporate projects are audited regularly

Corporate governance remains key to the business The
Company contnues to review 1ts nternal controf framework
1o ensure s MaNtans a strong and effective internal control
environment The effectiveness of the framework has been
under regular review by the Leadershup team The Group wll
continue to comply with the Combined Code on corporate
governance and the UK Lisung Authonty rules

Business controls are reviewed on an ongong basis by the
internal audit function which operates internationally and to

a programme based on risk assessment The departrnent is
managed by professionally qualified personnel with experience
gained from both inside and outside the industry A nsk-based
annual audit plan for the calendar year 2007, which provides
assurance over key business processes and commercial and
financial risks facing the Company, was approved by the Audit
Commuttee it November 2006 A further nsk-based audit plan
for the first six months of 2008 was approved by the Audit
Committee in January 2008 ro cover the transiien phase

1o a 12-month audit plan from July 2008 to june 2009

The Audit Cammittee constders significant control matters
raised by management and both the internal and external
auditors and reports its findings to the Board Where weaknesses
are identified, the Audit Committee ensures that appropriate
action 15 taken by management No significant failings or
weaknesses were identified duning 2007/08

Risk management approach

The Company has put i place a structure and process to
help idenufy, assess and manage risks This process has been
wt place throughout the year to which these statements apply
and up to the date of their approval

The Risk Group consists of the Leadership team and the
Heads of Internal Control and Risk Management Meeting
quarterly, it reviews the Company's key nsks contained in the
corporate nisk register and ensures that all new and emerging
nsks are appropriately evaluated and any further actions
iwdentified The Risk Group also provides palicy and guidance
to those responsible for managing the individual nsks, and o
the departmental risk leaders The management of each major
area of corporate risk 1s subject (o review by an appropriate
‘assurance body’ This includes a review of the controls in
place to mitigate the nisks and the further actions being taken
by management The Risk Group reports bi-annually Lo the
Audit Commuttee 1o assist the Board in the management of
rsk in accordance with the revised guidance for directors on
the Combined Code (june 2006}

The Board carried out a nsk review in Deceriber 2007 n
preparation for its review of the annual business plan at its
meeting in January 2008

During 2007/08, the Company has continued tec monitor any
staff concerns about possible impropneties refating to financial
reportng or other matters This can be in confidence through
a third-party helpline if the staff member so chooses
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Report of the Audit Committee

Members Alison Reed {Chairman), Baroness Kingsrmill,
Chumpol NaLamlieng, Ken Smart, Baroness Symaons, Jirn
Lawrence (unti November 1, 2007)

The Board 15 satisfied that Alison Reed has recent and relevant
finanaial experience for the purposes of paragraph C3 1 of
the Combined Code The Committee met four tmes during
2007/08 and has held closed meetings and has 2lso met
prrvately with both the external and internal auditors

Regular attendees at Committee meetings, at the invitabon

of the Committee, included the Chairman, the Chief Execuuve,
Cheef Financial Officer, the Head of Internal Control, the
Group Financial Controller, the Group Reporting Manager

and representatives from the external auditors

The Audit Committee I1s responsible for exercising the full
powers and authonty of the Board in accounting and financial
reporting matters The {ull terms of reference, which were
amended following the delisting from the New York Stock
Exchange, are avaitable on the Company's website at
bashares com

The key duties of the Committee include to

* Monitor the integrity of the Company's financial statements
prior to theirr submission to the Board and any formal
announcements relaing to the Company’s financial performance,

* Review the Company's financial statements to ensure that
Its accounting policies are the most appropnate to the
Company's circumstances and that its financial reportung
presents a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company's position and prospects,

* Keep under review the Company's system of internal control,
inclucing compliance with the Company’s codes of conduct
and the scope and results of the work of internat audit and
of external audit, together with the independence and
objectivity of the auditors,

« Oversee the performance, as well as the objectmity and
independence, of the external auditor which it does by
requinng reports from the auditor, a requirement to pre-
approve fees for non-audit work and by ensuring that fees
for non-audit work rernain lower than those for audit work
The external auditor is only permitted to carry out work
for the Group in the following categones audit work, advice
and assurance on accounting standards, tax and regulatory
requirements, tax comphance, planning and advice, due
diligence in relation to alhances, investments and joint
ventures, and the provision of attestation reports or comfort
letters confirming compliance or reasonableness as required
by third parves Managers are required to obtain prior
approval before contracting such services from the external

auditor The Audit Committee has also specified certamn non-
audit services which the external auditor may not supply to
the Group such as bookkeeping and actuarial services, and

« Take responsibility for the oversight of the Company’s policy
on whistleblowers and the risk management process (see
Internal Controf on pages 60 and 61)

Items reviewed duning the year include:

Financial reporting

The Committee reviewed the draft annual and interim
management report before recommending their publication 1o
the Board The Commuttee discussed with the Chief Executive,
Chief Financial Officer and external auditors the significant
accounting policies, estimates and judgements applied in
preparing these reports

Internal contrels

The Committee has an ongoing process for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of interna! controls During
2007/08 1t considered reports from the Head of internal
Control summarnising the work planned and undertaken,
recommending improvements and describing actions taken
by management

Terminal 5 Readiness Programme

The Committee reviewed reparts from Internal Control
in relaton to the Company's preparation for the move to
Termtnal 5

Internal audit

The Committee evaluated the performance of internal audit
from the quality of reports and recommendations from the
Head of Internal Control An external quality assessment of
internal audit was undertaken by PricewaterhouseCoopers
angd overall the report commended the Company’s Internal
Control team

Risk group

The Committee reviewed the reports produced by the nsk
management process during the year The Commuttee also
reviewed and approved the Company’s new Insurance
Governance Staternent

Whistleblowing

The confidential helphne run by Safecall, which allows
employees 1o raise concerns, 1s working well and confidence in
itis contunuing The Committee receives regular reports on the
confidential reporting system to ensure that the Company's
whistleblowing processes work appropriately
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Reappointment of external auditors

The Committee may make recommendations to the Board,
to be put to shareholders for approval at the anrual general
meeting, n relation to the appointment, reappontment and
removal of the Company’s external auditors

Auditor independence

The Committee reviews the work undertaken by the external
auditor and assesses annualfy its ndependence and objectivity
In doing so, 1t takes into accourtt relevant professional and
regulatory requirements and the relationship with the auditor
as a whole, including the provision of any non-audit services
The Commuttee monitors the auditor’s compilance with
relevanit regulatory, ethical and professionat guidance on

the rotation of partners, as well as assessing annually its
qualifications, experuse, resources and the effectiveness of
the audit process, including a report from the external auditor
on 1its own internal quality procedures

Audit Committee effectiveness

The Committee prepares and reviews with the Board an

annual performance evaluation of the Committee The findings
of the review ensure that the Committee 1s sausfied that it s
operating effecovely, meeting all applicable legal and regulatory
requiremenis

Other i1ssues
Details of the fees paid to the external auditor during 2007/08
can be found in note 6 to the financial staternents

The terms of reference of the Committee are reviewed at least
annually and any changes are recommended to the Board
As mentioned above, they were changed during the year
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Report of the Safety Review Committee

Members Ken Smart (Chairmany), Baroness Kingsmill, Chumpol
NalLamiteng (to May 7, 2008), Baroness Symons, Jim Lawrence
(to January 2008), and Maarten van den Bergh

The Safety Review Committee meets at least four umes per
year 1o consider matters relanng to the operational safety of
the airline and subsidiary airfines as well as health and safety
issues The full terms of reference, which were amended
during the year, are available on the Company's website at
bashares com

The Safety Review Committee reviews reparts from the
vanous safety boards within the airine including the semer
management's safety review board Where appropriate the
Committee also reviews relevant reports published by the
UK Air Acadent Investigaticn Branch {AAIB), major sncidents
to other operators and external reports During 2007 /08,
Issues raised at the Safety Review Committee included

= The restructuning and centralisation of the team responsible
for the Company's safety data This has delivered improved
consistency and enhanced value of the data provided,
which 1s used as a basis for the Company’s safety acuons,

The development and monitaring of the British Airways
Safety Plan ensuring that safety remains the Company’s
highest value The plan sets high-level safety goals across all
operational departments eading to a continuous development
in the safety cuiture and sets measurements to effectively
monitor the Company’s safety performance, and

Presentations an various topics including the Boeing 777
accident at Heathraow an January 17, 2008 This enabled
the Board at a very early stage to be assured that the
Company had taken appropriate action in regard to the
safety of continued operations

The Chief Executive 15 the named Accountable Manager for
the Company for the purposes of the Air Operators Certficate
and the joint Airworthiness Requirements — Operations
(JAR-Ops) As the Accountable Manager, he chairs meetings
at b-monthly intervals of the four Nominated Postholders

(the executives responsible to the Civil Aviation Authority
(CAA) for safety in the various operational departments of the
Company) along with the General Counsel, the Head of Safety
and Secunty and the General Manager Corporate and Arr
Safety These meetings review operational compliance, quality
and safety, monitor the effectiveness of the corporate safety
management system and agree cross-departmental policy as
appropriate The Accountable Manager's meetings allow him
10 review any (ssues with the Nominated Postholders and seek
the necessary assurances that the Company 1s comphant with
the relevant regulations

Dunng the year under review, management has introduced

a new Safety Review Board chaired by the Chief Executive
which meets in advance of each meetng of the Cammuttee
This has improved the flow of information about 1ssues whuch
have ansen and enables management to be clear about the
issues and proposed actions to address them
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Report of the Remuneration Committee

Information not subject to audit

Members Dr Marun Read {Chairman), Maarten van den Bergh,
Alison Reed, im Lawrence (from January 1, 2008)

Committee and advisers

The Company's Remuneration Committee determines on
behalf of the Board, within the agreed terms of reference,

the overall remuneratian packages for the executive directors,
the members of the Leadership tearn (hsted on page 53), the
Chairman and the Company Secretary lis members are all
independent non-executive directors of the Company, none
of whom has any personal financial interest, other than as a
shareholder, In the matters to be decided

The Company currently paruopates in four mawn salary

survey sources ~ run by Hay, Manks {PwC), New Bridge Street
Consultants and Towers Perrin Data s extracted from each

of these in determining the Company’s approach to base-pay
market rates, and identifying competiive market practice in
respect of the other remuneration elements The Remuneration
Comimittee 1s aware of the nsk of an upward ratchenng of
remuneration that can result from the use of pay surveys

New Bridge Street Consultants LLP (which became Hewitt
New Bridge Street on March 18, 2008 (Hewitt)) are advisers
to the Remuneration Commuttee and gave advice to the
Committee that materally asststed 1t Their terms of reference
are available for mspection on the Company's investor relations
website The Chairman, Chief Executive, Chief Financial
Officer, Company Secretary, Actung Director for People,
Director People and Organisauonal Effectiveness and Reward
Manager, all assisted the Committee in its deliberations but
none of them participated in any decisions relating to their
own remuneration None of those who matenally assisted

the Commuttee 1 1ts deliberations was appointed by the
Remuneration Committee other than Hewitt Towers Perrin
and Hay provided no other services to the Company other
than advice on remuneration matters dunng 2007/08 In
addition to its advice on remuneration, Hewitt also provided
some advice to the Company on general employee reward
and on pensions PwC also provided other services relating

to the Internal Control funcuion of the Company

Where appropriate, the Committee consults with investors
about 1ts proposals The terms of reference of the Committee
are availlable on the Company's website

Executive directors

Policy

The Company's remuneration policy was first approved
by shareholders at the annual general meeting in 2001
and remains unchanged both in relation to the year under
review and 2008/09 as well as for the foreseeable future

The Company's remuneration polcy 15 to provide
compensation packages at market rates which reward
successful performance and attract, retain and motivate
managers The remuneration packages offered by the
Company are comparable with other LIK-based nternational
businesses of similar size and nature to the Company

In fixing packages, the Committee has regard to the
compensation commitments which would result in the
event of early termination

Remuneration package

The Committee reviewed the remuneration package for
executive directors duning the year to ensure that 1t remains
consistent with this policy It concluded that the structure of
the existing package remains generally appropriate, but that
the executive directors’ total target remuneration was
sigruficantly below market median, pnmanly due 1o below-
market levels of incentuive oppoartunity The Commitiee
considers that the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer
are high calibre, talented individuals and that the Company
needs to offer 1ts senior executives competitive remuneration
packages with a sufficient levet of Incentive pay to retain them
and to reward them appropnately if the Company performs well
Therefore, as noted on page 66, following consultation with

the Company's major shareholders and the main shareholder
bodies, the Committee decided to increase the bonus maximum
for the executive directors for 2008/09 The proposed
changes are intended to bring the executive directars’ total
1arget remuneration closer to the market median

The package for the executive directors for 2007/08 and
2008709 cansists of a basic salary, benefits-in-kind {including
private healthcare, a car and fuel and non-contractual travel
concessions), pensien, an annual bonus scheme {including a
deferred element payable in shares) and participation in the
Performance Share Plan The proporuon of performance-
related vanable remuneranon, through the bonus scheme and
awards under the Performance Share Plan, 1s approximately
60 per cent of total target remuneration (excluding pension
arrangements)
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

The policy in relation to base salanes aims to target base salaries
at around the market median The strategy for incentive pay Is
intended to increase the expected value to make the package
more market-competitive for executive directors, but to retain
as its aim the achievement of a market median value, subject
to the achhevement of stretching targets Between them, the
elements of the remuneration package provide a good balance
between the achievement of short- and longer-term goals
linked to the creanaon of shareholder value

Basic salary

The basic salary reflects the level of responsibility of the
executive director, his or her market value and individual
performance The Committee’s objective is to offer basic
salaries around the market median level In reviewing basic
salary, independent external advice is taken on salaries for
cornparable jobs in similar companies from the survey sources
referred to previously The Committee has regard to the
performance of the individuals and the pay and employment
conditions efsewhere in the Company when determining
annual salary increases

The Committee has recently reviewed base salanes and from
July 1, 2008, Willie Walsh's base salary will be £735,000 and
Keith Williams' will be £440,000

Annual bonus

The amount of annual bonus avallable for distribution to senior
executives for 2007/08 was subject to a maximum hmit of
100 per cent of salary

An executive director was potentially able to earn up to

10 per cent of salary based on his personal contrnbution against
objectives In addition, whatever was earned for personal
performance was then subject to a multipher based on the
Company's performance against the following measures

Performance measure Potenual multipher

Cperaung margin Upte45x
Customer recommendauon Upta15x
Punctuality Upto15x
Employee involvement Upto15x

No multipher was to be applied unless the mimmum operating
margin target was achieved The Commitiee retained discretion
to prevent any bonus payments if the Company’s performance
was Judged by 1t to be inadequate

The Company achieved its operating margin target of 10 per cent,
but did not achieve its targets in respect of customer

recommendation, punctuality and employee involvement, and
ne bonus multipler was awarded in respect of these measures

Half of the bonus 1s payable in the form of deferred shares
{under the Briush Airways Deferred Share Plan) which vest
after three years {as detailed on page 68), normally subject
to continued employment over that period On vesting,
executives will recerve the benefit of any dividends paid
over the deferral penod

For 2008/09, an executive direcior’s bonus will be based

one third on operating margin, one third on customer
recommendation and one third on punctuality The Committee
will continue to set demanding targets on each of these
measures Unlike previous years, these three measures will
operate independently However, no bonus will be payable on
the customer recommendation or punciualty measures unless
the Company reports a pre-tax profit The Committee was

not sausfied that the employee involvement measure used in
2007 /08 was appropriate for use in 2008/09 and has asked
that this should be reviewed over the next year with a view

to reintroducing 1t in 2009/2010

As was mentioned on page 65, the Committee decided to
increase the bonus maximum for the Chief Executive and
Chief Financial Officer for 2008/09 Accordingly, a total
maximum of 150 per cent and 25 per cent of salary
respectively would be available if the Company achieved

the maximum performance on all of the three measures

The amount of bonus awarded 1s then determined according
to personal performance !f nothing 1s earned on the Company
measures, up to 15 per cent of salary and 12 5 per cent of
salary I1s payable as a cash-only bonus for personal performance
Otherwise half of any bonus will be payable in the form of
deferred shares as was the case for 2007/08 The Committee
also retains discretion to prevent any bonus payments if the
Company's performance 15 judged by it to be inadequate




British Airways 2007/08 Annual Report and Accounts / 67

Long-Term Incentive Arrangements

British Airways Performance Share Plan 2005

The British Airways Perfarmance Share Plan {PSP) is the
long-term incentive plan awarded to key senior executives
of the Company, those most directly involved in shaping

and delivering the medium- to long-term business goals of
the Company The plan was approved by shareholders at
the annual general meeungin 2005 The PSP consists of an
award of the Company’s shares which vests subject to the
achievement of predefined performance conditions (see
below) in full or in part at the third anniversary of award

No payment 1s required from individuals when the shares are
awarded or when they vest The Remuneration Committee
supervises the operation of the PSP Awards worth up to
150 per cent of an executive’s base salary can be granted
unider the PSP For the 2008 award, both the Chief Executive
and the Chief Financial Officer will receive this level of award
Other mermbers of the Leadership team wili receive awards
equivalent to 100 per cent of their respective base salaries

There are two performance conditons and these operate
independently of each other This means that meeting either
of the conditions would trigger a payment without the need
to meet the other performance condiuon 50 per cent of
each award will be subject to a Total Shareholder Return (TSR)
performance ¢condition, measured against a group of other
aifine companies, and the other 50 per cent will be subject to
an average aperating margin performance condition The use
of twa separate but complementary performance condiions
creates an alignment to both the arrline industry (via the

TSR measure) and also the Company's internal financial
performance measure {via the operating margin measure}

Both of these performance condimions will be measured over a
single three-year performance penod which begins on Aprid 1
prior to the award date The awards will not vest unul the third

anniversary of the date of award as menuoned on page 72
The Remuneration Committee selected these periormance
conditions because they are challenging and aligned 1o
sharehotders’ interests

TSR measures the financial benefits of holding a company's
shares and 15 determined by share price performance along
with any dividends which are paid None of the shares that are
subsect to the TSR performance condition will vest unless the
Company's TSR performance is at the medsan (50th percentile)
of the airline comparator group If median performance is
achieved, 25 per cent of the shares {ie 125 per cent of the
total award) vest There is then a shding scale at the top of
which all of the shares vest in full (1e the full 50 per cent of
shares which are subject to the TSR performance condition)
if the Company’s TSR performance Is at or above the upper
qusntile (top 20 per cent) of the comparator group The
comparator groups of airhines used in the 2005, 2006 and
2007 awards are shown in the table below
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Air Canada Lufthansa

Aur France Northwest Atrlines
Aur New Zealand (2005 award only)
Alitaha Qantas Arrways
All Nippon Aurlines Ryanair

American Airlines SAS

Cathay Pacific Airways

Contnental Airlines

Singapore Arrlines
Southwest Airlines

Delta Arrines Lnited Aurlines

{2005 award only} (2006 and 2007 awards only)
easylet US Arways
Ibena (2006 and 2007 awards only)

It 15 currently intended that the comparator group for awards
that are made n 2008 will be the above compamnies, except
that Aur Berlin will replace Southwest Awlines Southwest
Aurlines 1s nat deemed to be a surtable comparator as 1ts
operation 15 confined to the US domestic market

For the 50 per cent of the shares that are subject to the operating margin performance condmon, vesung will be as follows

Average annual operaung margin over performance period

25% of shares 100% of shares

(e 12 5% of total [ve 50% of 1023t

Award Performance perod 0% vests Fward) vest award) vest
2005 award 2005/06 - 2007/08 Less than 7% 7% 10%+
2006 award 2006/07 - 2008/09 Less than 8% 8% 10%+
2007 award 2007/08 - 2009/10 Less than 8% 8% 11%+
2008 award 2008705 -2010/11 Less than 5% 5% 10%+

A shding scale of vesting operates for performance between the mimmum and Maximum vesung poInts

As with previous awards under the PSP, the Remuneration Committee has set an operating margin target which takes into account
anucipated market and ecanomic condiions and is considered to be streiching
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Shareholding guideline

A shareholding gutdeline has been adepted, linked to the

two share-based incentive schemes introduced in 2005, the
Deferred Share Plan and the Performance Share Plan Executives
will be expected to retain no fewer than 50 per cent of the
shares (net of tax) which vest from these two schemes unti
they have built up a shareholding equivalent to 100 per cent

of basic salary This policy aims to further align the interests

of executves and shareholders

Brnitish Airways Deferred Share Plan 2005

The British Airways Deferred Share Plan (DSP) was adopted
by the Board in September 2005 and 15 the rmechanmism for
delivering the deferred element of the annual bonus The only
award under the DSP to date was made in November 2006
An award ot deferred shares to the value of 50 per cent of the
bonus earned was made to qualifying executives QOther than
on retirement or redundancy the shares will be subject to
forfeiture if the executive leaves dunng the three-year deferral
pertod On vesting, executives wil receive the benefit of any
dividends paid over the deferred penod

For further infformation regarding these schemes, see pages 71
to 73 which contains detalls of awards to executive directors
granted this year and in prior years under current and historic
share incentive schemes and also see note 33 to the financial
statements

British Airways All-Employee Share Ownership Plans
in July 2000, the Company cbtained sharehotders’ approval

to implement any aspect of the new all-employee share plans
now known as share incentive plans The approval permits

the Company to operate a partnership share plan which would
allow employees in the UK to buy shares from their pre-tax
salary and would allow the Company to give matching of

free shares to those participants in the share plan Financial
himitations would apply to any new plan No plans are currently
In operation

Service contracts

Each of the two executve directors serving at the year end has
a rofing contract with a one-year notice pertod As a rmatter of
pabicy, in the event of new external appoiniments, the length of
service contracts would be determined by the Remuneration
Committee in the light of the then prevailing market practice
However, the Remuneration Commuttee recognises that, in
some cases, it may be necessary to offer a contract with a
notice penod In excess of one year in order to attract a new
executive director In these arcumstances, the Remuneration

Committee acknowledges that the notice penod should
reduce to one year after the initial period in accordance
with paragraph B 1 6 of the Combined Code

The service contracts for the serving directors include the
following terms
Executve director

Wilhe Walsh
Keith Willsams

Unexpired term/notice penod
terminable on 12 months' nouce
terminzble on 12 months nouce

Date of contract
March 8, 2005
January 1, 2006

There are no express provisions for compensation payable
upon early termination of the executive directors’ contracts
other than normal payments due during the notice period In
the event of early termination, the Company’s policy 1s 1o act
fairly in all circumstances and the duty to mitigate would be
taken in{o account The Remuneration Committee has noted
the ABI/NAPF joint statement on Execunve Contracts and
Severance The executives’ contracts mclude a pay in lheu of
notice provision and are subgect to mitigation provisions during
the second six months of the notice period Neither of the
contracts provides for compensation to be paid in the event
of a change of contro! of the Company Copies of the two
service contracts can be viewed on the Company’s website

External non-executive directorships

The Board encourages executive directors to broaden their
experience outside the Company by taking up non-executive
appointments from which they may retain any fee The
Company's consent 1s required before an executive can accept
such an appomtment and permissicn will only be given in
appropnate circurmnstances Bunng the year in question,

Willie Walsh earned fees of €31,000 as a non-executive
director of Fyffes Plc He retred from the Board of Fyffes Plc
on October 31, 2007

Pension schemes

The Company has three main pension schemes Two of these,
APS and NAPS, are defined benefit schemes and are closed
to new members The third scheme, the British Arrways
Retirement Plan {BARP), has been available to new joiners
since Apnl 1, 2003 and 1s a defined contribution scheme
Willie Walsh 1s a member of BARP and receives a contnbution
of 12 per cent of salary Keith Willams 1s a member of both
NAPS and an unfunded unapproved retirement scheme
Prowvision for payment of a surviving dependant’s pension

on death and lump sum payments for death in service is

also made Only basic salary i1s pensionable Further details

of pension provision are set out on page 70
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Non-executive directors

Policy

in relation to the Chairman, the Company’s policy 1s that the
Chairman should be remunerated in line with the market rate
reflecting his tme commitment to the Group In relatior 1o
nan-executve directors, the Company's policy 15 that therr
remuneration should be sufficient to attract and retain world-
class non-executive directors The Chairman and the non-
executive directors do not recewve performance-related pay

Chairman’s and non-executive directors’ fees

The Chairman’s fee 1s determined by the Remuneration
Committee Following a review by the Cormmittee, it was set

at £350,000 1 July 2007, taking trito accoury the level of fees
payable in similar comparies and recogrising his above average
ume commitment Fees for the non-executive directors are
determined by the executive directors on the recommendanon
of the Chairman For the year in question, the fees (which were
fast reviewed 1n Qctober 2006) were £40,000 per annum, with
the chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration and Safety Review
Committeas and the senior independent non-executive
director each receiving £10,000 per annum in addinon o
these fees No other fees are paid for attendance at Board
committees The Chairman and the non-executive directors’
fees are not pensionable They are, however, eligible for non-
contractual travel concesstons

Service agreements
The dates of the Chairman’s and current non-executive
directors' appointments are as follows

Date of glecuon/ Expury
Non execurive Date of appomiment last re-elecuon date
Marun Broughton May 12, 2000 July 18, 2006 2009
Maarten van den Bergh  July 1 2002 July 19, 2005 2008
Baroness Kingsmili November §, 2004  July 19 2005 2008
Jim Lawrence November 1, 2006 July 18, 2007 2010
Chumpol NaLamlieng November 1, 2005  July 18, 2006 2009
Dr Martin Read May 12, 2000 july 18, 2006 2009
Alson Reed December 1,2003  July 18 2007 2010
Ken Smart July 19, 2005 July 19, 2005 2008
Baroness Symons July 19, 2005 July 19, 2005 2008

Except where appointed at a general meeting, directors stand
for election by shareholders at the first annual general meeting
following appointment, and stand for re-election every three
years thereafter, under Article 94 Either party can terminate
on one month's wntten notice Neither the Chairman nor any
of the non-executive directors has any right to compensation
on the early termination of thewr appointment Copies of the
letters of engagement for the Chawman and the nan-executive
directors are avalable for nspection on the Company's website

Performance graph

The graph shows the total shareholder return (with dividends
reinvested where appiicable) for each of the last five fimancial
years of a holding of the Company's shares aganst a
hypothetica! holding of shares i the FTSE 100

The FTSE 100 was selected becayse 1t 15 a braad equity index
of which the Company is a constituent

Total shareholder return
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Thas graph shows the value by March 31 2008 of £100iwvested In Bitsh Arways
Pic on March 31 2003 compared with the same value invested in the FTSE 100
Index The cther points plotted are the values at intervening financial year ends
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

Information subject to audit

Directors’ remuneration

Performance-related bonuses®

Payments refatng
Basic salary Taxable (o termnation Value of TJoual Total
and fees berefits” of employment Cash deferred shares 2007/08 2006/07
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive directors
Wilhe Walsh 679 22 0 0 701 625
Keith Willigms 407 1) 67 67 556 396
Non-executive directors
Marun Broughton 338 30 363 330
Maarten van den Bergh 50 50 46
Baroness Kingsmull 40 1 11 39
Jim Lawrence 40 1 41 17+
Chumpol NaLamlieng 40 1 41 39
Dr Martin Read 50 50 46
Alison Reed 50 50 46
Ken Smart 50 50 46
Baroness Symons 40 t 41 39
Aggregate emoluments 1784 71 67 67 1,989 1669

*  Taxable benefits include a company car fuel prnivate health insurance and personal ravel

** Gwen hes overall responssbeity for the Companys affairs Willie Walsh and the Remuneration Commuitee mutuaily agreed that it would be inappropnate for him 1o recerve
any annual bonus for 2007708

*** Figures shown from date of appointment

Martin George a former director Marun Georges defence costs in relaton (o the competiion law invesugations are covered by the Companys Directors and Officers Liabiliny

Policy Howeve, the policy 1s subject 10 an excess which 15 payable by the Company In the year to March 31 2008 the Company paid £273 000 in relation to his defence costs
and further amounts are hkely to be payable He also recerved £213000 in relation to his termination of employment in accordance with the payment in lieu of nouce clause in

his contract as he had been unable to find alternauve employment
The base salaries for the executive directors are currently £700,000 for wilhe walsh and £4 15,000 for Keith Williarms

The pension entitlements of the executive directors were
Transfer valug

Increzse befere  of increase before

Accumulated Increase mn nflanon in wflanen less

accrued benefits accrued benefits accrued benefits direcrors

March 31 2008 dunng the year during the year contnbunons.

£ £ E €

Keith Wikliams 85,076 11390 8516 55,700

The transfer value* of each director’s accrued benefits at the end of the financial year is as follows

Cirectors Mavement
contrbutions less dwector’s*

March 31 2008 March 31 2007 dunng the year contnbutions

£ £ £ £
Keith Wilhams 872178 857,054 33,810 (18,696)

Transfer value represents a rabiity of the Company not a sum pad or due to the indwidual It 15 ¢alculated in eccordance with Retrement Benefit Schemes — Transfer Value (GN11)

Keith Williams 1s a member of both the NAPS and an unfunded unapproved retrement scheme, which, under the terms of his
service coniract, will provide a total retirement benefit at age 60 equivalent to t/56th of pensionable pay for each year of service
up to March 31, 2007 For service after April 1, 2007, he 1s entritled to 1/60th of pensionable pay for each year of service, payable
at age 65 In hne with other NAPS members, Mr Williams 1s entitled to buy-back to 1/56th payable at age 60 should he so elect

Willie Walsh 1s a member of BARP, a defined contnbuuon scheme and the Company pard contributions dunng the year of £81,046
(2007 £73,296)
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Directors’ beneficial interests in shares
Bntish Airways Plc
Ordunary Shares

March 31 Apnl 1
2008 2007

Current Board members
Martin Broughten 69,090 49090
Willse Walsh 22,000 0
Keith Williams 5,000 0
Maarten van den Bergh 2,000 2,000
Baroness Kingsmill 2,000 2,000
Chumpai Nal.amiieng 20,000 10,000
Dr Martun Read 8,000 8000
Alison Reed 10,000 10000
Ken Smart 2,000 0]
Baroness Symons 0 0
Total 140,050 81,090

Brish Airways Pl
Amenican Depositary Shares

March 31 Apnt 1
2008 2007
Jim Lawrence 1,000 1,000

*Each Amenican Depasnary Share is equrvatent to 10 ordinary shares.
There have been no changes to the shareholdings set out above between March 31, 2008 and the date of this report

No director has any beneficial interest in any subsidiary undertaking of the Company

Directors’ share options

The following directers held options to purchase ordinary shares in the Company granted under the Britsh Airways Share Opuon
Plan 1999 The Plan was closed after the final grant in 2005/2006 The Plan provided for the grant of options to acquire ordinary
shares in the Company or the Company's American Depositary Shares at an option price not less than the market value of the
shares on the date of grant No payment was due upon the ininal grant of options Opuions granted under the plan are subject to a
performance condition as detalled below

Briuish Airways Share Opuon Plan 1999

Mark
Mumber of Cpuons Opuons pni:e 2: Gamn Oplions Number of
TPUONS 25 exercised lapsed date of made on granted oplions as
Data of at Apnl 1 Exetcise durng dunng exercise Exercise dunng Exercrable Expuv 21 March 31
grant 2007 price the year the year £ |3 the year from date 2008
Keith Wilhams Aug 26 1999 30456  394p Aug 26,2002 Aug26 2009 30456
june 28,2000 26,315 380p June 28, 2003  June 28,2010 26315
june 26 2001 38,940 321p June 26, 2004 June 26, 2011 38940
july 1,2002 91160 18ip Juty 1 2005 Juty 1 2012 91,160
june 25,2003 114649 157p Jjune 25,2006  June 25,2013 114649
June 25, 2004 72,480 262p June 25, 2007 june 25,2014 72,480
June 23, 2005 69,927 276p June 23,2008 June 23,2015 69,527
Total 443927 443,927

The performance condition applicable to share aptions granted in June 20065 listed above requires the Remuneration Committee
to be sausfied that there has been an increase in the EPS of the Company which is at least 4 per cent per annum more than the
increase in the Retall Price Index during three consecutive financial years ending on March 31, 2008 EPS is calculated as set out
i the Statement of Investment Practice No 1 of the Institute of Investment Management and Research (liIMR)
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Report of the Remuneration Committee continued

The options granted in 2005 were tested at the end of 2007/08 In 2004/05, the Company's EPS under the IIMR definition was
29 3 pence Taking this base figure and adding RPI plus 4 per cent per annum gives a target EPS level of 36 1 pence EPS for
2007 /08 using the IIMR defirition was 49 1 pence The Remuneration Commuttee therefore determined that the performance
condition had been satisfied in relatton to the grants made in 2005 These options will become exercisable on the third
anniversary of the onginal grant, June 23, 2008

The performance conditions in relation to opticns granted in prior years have been satisfied and those options vested accordingly

Directors’ conditional awards

The following directors held conditional awards over ordinary shares of the Company granted under the British Awrways Long
Term Incentive Plan {LTIP) and the British Arways Performance Share Plan (PSP) The LTIP operated from 1996 to 2004 and
was replaced by the PSP in 2005

Market

Number of Awards Opuens pnce at Gan Awards Awards MNumber of

awards as vesting exercised date of made on lapsing made awards as

Date of atApnd i dunng duning axercise exeruse dunng dunng  at Mareh 31

Plan award 2007 the year the year E £ the year the year 2008

Willie Walsh PSP August 30, 2005 319,148 319,148
PSP November 24 2006 185550 185950

PSP August 9 2007 254 854 254854

Total 505,098 254,854 759,852
Keith Whilliams LTIP June g 2003 46631 46,631
LTIP June 16 2004 20,788 2214 7647 22,141

PSP August 30, 2005 34,219 34219

PSP Nov 24 2006 77479 77479

PSP August 9 2007 125910 125910

Total 188,117 22141 7,647 125910 306,380

LTIP awards were subject to the Company's TSR performance relative 1o the constituents of the FTSE 100 No awards would have
vested for below median performance For awards granted in 2003 and 2004, 30 per cent vest for median performance, 65 per cent
would have vested for upper quartle performance and 100 per cent would have vested for upper decile perfarmance

+ In respect of awards granted in 2003, the Company was the 13th highest performing company out of the 93 remaining FTSE 100
companies over the performance period April 1, 2003 to March 31, 2006 This placed the Company on the 86th percentile
meaning that S0 67 per cent of the shares onginally awarded vested and the remainder of the award lapsed, and

* In respect of awards granted in 2004, the Company was the 20th highest performing company out of the 92 remaining FTSE 100
companies over the performance penod Apnl 1, 2004 1o March 31, 2007 This placed the Company on the 79th percentile
meaning that 74 33 per cent of the shares onginally awarded vested and the remainder of the award lapsed

Upon vesting of the LTIP awards, the Remuneration Cornmittee having considered n both cases that underlying financial performance
was satisfactory, participants were granted nil-cost options in accordance with the rules of the scheme Options are exercisable
for seven years from the date of vesting of the relevant LTIP award No payment 15 due upon the exercise of these options

PSP awards granted in 2005, 2006 and 2007 are subject to the performance condinons outhined earlier in this report on page 67
tn each case, the performance conditions will be measured over a singte three-year performance period, which begins on April 1
priar to the award date 50 per cent of the award I1s subject to TSR performance measures against g group of arlines, and 50 per cent
1s subject {0 average operatng margin performance

The award granted in 2005 was tested at the end of 2007/08 As a result, none of the shares subject to the TSR performance
condition will vest, and 31 25 per cent of the award will vest based on the operating margin performance condibon Taking the
TSR performance condition and operating margin performance together, 31 25 per cent of the total onginal award will vest on
the third anmiversary of the award, August 30, 2008

The value attnbuted to the Company's ordinary shares in accordance with the plan rules on the date of the 2007 PSP award,
(August 9, 2007), was 412 pence
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Deferred Share Plan
The following directors held condinonal awards over ordinary shares of the Campany granted under the Brnush Airways Deferred

Share Plan

Retates o bonus Mumber of Namber of

eamad n respect ot Fwarcs as at Awards released Awards lapsing Awards made Fwards as at

performance in Date of award Apnl 1 2007 denng the year dunng the year during the year March 31 2008

willie Walsh 2005/06 Nov 24, 2006 27.800 27,800
Keith Williams 2005/06 Nov 24, 2006 76991 16961

The value of the deferred share awards outlined above was previously included in the Directors’ Remuneration table for the
financial year to which the bonus relates

Share scheme dilution hmits

The Company follows the guidelines laid down by the Association of British Insurers (ABI) These restrict the issue of new shares
under alt the Company's share schemes n any 10-year penod to 10 per cent of the issued ordinary share capital and restricts the
issues under the Company's discretionary schemes to 5 per cent in any 10-year period As at March 31, 2008, the headroom
available for the all employee share schemes was 5 10 per cent and 0 15 per cent for the discretionary schemes

The highest and lowest prices of the Company's shares during 2007/08 and the share price at March 31, 2008 were

2008 2007
At March 31 23425 48600
Highest n the year 51900 S7750
Lowest in the year 21800 32000

I JEBA BYD JO MBIAIBAD 1

*Closing price of the ordinary shares as at March 30 2007

Approved by the Boargd and signed on its behalf by

Dr Martin Read
Nan-executive director and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
May 15, 2008
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Report of the Nominations Committee

Members Martin Broughton (Chairman), Maarten van den
Bergh, Dr Martuin Read and Baroness Kingsmili

The Committee 15 chared by the Chairman and all other
members of the Committee are independent non-executive
directors All non-execuiive Board members are invited o
attend its meetings and the Chief Executive attends as necessary
However, no Board member participates in any discussian of
tus or her own performance The Committee has wntten terms
of reference covering the authonty delegated to 1t by the Board
The full terms of reference are available on the Company's
website at bashares com

The Nominauons Committee meets at least once a year, and
addimonally if required, to consider the balance of the Board's
membership, to idenufy any addinonal skilis or experience
which might enhance the Board's performance, and to interview
candidates and recommend appomtments to or, where
necessary, removals from, the Board The Committee also
reviews the performance of any director seeking re-election

at the forthcorming annual general meeting The Committee’s
remut also mcludes review of corporate governance

in relauon 1o the appointment of new Board members, the
process used for the nomnanion of new candidates commences
with the identficaton of the skills and experience needed to
maintain or enhance the diversity of skills and experience on
the Board Whilst In most cases this will result in the use of an
independent search firm, this 1s not afways the case

Under the Company's Articles of Associatian, all directors are
required to offer themselves up for re-election every three
years Following a review of theiwr respective performances as
part of the Board evaluation exercise the Commuttee has put
forward for re-election at the annual general meeting in July
2008 willie Walsh, Maarten van den Bergh, Baroness Kingsmill,
Ken Smart and Baroness Symons Their biographical details are
set out in the explanatory notes of the notice of annual general
meeting and demonstrate the skills and experience which they
bring to the benefit of the Company
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Independent auditors report to
the members of British Airways PIc

We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial
statements (the ‘financial statements’) of Briush Airways Plg
for the year ended March 31, 2008 which camprse the
Group Consalidated Income Statement, the Group and Parent
Company Balance Sheets, the Group and Parent Company Cash
Flow Statements, the Group and Parent Cornpany Staternents
of Changes in Equity and the related Notes 1 to 38 These
financial statements have been prepared under the accounung
policies set out therein We have also audited the information
i the Directors’ Remuneration Report that 1s described as
having been audited

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members, as

a body, m accordance with Section 235 of the Comparues
Act 1985 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
mught state to the Company's members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose To the fullest exient permitted by law, we

do not accept or assume responsibiity to anyone other than
the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opiwons we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilines for preparng the Annual Report,
the Directors’ Remuneration Repart and the financial
staternents in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law
and International Financtal Reporting Standards {IFRS) as
adapted by the European Unton are set out in the statement of
directors’ respansibilities

Our responsibility 15 to audit the financial siatements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited In
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auditing (LK and Ireland)

We report 1o you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group financial
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulauon We also report

1o you whether in our opimion the information given in the
Directors’ repart and business review s consistent with the
financial statements

In additton we report to you If, in our opinion, the Company
has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not
received all the infarmation and explanations we reguire

for our audit, or If informauon specified by law regarding
directors’ remuneration and ather transactions 1 not disclosed

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement
reflects the Company's comphiance with the nine provisions

of the 2006 Combined Code specified for our review by the
Listing Rules of the Finanaial Services Authonity, and we report
if It does nat We are not required to consider whether the
Board's statements on internal contral cover all nsks and
contrals, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk ang
control procedures

We read other information contained in the Annual Report

and consider whether 1t 1s consistent with the audited financial
statements The other infarmanen compnses only the Direciors’
report and business review, the unaudited part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report, the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief
Executive’s Statement, the Chief Financial Officer’s report

and the Corporate Governance Staternent We consider the
implications for our repart If we become aware of any apparent
rmusstatements or materiat Inconsistencies with the financial
statements Our responsibilities do not extend to any other
informatuon

Basis of audit opinion

we conducted our audit In accordance with International
Standards on Audiung {UK and lreland) 1ssued by the Auditing
Practices Board An audit includes examinauon, on a test bass,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgments made by the directors

in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether
the accounung policies are appropnate to the Group's and
Company's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed
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Independent auditor’s report to
the members of British Airways Plc
continued

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtan all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reascnable assurance that the financial statements and the part
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free
from matenial misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error In formuing our opinion we also evaluated
the overall adequacy of the presentauon of information in

the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be avdited

Opinion
in our opiNton

» The Group financal statements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union,
of the state of the Group's affairs as at March 31, 2008 and
of its profit for the year then ended,

* The Parent Company financial statements give a true and far
view, 1N accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European
Union as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 1985, of the state of the Parent Company’s
affairs as at March 31, 2008,

« The financial statements and the part of the Direciors’
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and,
as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation, and

= The information given in the Directors’ report and business
review Is consistent with the financial statements

Ernst e M wr

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered auditor
London

May 15, 2008
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Financial statements
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Group consolidated income statement

For the year ended March 31, 2008

Group
£ milhen Note 2008 2007
Traffic revenue
Passenger 7.541 7,263
Cargo 616 598
8,157 7.861
Other revenue 596 631
Revenue 3 8,753 8,492
Employee costs 7 2,166 2,277
Depreciation, amartisation and impairment 4 692 714
Aurcraft operating lease costs 68 81
Fuel and oif costs 2,055 1,931
Engineering and other arcraft costs 451 414
Landing fees and en route charges 528 517
Handling charges, catering and other operating costs 977 930
Selling costs 359 436
Currency differences . 6 18
Accommodation, ground equipment and IT costs 576 618
Total expenditure on operations before non-recurnng items 7,878 7.936
Qperating profit before non-recurring items 875 556
Credit anising on changes to pension scheme s - 396
Prowisian for settlerment of competition investigations 29 - {350}
Operating profit 4 875 602
Fuel dervauve gains/(losses) 12 {12
Finance costs 8 (175) {168}
Finance income 8 111 129
Net financing income/(expense) relating to pensions 8 34 (19}
Retranslaton (charges)/credits on currency borrowings 8 (19 13
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment and investments g 14 47
Share of post-tax profits in associates accounted for using the equity method 19 26 5
(Charges)/income relating to financial assets 0 (3) 14
Profit before tax 883 611
Tax 11 (187) {173)
Profit after tax from continuing operations 696 438
Loss from discontinued operations (after tax) 5 #]] {134}
Profit after tax 694 304
Axtnbutable to
Equity holders of the parent 680 290
Minority interest 14 4
694 304
Earmings/(loss) per share
Continuing cperations
Basic 12 59 2p 372p
Diluted 12 58 8p 36 8p
Disconunued operations
Basic 12 (0 2p {1t 7)p
Difuted 12 (0 2)p {1t 7)p
Total
Basic 12 590p 25 5p

Diluted 12 58 6p 252p
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Balance sheets

At March 31, 2008

Willie Walsh *
Keith Willhams

Group Company [rR—
£ million Note 2008 2007 2008 2007
Non-current assets
Propeny, plant and equipment 14 o
Fleet 5976 6,153 5,794 5,957 3
Property 977 932 924 876 2
Equipment 310 272 301 266 o
7,263 7.357 7,019 7.099 F
Goodwilk 17 40 40 - - ‘,3
Landing rights 17 159 139 159 139 =
Software 17 22 33 22 34| pre——
221 212 181 173
tnvestments 1n subsidianes 19 - - 2,207 1,185
Investments In associates 19 227 125 - -
Avallable-for-sale financial assets 20 80 107 24 4] ©
Employee benefit assets 35 85 116 85 116 5
Denvatwve financial mstruments 3 80 8 80 8 H
Prepayments and accrued income 19 20 9 10 ‘f
Total non-current assets 7,975 7,945 9,605 8632 |%
Non-current assets held for sale 16 - 8 - 8 z
Current assets and recervables
Inventories 21 112 76 109 74
Trade receivables 2 586 654 574 635 | €
Cther current assets 23 308 268 37 336 g
Derwvative financial instruments 31 278 78 278 78 g
Other current interest-bearng deposits 24 1,181 1.642 399 1,639 3
Cash and cash equivalents 24 683 713 433 662 2
1,864 2355 832 2301 |2
Total current assets and receivables 3,148 3,431 2,164 3,424 5
‘Total assets 11,123 11,384 11,769 12,064  wrmwmna
Shareholders’ equity
Shareholders’ equity
Issued share capital 32 288 288 288 288 |9
Share premium 937 933 937 933 ’.3_,
Investment 1N own shares {(10) {10} (10) (g | =2
Other reserves 34 1,818 1,000 1,344 683 %
Total shareholders’ equity 3,033 2211 2,559 1,894 8
Minonity interest 34 200 200 - - &
[a)
Total equity 3,233 2411 2,559 1,894 n
Non-cyrrent habiities
Interest-bearing long-term borrowings 27 2,751 2,929 2971 3113
Employee benefit obligauons 35 330 1,142 322 1,134
Provisions for deferred tax 1 1,154 930 1,069 855 o
Other provisions p:] 210 153 185 114 -
Dervauve financial instruments kT 33 6 33 6 a2
Other long-term labilities 26 168 188 132 150 |w
Total non-current habhities 4,646 5348 4,712 5372 g
Current fiabiities 3
Current portion of long-term borrowings 27 423 417 421 413 @
Trade and other payables 25 2,590 2,726 3,849 3924 [
Dernvative financial mstruments 3 57 18 57 18
Current tax payable 4 54 3 38 o
Short-term provisions 29 170 410 168 405 |3
Total current habilities 3,244 3,625 4,498 4798 | &
Total equity and liabihties 11,123 11,384 11,769 12,064 o
2
E
o
o
b=

May 15, 2008
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Cash flow statements

For the year ended March 31, 2008

Group {Company
£ million Note 2008 2007 2008 2007
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit 875 602 855 667
Operating loss from discentinued operanons (2) {122) - -
Credit ansing on changes to pension scheme - (396} - {396}
Depreciation, amortssation and imgatrrment 692 834 672 695
(Group includes £120 milion from discontinued eperations in 2007)
Cperating cash flow before working capital changes 1,565 918 1,527 906
Decrease/(increase) in inventories, trade and other receivables 96 61 89 {136]
Decrease in trade and other payables and provisions {354) {15) (351) {18}
Cash payment to NAPS pension scheme 35 {610) {240) (610) {240}
Provision for settlement of competition investigations - 350 - 350
Payment to DO)J in settlement of competiuon investigations 29 (149) - (149) -
Other non-cash movements 3 &) (32) {2
Cash generated from operations 551 1,072 474 860
Interest paid {182) {188} (169) {170}
Taxation (66) {128) (56) {127)
Net cash flow from operating activities 303 756 249 563
Cash flows from mnvesting activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14 {596) {331} (592) {326}
Purchase of intangibie assets 17 33 {36) (32) (36)
Purchase of interest in associate 19 (54) - - -
Purchase of subsidiary undertaking 19 - - (1,016) (13}
Purchase of minanty interest - {13) - -
Proceeds from sale of associated companies - 3 - -
Proceeds from sale of other investrents - 52 - 52
Praceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1 7 1" 7
Insurance recoveries from write-off of Boeing 777 arrcraft 51 - 51 -
Cash inflow/(outflow) from disposal of subsidiary company 1 {149} - -
Interest receved 117 113 123 112
Dwidends receved 3 1 4 20
Decrease in interest-bearing deposits 458 389 1,238 390
Net cash flow from investing activities (42) 36 (213) 206
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 172 - 172 -
Repayments of borrowings (68) (97} (57} (77}
Payment of finance fease liabilives (356) (388} (355} (383)
Exercise of share options 4 50 4 50
Purchase of own shares - (12) - (12}
Distnibutions made to holders of perpetual secunities (14) (14) - -
Net cash flow from financing activities (262) {461) (236) {422)
Net {decrease)/increase in cash and cash equwvalents (&)] 331 (200) 347
Net foreign exchange difference (29) {16) (29) {1
Cash and cash equivalents at Aprif 1 713 398 662 326
Cash and cash equivalents at March 31 24 683 713 433 662
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Statements of changes In equity

For the year ended March 31, 2008

Group -SE—————
frvestment Other Total
tssued Share N own reserves  shareholders’ Minonty Totat
£ milon capitat premium shares (note 34) equity nterest equity o
At Apnil 1, 2007 288 933 (10} 71,000 2,214 200 2411 e
Profit for the penod 680 680 14 694 <
Exchange differences and other movements 24 24 24 z
Net movement on cash flow hedges 119 119 119 r°.:.
Share-based payments 3 3 3 Ed
Tax effect of share-based payments (7 1)) N |=s
Deferred tax — rate change adjustment & 6 6 o
Share of other movernents i reserves of associates (2) (2 (2) |pumme—
Net losses on avalable-for-sale financial assets (5 (5) (5}
Total ncame and expense for the period 818 818 14 832
Issue of shares 4 4 4
Distnbutions (14) (14)
At March 31, 2008 288 937 (10) 1,818 3,033 200 3,233 ‘-:
For the year ended March 31, 2007 Group 3
Iavestment Other Total ‘ﬁ
lssued Share 0 own resenes shoreholders’ Mmority Total i
£ rmilion capue! premium shares fnote 34) equiry inrerest equity E
At April 1, 2006 283 888 690 1,861 213 2,074 pmm—
Profit for the penad 290 250 14 304
Exchange differences and other movements (3} 3} 31 |8
Net movement on cash flow hedges (4} “ A 13
Share-based payments 1o 10 10 =
Tax effect of share-based payments 18 18 18 | ®
Share of other movemnents in reserves of associates 8 3 8 135
Net gains on avalable-for-sale financial assets 3 3 3 3
Total ncome and expense for the period 322 322 14 336 :I
Exercise of share opuons 2 {12} {10) {10} 2
Issue of shares 5 45 50 50 avesmce
Purchase of own shares (12} {12} (12}
Purchase of minority interest {13) {13}
Distnbutions {14) {14} o
At March 31, 2007 288 933 {10) 1.000 2211 200 2411 3
For the year ended March 31, 2008 Company 3
Issued Share Investment  Other resarves Total mg‘
£ miton capital prermum I own shares (note 34) equity [
At Apnl 1 2007 288 933 (10} 683 1894 |3
Profit for the period 540 540 2
Share-based payments 3 3 posme—
Tax effect of share-based payments N 7
Deferred tax — rate change adjustrment 6 6
Net movement on ¢ash flow hedges 119 119 -
Total Income and expense for the penod 651 661 |2
Issue of shares 4 4 f.:
At March 31, 2008 288 937 (10) 1,344 2559 | =
For the year ended March 31, 2007 Company E
Issucd Share Investment  Other rescrves Toual 2
£ milhon capiral premiurm 11 own shares {notc 34) equity v
At April 1, 2006 283 888 653 1,824
Profit for the period 18 18
Share-based payments 10 1w |7
Tax effect of share-based payments 18 18 .
Net movement on cash flow hedges (4 4 |1&
Total ncome and expense for the period 42 42 2
Exercise of share options 2 {12} (o i1 s
Issue of shares 5 45 50 3
Purchase of own shares (12} (12) g-
At March 31, 2007 288 933 (1o 683 1,854 2
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Notes to the accounts

1 Authorisation of financial statements and
comphance with [FRSs

The Group’s and Company's financial statements for the year ended
March 31, 2008 were authorised for 1ssue by the Board of Directors
on May 15, 2008 and the balance sheets were signed on the Board's
behalf by Willie Walsh and Keith Willams Brish Airways Plc s a public
hrmited company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales The
Company's ordinary shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange

The Group has prepared its consoldated financial statements in
accordance with Ingernauional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)”
as adopted by the European Umon (EU) IFRSs as adopted by the

ELI differ In certain respects from IFRSs as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) Mowever, the consolidated
financial statements for the peniods presented would be no different
had the Group apphed IFRSs as issued by the IASB References to
‘IFRS’ hereafter should be construed as references to IFRSs as adopted
by the EU The principal accouniing policies adopted by the Group
and by the Company are set out 1n note 2

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption provided under
Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 not to publish its individuat
income statement and refated notes

*For the purposes of these statements IFRS also includes International Accounhing
Standards (1AS)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation

The basts of presentation and accounting policies set out in this
Report and Accounts have been prepared in accordance with the
recogmtion and measurement criteria of IFRS, which also include
Internauonat Accounting Standards {JAS), as ssued by the IASB and
with those of the Standing Interpretations issued by the International
Financial Reporung tnterpretations Committee ([FRIC) of the IASE

The financial statements for the pnor perod mnclude reclassificatons
that were made to conform 1o the current period presentation The
amendments have no matenal impact on the financial statements

These financal statements have been prepared on a histonical cost
conventon except for certain finangiat assets and habilies, including
derivatve financial instruments and available-for-sale financial assets
that are measured at fair value The carrying value of recognised assets
and habilities that are subject to farr value hedges are adjusted to record
changes in the farr values attributable to the risks that are being hedged

The Group's and Company's financial statements are presented
in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest million
pounds (£m), except where indicated otherwise

Basis of consohdation

The Group accounts include the accounts of the Company and its
subsidiaries, each made up to March 31, together with the attributable
share of results and reserves of associates, adjusted where appropnate
to conform with the Group's accounting polcies

Subsiciaries are enuties contolted by the Group Control exisis when
the Group has the power either directly or indirecily to govern the
finaneial and operatng pelicies of the entity so as to obtain benefit
from 1ts acuvities Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of thewr
acquisition, which 1s the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consohdated unul the date that such control ceases

All intra-group account balances, ncluding intra-group profits, have
been eliminated in preparning the consolidated financial statements
Minority Interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets
in subsidianies that are not held by the Group and are presented
separately within equity in the consohdated balance sheet

Revenue

Passenger and carga revenue 15 recognised when the transportation
service 15 provided Passenger uckets net of discounts are recorded
as current liabilities in the 'sales in advance of carnage’ account unul
recognised as revenue Unused uckets are recagnised as revenue
using estimates regarding the uming of recogmition based on the terms
and condiuons of the ucket and historical trends Other revenue 1s
recognised at the time the service 15 provided Commission costs are
recognised at the same time as the revenue to which they relate and
are charged to cost of sales

Revenue recognition — mileage programmes

The Group operates two principal loyalty programmes The arrhine
frequent flyer programme operates through the arline’s Executive
Club’ and allows frequent travellers to accumulate ‘BA Miles' mileage
credits that entitle them to a choice of varous awards primasly

free travel The estimated direct incrermnental cost of providing free
redemptian services, mcluding Briush Airways’ flights, in exchange for
redemption of miles earned by members of the Groups 'Executive
Club' 1s accrued as members of the schemne accumulate mileage
These costs are charged to cost of sales

In addition, '‘BA Miles' are sold 1o commercial partners to use n
promoticnal actwity The fair value of the miles sold 1s deferred and
recognised as revenue on redemption of the miles by the participants
to whom the mites are 1ssued The cost of prowiding free redemgtion
services Is recogmised when the miles are redeemed

The Group also operates the AIRMILES scheme, operated by the
Cornpany's wholly-owned subsidiary Airrmiles Travel Promotians
Limited The scheme allows companies to purchase miles for use i
their own promotional activities Miles can be redeemed for a range
of benefits, including flights on British Airways and other carriers The
fair vatue of the miles sold 1s deferred and recognised as revenue on
redempuon of the miles by the participants to whom the miles are
issued The cost of providing free redempuon services 1s recognised
when the miles are redeemed

Segmental reporting

The Group’s primary reporting segments comprise business segments
and the secondary format 1s based on geographic segments Business
segments are based on the internal management structure and systerm
of internal financial reporting They reflect components of the Group
with distinguishable revenues, costs and assets and are subject to risks
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different from those of other reportable segments due either to the
products they provide or the markets in which they operate The
nature of the pamary business segments 1s set out below

a Business segments

The airtine business segment comprises the Group's main scheduled
passenger and cargo operations and revenues ancillary to the proviston
of those services The arrline business uthses the Group's arcraft assets
flexibly across the worldwide route network

The regional awrhne business segment compnsed the Group’s scheduled
regional operation and revenues ancillary to the provisicn of those
services The regional arine business utiised a dedicated fleet of
aircraft to provide services from UK regional airports principally 1o
shorthaut destinations within the UK and Eurcpe The regional airfineg
business segment was re-presented as discontinued Operatons i the
March 31, 2007 financiai statements

Non-airine busmesses prmarily iInclude Arrmiles Travel Promotions Lid,
BA Holidays Ltd and Speedbird Insurance Company Ltd

Transfer prices between business segments are set on an arm's-fength basis
b Geographical segments

i) Turnover by ongin The analysis of turnover by ongins denved
by allacating revenue to the area in which the sale was made

H

Py

Geographical analysis of net assets The major revenue-earning asset
of the Group 1s the aircraft fleet, the majority of which are registered
in the UK. Since the Group's aircraft fleet 1s employed flexibly across
its worldwide route network, there 1s no suitable basis of altocaung
such assets and related liabilives to geographical segments

Intangible assets

a2 Goodwill

where the cost of 2 business combination exceeds the fair values
attributable to the net assets acquired, the resulung goodwill s capitalised
and tested far impairment annually and whenever indicators exist
that the carrying valug may not be recoverable Prior to the adoption
of IFRS 3, which was applied prospectively from April 1, 1999 any
goodwill that had been recognised on acquisiion was amortised aver
a penod not exceeding 20 years Prior to March 31, 1998 goodwill
was set off against reserves on the acguisiiion of a business or an
equity mterest 1 an assocate Such goodwill 1s not recogmsed on
transiion to IFRS Any goodwill ansing on the acquisinon of equity-
accounied enuties 1s included within the cost of those entities

Goodwiil is allocated to cash-generaung units for the purpose of
Impairment testng

b Landing nghts
Landing rights acquired from other airlines are capitalised at cost or
at far value and amorused on a straight-line basis over a period not
exceeding 20 years

¢ Software

The cost of purchase or development of computer software that 1s
separable from an item of related hardware 15 capitalised separately and
amortsed over a penod not exceeding four years on a straight-line bass

The carrying value of intangibles 1s reviewed for impairment if
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value
may not be recoverable

Property, plant and equipment

Praperty, plant and equipment s held at cost The Group has a
policy of not revaluing property, plant and equipment Depreciation
s calculated to wrize off the cost less estimated residual value, on

a straight-line basis, aver the useful Iife of the asset Residual values,
where applicable, are reviewed annually against prevaihng market
values for equivalently aged assets and depreciauon rates adusted
accordingly on a prospective basis

The carrying value is reviewed for snpairment when events or changes
In arcumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable
and the curmutative imparrment lasses are shown 3s a reducpon in the
carrying value of property, plant and equipment

a Capitahsauon of interest on progress payments

Interest attributed to progress payments, and related exchange
moverments on foreign gurrency amounis, made on account of
arcraft and other significant assets under construction is capitahsed
and added to the cost of the asset concerned

b Fieet

All arcraft are stated at the fair value of the consideration given after
taking account of manufacturers’ credits Fleet assets owned, or held
on finance lease ar hire purchase arrangements, are depreciated at
rates calculated to wnte down the cost to the estimated residual value
at the end of ther planned operacional hves on a straight-line basis

Cabin interior modifications, Includsng those required for brand changes
and relaunches, are depreciated over the icwer of five years and the
remaining Iife of the aircraft

Arcraft and engine spares acquired on the iniroduction or expansion
of a fleet, as well as rotable spares purchased separately, are carned as
prapenty, plant and equipmenit and generally depreciated in line with
the fleet to which they relate

Major overhaul expenditure, ncluding replacement spares and
labour costs, 1s capialised and amortised over the average expected
life between major overhauls All other replacement spares and other
costs relaung to mamntenance of fleet assets (including maintenance
prowided under ‘power-by-the-hour’ contracts) are charged to the
Income statement on ¢onsuMpLIoOn or as incurred respectively

¢ Property and equipment

Provision 1s made for the depreciation of all property and equipment,
apart from freehold land, based upon expected useful ives, or in the
case of leasehold properties over the duration of the leases «f shorter,
on a straight-line basis
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Notes to the accounts continued

2 Summary of significant accounting pclicies
continued

d Leased and hire purchase assets

Where assets are financed through finance leases or hire purchase
arrangements, under which substanually all the nsks and rewards

of ownership are transferred 1o the Group, the assets are treated

as if they had been purchased outright The amount included in the
cost of property, plant and equipment represents the aggregate of
the capital elements payable dunng the lease or hire purchase term
The corresponding obligavon, reduced by the appropriate proportion
of fease or hire purchase payments made, 1s Included 1n borrowings
The ameount included n the cost of property, plant and equipment

1s depreciated on the basis described in the preceding paragraphs
and the interest element of lease or hire purchase payments made 1s
included in interest payable in the income statement Total minimum
payments, measured at inception, under all other lease arrangements,
known as operaung leases are charged to the incorme statermnent in
equal annual amounts over the perrod of the lease In respect of
arcrafz, certain operaung lease arrangements ailow the Group to
terminate the leases after a imited initial period (normally 10 years),
without further material financial obligations In certain cases the
Group 1s enutled to extend the imtial lease penod on pre-determined
terms, such leases are described as extendable operating leases

Inventories

Inventorres, ncluding ar¢raft expendables, are valued at the lower of
cost and net realisable value Such cost is determined by the weighted
average cost method

Interests th associates

An associate 15 an undertaking in which the Group has a long-term
equity interest and over which it has the power to exercise signficant
influence The Group's interest in the net assets of associates 1s included in
investment 1 assoclates in the consolidated balance sheet and s inzerest
In therr results 15 included in the income statement, below operating
profit Certain associates make up their annual audited accounts to
dates other than March 31 In the case of Ibena, published results

up to the year ended December 31 are included In other cases,
results disclosed by subsequent unaudited management accounts

are included The attributable results of those companies acquired or
disposed of dunng the year are included for the perods of ownership

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand and deposits with
any qualfying financral institution repayable on demand or matunng
within three months of the date of acquisition and which are subject
to an insignificant nsk of change in value

Other current interest-bearing deposits

Gther current interest-beanng deposits, principally compnsing funds
held with banks and other financial nstitutions, are carried at amorused
cost using the effective interest method Such financial assets are class:fied
as held to rnatunity when the Group has the positive intention and
abilkty to hold to mawurity Gains and losses are recogmised in income
when the deposits are derecognised orimpaired as well as through
the amortisation process

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other recevables are stated at cost less allowances made
for doubtful recevables, which approximates fair value given the short
dated nature of these assets A provision for impairment of trade
receivables (allowance for doubtful receivables) 1s established when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to coilect
all amounts due according to the original terms of the recevable

Available-for-sale financial assets

Avattable-for-sale financial assets are those non-denvative financial
assets that are not classified as Ioans and recevables After smitial
recognition, availlable-for-sale financial assets are measured at far
value, with gains or iosses recognised as a separate component of
equity unul the investment 15 derecognised or until the investment
15 determined to be impaired, at which tme the cumulative gain or
loss previously reported in equity s included in profit or loss

The fair value of quoted nvestments 1s determined by reference to bid
prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date Where there
15 no active market, fair value 1s determined using valuation technigues
Wwhere fair value cannot be reliably estimated, assets are carried at cost

Employee benefits

Employee benefits, including pensions and other post-retrement benefits
(principally post-retirement healthcare benefits) are presented in these
financial statements In accordance with IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’
For the Group's defined benefit plans, post-retirement obligations are
measured at discounted present value whiist plan assets are measured
at fair value at the balance sheet date The cost of current service costs
are recognised in the income statement so as 1o recognise the cost

of providing the benefit on a straight-line basis over the service lives
of the employees using the projected unit credit method Past service
costs are recognised when the benefit has been given The finanging
cost and expected return on plan assets are recognised within
financing costs in the penods in which they anse The accumulated
effect of changes in estimates, changes in assurptions and dewviations
from actuanal assumptions (actuarial gains and losses) that are less
than 10 per cent of the higher of pension benefit obligations and
pension plan assets at the beginming of the year are not recorded
When the accumulated effect 1s above 10 per cent the excess amount
15 recogmised i the income statement over the estimated average
remaining service penod

Amounts paid to defined contribuiion post-retirement schemes are
recognised within the Income statement when the payments fall due

Other employee benefits are recognised when the obligation exists
for the future hability

Share-based payments

The fair value of employee share opuon plans 1s measured at the date of
grant of the option using an appropriate valuation modef The resulting
cost, as adjusted for the expected and actual leve! of vesung of the
options, 15 charged to income over the penod in which the options vest
At each balance sheet date befare vesung, the cumulative expense

15 calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period

has expired and management s best estimate of the achievement or
otherwise of non-market conditions, of the number of equity instruments
that will ulumately vest The movement m cumulative expense since
the previous balance sheet date is recognised m the income staterment
with a corresponding entry in equity
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Taxation

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxauon authonties, based on tax
rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date

Deferred income tax 1s recognised on all temporary differences ansing
between the tax bases of assets and hiabilities and their carrying amounts
n the financial statements, with the following exceptions

« Where the temporary difference anises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or of an asset or ability 1n a transacuion that 1snot a
business combination that at the time of the transacuon affects
newther accounting nor taxable profit or loss,

» In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
Investments i subsidiaries or associates, where the uming of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and 1t1s
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future, and

= Deferred Income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that
it 1s probable that taxable profit will be avaitable against wiuch the
deductible temporary differences, carned forward tax credits or
tax losses ¢an be utiised

Deferred income tax assets and hiabilites are measured on an
undiscountad basis at the tax rates that are expected o apply when
the related asset s realised or liability 15 settled, based on tax rates
and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

Income tax 1s charged or credited directly to equity if € relates to
itemns that are credited or charged to equity Otherwise income tax
I1s recognised 1n the income statement

Prowisions

Provisions are made when an obligation exists for a future Irability

it respect of a past event and where the amount of the cbligation
can be reliably esumated Restructuring provisions are made for
direct expenditures of a business reargarusation where the plans

are sufficiently detalted and well advanced, and where appropriate
communication to those affected has been undertaken at the balance
sheet date If the effect s material, expected future cash flows are
discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropnate,
the nisks specific to the hability Where discounting 1s used the increase
in the provisian due to unwinding the discount 1$ recogrised as a
finance cost

Foreign currency translation

Transactions in fareign currencies are initially recorded i the
funcuional currency, sterling, by applying the spot exchange rate ruling
at the date of the transaction Monetary foreign currency balances are
translated snto steriing at the rates ruling at the balance sheet date Al
other profits or losses arising on translauon are dealt with through the
income statemeri except where hedge accountng is appled

The net assets of foreign operations are translated into sterling

at the rate of exchange ruling at the batance sheet date Profits and
losses of such operations are translated into sterling at average rates
of exchange duning the year The resulting exchange differences are
taken directly to 2 separate component of equity until all or part of the
interest 1s sald when the relevant portion of the cumulative exchange
is recogrused N income

Derivatives and financial instruments

Under 1AS 39 Financial Instruments — Recognition and Measurement’
financial Instruments are recorded mwally at far value Subsequent
measurement of thase instruments at the batance sheet date refiects
the designauon of the financial instrument The Group determines the
classificatron at tmitial recogmibion and re-evaluates this designation at
each year end except for those financia! nstruments measured at fair
value through the income statement

Other investrments {other than interests i associates) are designated
a5 avallable-for-sale financial assets and are recorded at fair value

Any change in the far value is reported m equity unul the investment
s sold when the cumutative amount recognised in equity 15 recognised
nincome In the case of equity securiues classified as avalable-for-sale
investments, a significant or pralonged decling in the fair value of the
security below its cost 1s considered as an indicator that the secunty
1s impaired 1f any such evidence exists for avallable-for-sale financial
assets, the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity 1s
included in the income statement Exchange gains and losses on
monetary itemns are taken o income unless the item has been designated
and 15 assessed as an effecuve hedging Instrument in accordance with
the requirement of 1AS 39 Exchange gains and losses on non-monetary
investrments are reflected 1n equity until the Investment 1s sold when
the cumulative amount recognised in equity 1s recogmised in income

Long-term borrowings are recorded at amorused cost Certain leases
contain interest rate swaps that are closely related to the underlying
financing and, as such, are not accounted for as an embedded denvative

Derwatve financial Instruments, COMPrisiNg INterest rate swap
agreements, foreign exchange denvatives and fuef hedging dervatives
(including optians, swaps and futures) are measured at fair value on
the Group balance sheet

Cash flow hedges

Changes in the farr value of denvatve financial instrumenis are reported
through operating income or financing according to the nature of the
Instrument untess the dervatve financial Instrument has been designated
as a hedge of a highly probable expected future cash flow Gains and
lasses on derivative financial nstruments designated as cash flow
hedges and assessed as effective for the penod, are taken to equity In
accordance with the requirements of 1AS 39 Gains and losses taken to
equity are reflected in the Income statement when either the hedged
cash flow impacts Income or Its GCeurrence ceases to be probable

Certain loan repayment instalments denominated in US dollars and
Japanese yan are designated as cash flow hedges of highly probable
future foreign currency revenues Exchange differences arising from
the translation of these loan repayment instalments are taken ta
equity In accordance with EAS 39 requirements and subsequently
reflected in the income statement when either the future revenue
FTPACLs INCOME of its occurrence ceases io be probable

Imparment in financial assets
The Group assess at each balance sheet date whether a {inancial asset
or group of financial assets 15 impaired
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Notes to the accounts continued

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
continued

Investment in own shares

Shares in the Company held by the Group are classified as ‘Investments
in own shares' and shown as deductions from shareholders' equity at
cost Consideration recerved for the sale of such shares is also recognised
in equity, with any difference between the proceeds from the sale and
the original cost being taken to reserves

No gain or loss 15 recognised in the performance statements on the
purchase, sale, 1ssue or cancellation of equity shares

Derecognmition of financial assets and habilities
A financial asset or habiity 1s generally derecognised when the contract
that gives rise to 1t has been settled, sold, cancelled or expired

Where an existing financtal hability 1s replaced by another from

the same lender an substantially different terms, or the terms of

an existing hability are substantially modified, such an exchange

or modificacion is treated as a derecognition of the oniginal hability
and the recognition of a new hability, such that the difference in the
respective carrying amounts tagether with any costs or fees incurred
are recognised in the income statement

Exceptional items

Exceptional items are those that in management's view need to be
disclosed by virtue of therr size or ncidence Such items are included
an the income statement under a caption to which they relate, and
are separately disclosed m the notes to the consoldated financial
statements Certain exceptional items have been classified as non-
recurring iems and they are included on the face of the consolidated
income statement

Discontinued operations
Disposal groups are classified as discontinued operations where they
represent a major ine of business or geographical area of operations

Key accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make
Judgements, estimates and assumpuions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets and habilities, income and
expenses These estimates and assoctated assurnptions are based

on histonical experience and various other factors beheved to be
reasonable under the circumstances Actual results coutd differ from
these estimates These underlying assumpticns are reviewed on an
ongoing basis Revisions to accounting estmates are recogmsed i the
penod in which the estimate 1s revised If the revision affects only that
period, or in the peried of the revision and future penods if these are
also affected The esumates and assumptions that have a significant
nsk of causing a matenal adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and habilities within the next financial year are discussed below

a) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financral assets at each reporung date Goodwill 15 tested
for imparrment annually and 2t other umes when such indicators exist
The recoverable amounts of cash-generaung units have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations These calculauons require the use
of estimates (note 18}

Other non-financial assets are tested for imparment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable

b) Share-based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transacuons with
employees by reference to the farr value of the equity mstruments
at the date at which they are granted Estimating far value requires
determining the most appropriate valuation model for a grant of
equity instruments, which 1s dependent on the terms and conditions
af the grant This also requires determining the most appropriate
inputs to the valuauon modet :ncluding the expected Ife of the
option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about
them The assumptions and models used are disclosed in note 33

¢} Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and ather post-employment
medical benefits 1s determined using actuanal valuations The actuarial
valuation involves making assumptions about discount rates, expected
rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and
future pension increases Due 1o the long-term nature of these schemes,
such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty (note 35)

d) Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain financial assets as avallable-for-sale and
recognises movernents in their fair vatue in shareholders’ equity When
the far value declines, management makes assumptions about the
decline in value to determine whether it 15 an imparment that should
be recognised n the income statement Impairment losses recognised
in the income statement 1s disclosed In note 10

e) Passenger revenue recognition

Passenger revenue 1s recognised when the transportation 1s provided
Unused uckets are recogmsed as revenue using estimates regarding
the uming of recognition based on the terms and conditions of the
ticket and histonical trends

Impact of new International Financial Reporting Standards
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the
previous financial year except as follows

IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments — Disclosures’, effective for annual
penods beginning on or after janvary 1, 2007 This standard replaces
disclosure rutes previously set out in IAS 32 "Financial Instruments
Presentauon and Disclosures’ IFRS 7 requires disclosure of additional
information about the Group's financial instruments, of adopuion of
the new standards and the natwre and extent of nisks to which they
give nse More specifically, the Group 1s required to make specified
mimimum disclosures about credit nisk, iquidity risk and market risk
There 15 no effect on reported income or shareholders’ equity All
disclosures relaung to finanoal instruments including all comparative
informauon have been updaied to reflect the new requirements

IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements’, effective for annual
periods on or after January 1, 2007 This amendment requires the
Group 1o make new disclosures to enable users of the financial
statements to evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and processes
for managing capital All disclosures relating to the Group's objective,
policies and processes for managing capital, including all comparative
information, have been updated to reflect the new requirements
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IFRIC 8 ‘Scope of IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transacuons,,
effective for annual periads beginning on or after May 1, 2006 This
nterpretation requires IFRS 2 to be applied ta any arrangements

in which the enuty cannat idenufy specifically some or all of the
goods recesved, in parucular where equity instiuments are issued for
consideration which appears to be less than far value This interpretaion
had no impact on the Group

IFRIC 9 'Reassessment of Embedded Dervauves', effective for anaual
penods beginming on or after January 1, 2007, which states that the
date to assess the existence of an embedded dervanve 15 the date
that an entity first becomes party to the contract, with reassessment
only f there is a change to the contract that significantly modifies the
cash flows This interpretation had no impact to the Group

IFRIC 10 tntenims and Impairment’, effecuive for annua! penods
beginning on or after November 1, 2006, which requires that an entity
must not reverse an Impairment loss recognised 10 a previous Interim
periad in respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity
instrument or a financial asset carned at cost This interpretation has
not had any impact on the timing or recognition of impairment losses
as the Group already accounted for such amounts using principles
consistent with IFRIC 10

IFRIC 13 ‘IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transactions', effectve
for annual periods beginming on or after March 1 2007, which requires
arrangements whereby an emplayee 15 granted rights to an enuity’s
nstruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme, even if
the entity buys the instruments from another party, or the shareholders
provide the equity nstruments needed This interpretation had no
impact on the Group

New standards, amendments and interpretations

not yet effective

The JASB and IFRIC 1ssued the following standards and interpretauons
with an effective date after the date of these financial statements

IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes), effecuve for annual periods
beginning on or afier july 1, 2008 IFRIC 13 addresses accounting

by entities that operate or otherwise participate (n customer loyalty
programmes for their customers IFRIC 13 applies 1o sales transactions
n which the entities grant thewr customers award credits that, subject to
meeung any further qualfying conditions, the customers can redeem
in the future for free or discounted goods or services The interpretation
requires that an entity recogrises credits that it awards to Customers as
a separately identifiable component of revenue, which wou'd be deferred
at the date of the mnal sate IFRIC 13 will become mandatory for the
Groups consolidated financial statements beginning April 1, 2009 with
earlier applicaton permitted The Group expects ta early adopt IFRIC 13
from April 1, 2008 with iniual adoption expected ta resuli 10 a reduction
in opeming shareholders’ equity

IFRIC 14 1AS 19 - The imit on a defined benefit asset, muimum
funding requiremment and their ingeraction , effective for annual periods
beginning on or after July 1 2008 IFRIC 14 provides guidance on
assessing the imit in 1AS 19 an the amount of the surplus that can

be recognised as an asset The Group will apply IFRIC 14 from Apni 1,
2008, but management has not yet determuned the potential effect of
this nterpretanion

IAS 1 (Amendment) 'Presentation of Financial Staterments’ —
A Revised Presentation effective for annual peniods beginning an

or after January 1, 2009, reguires separate presentation of owner

and non-owner changes 1 equity by introducing the statement of
comprehensive ncome The statement of recogrused Income and
expense will no longer be presented Whenever there 1s a restatement
or reclassification, an additional balance sheet, as at the begenning of
the earViest period presented, will be requrred to be published There
wiil be ne effect on the Group’s reported Income or net ssets tAS 1
revised has not yet been adopted by the EU

iFRS 3 {(Rewised) ‘Business Combinations’, effective for annual penods
beginning on or after July 1, 2009, requires the purchase method of
accounting to be applied to business combinations but will introduce
some changes ta existing accounting treatment Managemant does
not expect this nterpretation to impact the Group

IAS 27 (Amendment) Consolidated and Separate Finzncial Statements’,
effective for annual penods beginming on or after July 1, 2008, requires
the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests 1o be
recorded In equity f there 1s no change m control Such transacuions
will na longer result in goodwill or gans or losses Where controt 15
lost, any remairing interest 10 the entity 1s remeasured to farr value
and a gain or loss recognised in the income statement Management
does not expect this Interpretaucn te impact the Group

{FRS 2 (Amendment) ‘Share-based Payment’, effective for annual periods
beginming on or after january 1 2009 clanfies that only service condiions
and performance conditions are vestung condinions, and other features
of a share-based payment are not vesting condiions In addinon, it
specifies that all canceliations, whether by the entity or by other
parties, should recewve the same accounting treatment Managemen:
does not expect this amendment to rmpact the Group

IAS 23 (Amendment) ‘Berrowing Costs', effective for annual penods
beginning on or after January 1, 2009, requires an entity 1o capitalise
borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisiuen, construciion
or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset
The option of Immediately expensing thase borrowing costs will be
removed Management does not expect this amendment to impact
the Group, as the Group's current policy is 1o capitalise borrowing
casts an qualifying assets

IAS 32 {Amendment) 'Finzncial Instruments Presentation’ and IAS 1
{Amendment} 'Presentation of Financal Statements' — 'Puttable Financial
tnstruments and Obligations Ansing on Liquidaton, both effectwe for
annual periods beginning on: or after January 1, 2009, require entities
to classify as equity certain financial instrurments provided certain
cniena are met The instruments to be classified as equity are puttable
financia! mstrumenis and those instrurnents that impose an obligation
on the entiy to deliver 10 another party a pro rata share of the net
assets of the enuty only on hquidation Managerment does not expect
this amendment to impact the Group

IFRIC 12 *Service Concession Arrangemens’, effecuve for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008 Management does
not expect this nterpretatian to iImpact the Group

IFRS 8 '‘Operating Segments’, effective for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2009, subject to EU endorsement IFRS 8 requires a
‘management approach’, under which segment information s presented
on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes The
Group will apply IFRS 8 fram Apni 1, 2009 Management has not yet
determined the potential effect of the standard
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Notes to the accounts continued

3 Segment information

a Business segments
For the year ended March 31, 2008

Lontnuing operations

Airline Non-arhne Disconurued
£ million business business Unaflocated Total operauons Total
Revenue
Sales to externai customers ** 8,561 192 8753 8,753
Inter-segment sales 31 N 31
Segment revenue 8,592 192 8,784 8,784
Segment result 850 25 875 (2 873
Other non-operating income g 9 9
Profit/{loss) before tax and finance costs 859 25 884 2 882
Net finance costs {41) (41} (41}
Profit/(loss} on sale of assets 16 {2) 14 14
Share of associates' profit 26 26 26
Income tax expense (187} {187) (187}
Profit/{loss) after tax 901 23 (228) 656 () 694
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets 10,797 59 10,896 10,896
Investment in associates 227 227 227
Total assets 11,024 99 11,123 11,123
Segment habilities 3,260 298 3558 3,558
Unallocated liabiliuies *** 4332 4,332 4,332
Total habilities 3,260 298 4,332 7.890 7,890
Qther segment information
Property, plant and equipment — additions 636 1 637 637
Intangible assets — additons 40 40 40
Depreciation, amorusauon and impairment 690 2 692 692

Exceptionzl items (note 4b)

i

1

1

*  Ascisclosed in note 5 BA Conneci which previousty compnsed the majonity of the Regional ariine business' segment was disposed of in March 2007 The resulis
of opesanions for BA Connect are now presented as discontinued operations

** Sales to external customers within the Non-airfine business segment include certaim elements of other revenue related 1o the Airline business segment
*** Unakocated labiities pnmanty include deferred taxes of £1 154 million (2006/07 £930 millen) and borrowings of £3 174 milhon {2006/07 £3 346 milion) which

are managed on a Group basis
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3 Segment information continued
For the year ended March 31, 2007
Continuing operahons o
Airhae Non-girfine Discontved H
£ mihan business business Unaliecated Toro! operotons™ Total p
"
Revenue :
Sales to external customers*™” 8,294 198 8492 233 8.725 =
Inter-segment sales 36 ! 37 3 40 f
Segment revenue 8330 199 8,529 236 8,765 g
Segment result 800 2 602 {122) 480 jumvcomem—
Other non-operaung Income/(expense) 2 2 () (1}
Profit/(loss) before tax and finance costs 602 2 604 {125} 479
Net finance costs (45) {45) (5) {50)
(Loss)/profit on sale of assets {1) 48 47 (28) 19
Share of associates’ profit 5 5 3 i
Income tax (expense)/credit (173) (173) 24 (149} 3
Profit/(ioss) after tax 606 50 (218) 238 {134) 304 _’:
L3
Assets and habiities 3
Segment assets 11,147 112 11,259 11,259 €
Investment N associates 125 125 125  [eammcmen
Total assets 11,272 1z 11,384 11,384
Segment hizbiities 4,307 336 4,643 4643 | &
Unaflocated hiabhiues*** 4,330 4.330 4330 |3
Totat liabikities 4,307 336 4,330 8,973 8973 |3
Other segment nformation ﬁ
Property, plant and equipment — addimions 336 ! 337 2 339 g
Intangsble assets — additians 41 4] 41 &
Depreciauion, amortisation and impairment 712 2 714 120 834 5
Exceptional tems (note 4b) 38 38 38
As disclosed in note 5 BA Cannect which previously comprised the majonty of the Regionaf airiine business' segment, was disposed of i1 March 2007 The results
of operations far BA Conhnect are now presented as disconuinued operations
* Sates to external customers within the ‘Non-airine business segment include certain elements of other revenue related to the ‘Awrline busmess segment
*** Unallocated habilities pramanly include deferred taxes of £1 154 milion (2006/07 £930 mdlion) and borrowings of £3 174 million (2006/07 £3 346 milken) which
are managed on a Group basis
b Geographical segments — by area of onginal sale
Cantinung operauons Disconunued operations Group
£ millon 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Europe 5,576 5316 224 5,576 5,540
Unned Kingdom 4,357 4,160 184 4,357 4,344
Continental Europe 1,219 1,156] 40 1,219 1,196
The Americas 1,697 1,731 7 1,697 1,738
Africa, Middte East and Indian subcantinent 8 803 2 821 305
Far East and Australasia 659 642 659 &42
Revenue 8,753 8,492 233 8,753 8,725
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Notes to the accounts continued

4 QOperating profit
a Operating profit is arrived at after charging/(crediting)
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of fixed assets

Group
£ milhon 2008 2007
QOwned assets 362 340
Finance leased arrcraft 119 116
Hire purchased arcraft 118 153
Other leasehold interests 62 77
Impairment reversals on property, ptant and equipment {2}
Amortisation of intangible assets 31 30
Torkal depreciation, amoruisation and impairment expense 692 714
Operating lease costs
Group
£ mullion 2008 2007
Mintmum lease rentals — aircraft 80 80
- property 119 136
Sub-lease rentals received (16) {16}
Net onerous lease provision (release)/ansing {9) 1
i74 211
Cost of inventones
Group
£ milion 2008 2007
Cost of inventories recogrised as an expense, mainly fue! 2nd other 2,128 2,012
Includes wnte-down of inventories to net realisable value 5
b Exceptional items
Group
£ milhon 2008 2007
Recognised in operaung profit
Employee costs — restructuring costs t 84
Credit ansing on changes to pension scheme (396)
Prowision for settlement of compettion investigations 350
1 38

During the prior year the Group incurred restructunng ¢osts in relation to erganisationat changes across the busingss including costs associated

with the reduction in management numbers announced m November 2005

5 Discontinued operations

On November 3, 2006 the Group announced that 1t had reached an agreement in pnnciole to sell the regional operauon of 1ts subsidiary arrline
BA Connect to the Flybe Group Ltd The acquisition of BA Connect by the Flybe Group Ltd exctuded the London City airport routes and the
BA Connect-operated service from Manchester to New York The disposal was completed on March 5, 2007 The business sold comprised the
majority of the 'Regional airline business’ segment as disclosed in the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2006 The Group paid
the Flybe Group Lid £129 miflion, and took a 15 per cent investment in the Flybe Group Ltd, valued at £49 million at March 31, 2007

Following the sale of the regional business of BA Connect to the Flybe Group Ltd in March 2007, the Group has agreed contractual terms to
transfer 1ts regional ground handling to aviance UK, The restructuring prowsion mcluded in discontinued operations relates to costs associated
with the reduction in staff at the regional airports, whose employment was attributed to the BA Connect operations and third-party flights
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5 Discontinued operations continued
Prior to the sale and transfer of the operations to discontinued operations, an Impairment review was carned out on the assets, Including goodwill,
of the BA Connect business, prompted by the ongoing detencration in trading performance against plan This resulted 1n an impairment charge o
of £106 million, representing goodwill of £32 millien and fleet assets of £74 mulion The pre-tax imparment charge gave nse 10 a deferred tax H
credit of £22 milkon that has been recogrised In the income statement (discontinued operations) H
£
The £2 million loss from discontinued operations for the year ended March 31 2008 is attributed to the resolution of uncertainties that arose 2,
from the terms of the disposal transaction, primarily adjustments 1o the restructuring pravision previously reported within discontinued operations ;;;—
-
L]
a Results from discontinued operations g
The results fram discontinued operations, which have been included in the consolidated Income statement, are as follows [er———
Group
£ mittron 2003 2007
Revenue 233
Operating expenses (231} | 5
Imparrment (108} 3
Restructuring costs ) (18 |3
Operating loss 2) (122) 3 3
Disposal transaction costs 3 | &
Loss ansing on disposal of net assets 28 | *
Net finance costs &)
Loss before 1ax (2) {158) "
Tax 3
UK corporation tax credit 3 g
Tax ansing from disposal of discontinued operations 4 is
Total current income tax credit {disconunued operations) {1} g
Deferred tax credit (note 11¢) 25 ]
Total tax credit (note 5b) 24 g
Loss from dsscontinued operations (2) {134) <
Analysis of deferred tax credit above i
Fixed asset related temporary differences 29
Pensions 4}
Deferred tax credit 25
b Reconciliation of the tax charge relating to discontinued operations
The tax credit for the year on the loss from discontinued operations 1s less than the notianal tax credit on those losses calculated at the
UK corporanon tax rate of 30 per cent (2006/07 30 per cent] The differences are explained below
Group
f million 2008 2007
Accountng loss before income tax from discontinued operations (2) (158)
Accountng loss multiplied by standard rate of corporauon tax in the UK of 30 per cent (2006/07 30 per cent) %)) (47)
Effects of
Non-deductible expenses 1 5
Untaxed profits on disposals 8
Goodwili write-off 10
Total tax credit on disconunued operations for the year (note 53) {24)
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Notes to the accounts continued

S Discontinued operations continued

¢ Assets and liabilittes of the discontinued operations at the date of disposal
The major classes of assets and liabdiues of the discontinued operations at the date of disposal were as follows

Group
£ milhon 2008 2067
Tangble assets 78
tntangible assets !
Deferred tax asset (note 11¢} &
Other non-current assets 4
Expendable spares and other mventories 3
Trade receivables 23
Cash and cash equivalents 129
Other provisions {43
Other lang-term labilites (35}
Trade payables 41}
Total net assets disposed of = 77
Investment In Flybe Group Ltd {consideration) 48
Loss ansing on disposal of net assets - {25}
Cash and cash equivalents in BA Connect on disposal {129)
Settlement of trade receivable with the Company {7
Transaction costs 3
Cash outflow from disposat of BA Connect - {149)
The cash flows relaung to the discontinued operations to the date of disposal were as follows
Operaung cash flows 16
Investing cash flows {2
Financing cash flows {20}
Excludes £149 milion cash outflow from disposal of BA Connect
6 Auditors' remuneration
Group Company
£000 2008 2007 2008 2007
Group auditors — Audit fees
Fees payable to the Group's auditors for the audit of the Group’s accounts 1,985 2,020 1,985 2,020
Fees payable to the Group's auditors and its associates for other services
Audit of the Group's subsidianes pursuant to legislation 271 271
Other services pursuant to legislanon® 57 1,266 43 1,248
Other services relaung to taxation 308 81 308 81
Services relaung to corporate finance transactions 286 g 286 g
All other services 113 678 113 6578
3,020 4,325 2,735 4,036

The Other services pursuant to legrslation amount in 2007 15 pnimanily attnbuted 10 Sarbanes Oxley sectson 404 audit fees Compliance with Sarbanes Oxley 1s no longer

required due to the Companys deregistration from the Mew York Stock Exchange dunng the vear enced March 31 2008
Of the Group fees, £2,788,000 relates to the UK {2006/07 £4,234,000) and £232,000 relates 1o overseas (2006/07 £91,000)
Of the Company fees, £2,527,000 relates to the UK (2006/07 £3,969,000) and £208,000 relates to overseas (2006/07 £67,000}

The audit fees payable to Ernst & Young LLP are approved by the Audit Committee having been reviewed in the context of other companies

for cost effectiveness

The commuttee also reviews and approves the nature and extent of non-audit services to ensure that independence s maintamned
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7 Employee costs and numbers -
a Staff costs
The average number of persons employed during the year was as follows ]
Group Company &
Number 2008 2007 2008 2007 £
United Kingdom 39,193 41,409 36,962 372,718 ;
Overseas 5,947 6,661 5,159 5721 e
45,140 48,670 42,121 43,439 %
&
Group Company
£ milon 2008 2007 2008 2007
Wages and salaries 1,433 1,522 1,362 1,400
Social security costs 150 158 142 145
Costs refated to pension scheme benefits 216 308 211 296
Other post-retirement benefit costs 4 3 3 3 @
Other employee costs 363 364 352 346 %
Total employee cosis 2,166 2,355 2,070 2,190 g
Employee costs relating to continuing operations 2,166 2277 2,072 2,180 4
Employee costs/(iIncome) relaung to discontinued operations 78 (2) 10 £
IR N
In addivon, ncluded in “Wages and salaries’ 15 a total expense of share-based payments of £3 milian (2006/07 £10 milkon) that arises from
transactions accounted for as eguity-settled share-based payment transactions o
Other employee costs Include allowances, severance and accommodation for crew g‘
o
Employee costs for 2006/07 exclude the £396 million credit 2nising on changes to NAPS which 15 disclosed separately on the face of the 'f
Income statement "E
[+]
3
b Directors’ emoluments S
Group :;5
£000 2008 2007 e
fees 734 648
Salary and benefits 1,123 1,484
Aggregate gains made by directors on the exeraise of opuans 555
1,857 2,687

During the year, one director accrued benefits under defined benefit pension schemes and one director accrued benefits under a defined
cantribution pension scheme

The Directors’ Remuneration repart discloses full details of directors’ emoluments and can be found on pages 65to 73
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Notes to the accounts continued

8 Finance costs and income

Group
£ milhon 2008 2007
a Finance costs
On bank loans* 36 34
On finance leases 70 68
On hire purchase arrangements 31 45
On other loans* 39 23
Interest expense 176 170
Unwinding of discountng on provisions** 10 {
Interest capialised (15) {5}
Change in fair value of ¢ross currency and interest rate swaps 4 2
175 168
° Total interest expense for financial kabihties not at fair vafue through the income statement 15 £75 miihon {2006/07 £57 millon)
** Current year unwinding of discount =5 on the competition investigation restoration and handback provisions (see note 29)
Interest costs on progress payments are capitalised at a rate based on LIBOR (London Interbank Offered Rate) plus 0 5 per cent to reflect
the average cost of borrowing to the Group unless specific borrowings are used to meet the payments in which case the actual rate 15 used
Group
& million 2008 2007
b Finance income
Bank interest recervable (total interest income for financial assets not at fawr value through the income statement) 111 129
11 129
¢ Fimancang income and expense relating to pensions
Net financing iIncome/{expense) relating to pensions 34 {18}
Amortisation of actuanial losses on pensions (1
34 (19
d Retranslation charges/(credits) on currency borrowngs 11 {13}
9 Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment and investments
Group
£ million 2008 2007
Net profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 12
Whnte-off of Boeing 777 arrcraft (60)
Insurance recoveries on Boeing 777 awrcraft 63
Net profit an disposal of investment n WNS 48
Net loss on sale of other investments (1)) {1
14 47

A prior year sale of seven Boeing 767 aircraft resulted in a provision to caver guarantees This has subsequently been released and has resufted
in a net prohit of £12 milhon

A £60 miflion loss on disposal has been recognised as a result of the incident involving a Boeing 777 at Heathrow in January 2008 This is offset
by a £63 million recavery of insurance proceeds, of which £51 million was received dunng the year

10 Income and charges relating to financial assets

Group

£ rmuthion 2008 2007
Income from available-for-sale financial assets® 5 16
Amounts witten off investments*™ (8) 2}
(3) 14

* Includes £4 milion (2006/07 £3 milion] attnbutable to interest eamed en loans to the Airine Group Ltd an available-for-sale financial asser and a £nil (2006/07 £12 millon)
reversal of prior year provisions on loans 1o the Atrline Group Lid

** £6 milhon attnbuiable to impairmen; of Invesiment in the Flybe Group Ltd {see note 20 and £2 milion (2006/07 £2 milhon) impairment of investment i Inter-Capital and
Regional Rail Ltd a loss-making entity that manages Evrostar UX Ltd una! 2010
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11 Tax e —
a Tax on profit on ordinary activities
o]
Tax charged in the Income statement relating to continuing operations G 3
roup ;
£ milion 2008 2007 2
Current income tax (continuing operations) ﬁ"
UK corporation tax 72 171 F
Relief for foreign tax paid (2) 6 &
Advance corporation tax credit (47) (22) {°
UK tax 23 144
Foreign tax 1 {
Adjustments in respect of prior years — LIK corporation tax (8} (14}
Adjustments in respect of prior years — overseas (ax (10}
Total current income tax charge (continuing operations) 16 121 @
Deferred tax 5
Effect of the change in the rate of UK corporation tax on opening balances (76) 4
Property, plant and equipment refated temporary differences {57) 74 143
Pensions 237 178 2
Unremitied earmings of associated companies 5 N
Advance corporation tax charge/{credit) 47 (52}
Share option deductions written back 5 2 A
Other temparary differences (2) (12 o
Adjustments 1n respect of prior years 12 10 E
Totat deferred tax charge (continuing operations) 171 52 z
3
The deferred tax charge in the year has been calculated at a rate of 30 per cent on items reversing §
during the year and at 28 per cent on items creating a new deferred rax balance at March 31 2008 2
Tax charge in the come statement (continuing operanens) 187 173 k3
Tax credit relating 1o discontinued operauons (note $a) (24) b mmams.
Total tax charge in the income statement 187 149
g
Tax charged/(credited) directly to equity . 3
roup g
£ mikon 2008 w0 | &
Current tax =§
Current Income tax credit to reserves relating to exercise of share options (17 13
3
Deferred tax "
Deferred tax on net movement on revaluauon of cash flow hedges charge/(credit) 67 {41) [ree—
Deferred tax on foreign exchange in reserves (credit)/charge (21) 41
Dreferred tax on share options in 1ssue charge/(credit) 7 (1)
Corporation tax rate change for items charged directly to reserves (6) -
Tax charge/(credit) taken directly to equity 47 (18] g
B
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Notes to the accounts continued

11 Tax continued

b Reconciliation of the total tax charge
The tax charge for the year on the profit from continuing operations is less than the notional tax charge on those profits calculated at the

UK corporation tax rate of 30 per cent (2006/07 30 per cent)

The differences are explained be'ow

Group
£ millon 2008 2007
Accaunting profit before tax from gontinuing aperations 883 611
Accounting profit muluplied by standard rate of corparauon tax in the UK of 30 per cent (2006/07 30 per cent) 265 183
Effects of
Pravision for the settlement of competition investigations 105
Non-deductible expenses 5 2
Lintaxed profits on disposals charge/(credit) 1 (17}
Tax effect ansing from associates’ profits being disclosed on an after tax basis (7 {1
Tax on associates’ unremitted earnings 2
Accounting effect of preference share minonity interest (4) 4
Adstments in respect of prior years charge/(credit) 4 (14}
Recognition of previously written-off advance corporation tax (74)
Other differences (5) {7
Effect of carporation tax change in income statement deferred tax movement 2
Effect of corporation tax change on opening deferred tax balances (76)
Total tax charge for the year on profit from continuing operations (note 11a) 187 173
¢ Deferred tax
The deferred tax included i the balance sheet 1s as follows
Group Company
£ mllion 2008 2007 2008 2007
Fixed asset related temporary differences 1,105 1,213 1,019 1124
Pensions (56) {291) (54} {289}
Exchange differences on funding habilities 08 97 67 97
Advance corporation tax 47 {72) 47} {72}
Tax losses carned forward (1
Tax on subsidiary and associated companies unrermitted earmings 18 8 4 2
Tax on farr value profits recognised on cash flow hedges 78 1 78 11
Tax on share options (3 {15) (3) {15}
Other temporary differences (8) 21 5 (3}
1,154 930 1,069 855
Movement In provision
Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
Balance at Apnl 1 930 896 855 792
Deferred tax charge relating to profit ansing from continuing operauons (note 11a) 171 52 167 64
Deferred ta credit relaung to loss ansing from discontinued operations {note 5a) {25}
Deferred tax charge/(credit) reposted directly In reserves (note 1 12) 47 1 47 )
Deferred tax relating to sold companies (note Sc) 8
Deferred ta < charge ansing on acquisiuon of equity in Iberia 3
Revaluation of foreign currency balances 3
Balance at March 31 1,154 930 1,069 855

d Factors that may affect future tax charges

The Group has unutihsed UK capital losses of £198 million (2006/07 £217 milion) These tosses can be carned forward mdefirately and offset
against any future UK chargeable gains that may arise No deferred 1ax asset has been recognised in respect of these capial losses as ther
utiisation 15 not currently anticipated The Group has made £69 milion (2006/07 £100 million) of raflover relef claims that have reduced the
tax basis of fixed assets No deferred tax liability has been recognised in respect of the potential tax habikty ansing from these clams as they

could be offset by the UK capital losses carried forward
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11 Tax continued

The Group has now fully recognised its advance corporation tax surplus brought forward of £94 milion £47mithon of the asset has been offset
against UK corporation tax habiliues far the years to March 31, 2008 The remainder of the asset (47 million} has been recogrised as a deferred
tax asset at March 31, 2008 as it1s anticipated that the advance corparation tax wilt be offser against LIK corporation tax liabilities within the
foreseeable future

Deferred tax has been provided on the unremitted earnings of associate companies where it is not considered that the Group can control the
timung or manner of the reversal of the temporary difference associated with such earnings [n addition, deferred tax has been provided for tax
ansing on dwdends expected to be paid by the Group’s overseas subsidiaries i the foreseeable future If the retained earnings of other overseas
subsidiary companies were to be remitted to the parent company by way of dividend, the temporary differences upon which the Greup has not
provided for deferred tax would be £19 million (2006/07 £18 mithon)

The UK corporation tax rate reduced from 30 per cent to 28 per cent from Apnl 1, 2008 This rate change will affect the amount of future cash
tax payments to be made by the Group and has also reduced the size of the Group’s balance sheet deferred tax kabiity at March 31, 2008

The Finance Bill 2008 proposed that from Apnil 1, 2008 the rate of capital allowances applicable to plant and machinery expenditure will

be reduced from 25 per cent to 20 per cent per annum on a reducing balance basis and the rate of allowances applicable to long-ife assets
increases from 6 per cent to 10 per cent also on a reducing balance basss if enacted, these changes to the capital allowance rates will impact
the rate at which tax relief 1s receved on expenditure on new awrcraft as the Group currently apples the agreement between the Briush Airhine
Transport Associziion and the UK tax authorines under which such expenditure 1s treated as half plant and machinery and half long-iife asset

The Finance Bill 2008 also proposed the phased abolition of industrial bulldings allowances by March 31, 201 1 1t s esumated that the abolition
of these tax allowances will cost the Group £79 milion of future tax rehef This number 55 subject Lo adjustment if the Group makes substanual
acquisitions ar disposals of buiidings that quahfy for industrial buildings allowances before March 31, 2017 At the balance sheet date this proposed
change In fegislation was still subject to parkameniary agreement and 1ts accounting effect, which will be an increase 1n the Group's net deferred
tax liability, will not be reflected in the Group's financial statements until the tegislauion has been substantively enacted

12 Earnings per share

Group
Profit Earmings per share
2008 2007 2008 2007
£m £m Pence Pence
Profit for the year attributable to shareholders and basic earnings per share 680 260 590 255
Represented by
Continuing operatons 682 424 592 372
Discontinued operations (2) {134} (02) (117
Diluted profit for the year attributable to shareholders and diluted earnings per share 680 290 586 252
Represented by
Continuing operations 682 424 588 368
Discontnued operatons @ {134) o2 {117}
Weighted average number of shares for basic EPS (1000) 1,150,537 1,141,133
Dilutive potennzl ordinary shares
Employee share options ('000) 8,093 10.810
Weighted average number of shares for diuted EPS {000) 1,158,630 1,151,943

Basic earmings per share are calculzted on a weighted average number of ordinary shares 1n 1ssue after deducting shares held for the purposes
of Employee Share Ownership Plans including the Long Term Incentive Plan

The Group has granted additional options over shares to employees that were not dilutive during the periad but which may be dilutive in the
future Detalls of the Group's share options can be found in note 33

13 Dwidends proposed

The Drrectors propase a dividend of 5 pence per share (totatling £58 mullion) for the year ended March 31, 2008 The dwvidend will be submiited
for approval at the annual general meetng to be held on July 15, 2008 These financial statements do not reflect the dividend payable, which will
be accounted for as a reduction in shareholders’ equity in the year ending March 31, 2009
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Notes to the accounts continued

14 Property, plant and equipment

a Group
f million Fleet Property Equipment Group total
Cost
Balance at Apnil 1, 2006 11,318 1.427 780 13,525
Additions (note 14d) 258 62 9 339
Disposals {344) (63} (66) (473)
Reclassifications 10 20 30
Reclassifications to assets held for sale {note 16} {19) {28} {47}
Balance at March 31, 2007 11,223 1,398 753 13,374
Addiuons (note 14d) 428 122 87 637
Disposals (262) (t2) (36) (310)
Balance at March 31, 2008 11,389 1,508 804 13,701
Depreciation and impairment
Balance at Apnl 1, 2006 4,712 453 478 5,643
Charge for the year 640 87 47 774
Disposals (267) {55) (64) (386)
Impairment 3 3
Reclassifications ! ! 20 22
Reclassifications to assets held for sale {note 16) (16} (23} (3%
Balance at March 31, 2007 5,070 466 481 6017
Charge for the year 542 72 47 661
Disposals (199} (7} (34) (240)
Balance at March 31, 2008 5413 531 494 6,438
Net book amaunts
March 31, 2008 5,976 977 310 7,263
March 31, 2007 6,153 932 272 7357
Analysis at March 31, 2008
Owned 2,572 952 300 3,824
Finance leased 1,728 1,728
Hire purchase arrangements 1,549 1,549
Progress paymenis 127 25 10 162
5976 977 310 7,263
Analysis at March 31, 2007
Qwned 2,533 836 250 3619
Finance leased 1,699 1,699
Hire purchase arrangements 1,819 1.81%
Progress payments 102 96 22 220
6,153 932 272 7,357
The net book amount of property comprnses
Group 1ota!
2008 2007
Freehold 274 282
Long leasehold improvements 256 261
Short leasehold improvements™ 447 389
977 932

*3hort leasehald improvernents relates [0 leasehold interests with a duratron of less than 50 years

As at March 31, 2008 bank and other loans of the Group are secured on fleet assets with a cost of £477 millon (2007 £477 million),
and letters of credit of £330 mullion in favour of the Briush Airways Pension Trustees are secured on certain aircraft (2007 £380 million)

Included in the cost of tangible assets for the Group 15 £345 milion (2007 £330 million) of capitalised interest
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14 Property, plant and equipment continued

b Company
£ millon Fleat Property Equpment Company total
Cost
Balance at April 1, 2006 10,749 1337 705 12,731
Additions 255 62 19 336
Disposals {120} (61} {55) {236)
Transfers to subsidiary companies { (1)
Reclassifications 10 20 30
Reciassifications to assets held for sale (note 16) {197 {28) {47}
Balance at March 31, 2007 10,875 1,310 688 12,873
Additions 427 121 81 629
Disposals {260) (o {33 (303)
Balance at March 31, 2008 11,042 1,421 736 13,199
Depreciation and impairment
Balance at April 1, 2006 4,517 423 413 5353
Charge for the year 536 34 43 663
Disposals (120} {34) (53} (227}
Transfers 1o subsidiary companies {1 {1
Impatrment 3 3
Reclassifications ! ! 20 22
Reclass fications to assets held for sale (note 16) {16} (23} (39)
Balance at March 31, 2007 4918 434 422 5774
Charge for the year 527 70 45 542
Disposals (197) N (32) (236)
Balance at March 31, 2008 5,248 497 435 6,180
Net book amounts
March 31, 2008 5,794 924 301 7,019
March 31, 2007 5,957 876 266 7,099
Analysis at March 31, 2008
Owned 2,394 899 292 3585
Finance leased 1,728 1,728
Hire purchase arrangements 1,549 154%
Progress payments 123 25 9 157
5,794 924 301 7.019
Analysis at March 31, 2007
Owned 2,338 780 244 3,362
Finance leased 1,698 1,698
Hire purchase arrangements 1,819 1,819
Progress payments 102 96 22 220
' 5957 876 266 7,099
The net book amount of property comprises
Comnpany total
2008 2007
Freehold 226 232
Long leasehold improvements 256 261
Short Yeasehold improvements® 442 383
924 876

* Short leasehold improvements relate to leasenold interests with a duration of less than 50 years

As at March 31, 2008 bank and other leans of the Company are secured an fleet assets with a cost of £404 milion (2007 £404 milion)

included in the cost of tangible assets for the Cornpany 15 £343 million (2007 £327 million) of capitalised nterest
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Notes to the accounts continued

14 Property, plant and equipment continued

c Depreciation

Fleets are generally depreciated over penods ranging from 18 to 25 years after making allowance for estimated resicdual values Effective annual

depreciation rates resulting from those methods are shown in the following table

Per cenlL

Boeing 747-400 and 777-200

Boeing 767-300
Boeing 757-200

Airbus A321, A320, A319, Boeing 737-400

Group
2008 2007
37 37
48 49
44 44
49 49

For engines maintained under ‘Power-by-the-hour' contracts, the depreciation lives and residuals are the same as for the aircraft fleets to which
the engines relate For all other engines, the engine core 15 deprecizted to residual velue over the average remaining hife of the related fleet

Major overhaul expenditure 1s depreciated over penods ranging from 54 to 78 months, according to engine type During the year, the Group
changed the depreciation period for the RB211 engine, used on Boeing 747 and 767 fleets, from 54 months to 78 months The change resulted

ina £32 5 milion decrease in annual depreciaton charge for this engine type

Property, apart from frechold land, s depreciated over its expected useful hfe subject 1o a maximum of 50 years Equipment 1s depreciated aver

periads ranging from four to 20 years, according to the type of equipment

d Analysis of Group tangible asset additions

Group 1otal

E milhon Flaet Property Equipment 2008 2007
Cash paid 434 106 56 596 331
Capitatised interest 4 11 15 5
Accrual moverments (10) 5 3 26 3
428 122 &7 637 339

15 Capntal expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure authonsed and contracted for but not provided in the accounts amounts to £5,189 million for the Group (2007 £554 millon})

and £5,185 mithon for the Company (2007 £553 millicn)

The outstanding commitments include £5,162 mullion for the acquisiion of four Boeing 777 arrcraft scheduled for delivery in 2009, 19 Airbus
A320 famy (from 2008 to 2010), 12 Airbus A380 aircraft (from 2012 to 2014) and 24 Baeing 787 arcraft {from 2012 1o 2015)

16 Assets held for sale

Assets held for sale compnise non-current assets and disposal groups that are held for sale rather than for conunuing use within the business

The carrying value represents the esumated sale proceeds less costs to sell

During the year ended March 31, 2008 aircraft with a fair value {less costs to sell) of £3 millkon (2007 £3 million) and property with a farr value

of £5 million (2007 £nil) were sold
At March 31 2008 there were no assets held for sale (2007 £8 milion)
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17 Intangible assets
a Group
£ million Goodwill  Landing nghis Software Group total ,‘?
Cost %
Balance at April 1, 2006 72 144 135 351 £
Additions 3 10 4 s
Disposals (2) ) 13
Impairment (32) B2 13
Batance at March 31, 2007 40 175 143 358 o
Additions 28 12 40
Disposais {2) (2)
Balance at March 31, 2008 40 203 153 396
Amortisation
Balance at Apnl 1, 2006 29 89 118 @
Disposals {2) @) g
Charge for the year 7 23 30 3
Balance at March 31, 2007 36 110 145 3
Disposals {2) 2 ;3
Charge for the year 8 23 3v
Balance at March 31, 2008 44 131 175
Net book amounts )
March 31, 2008 40 159 22 21 5
March 31, 2007 40 139 33 212 2
%
b Company %
Emillion Landing nghts Sofltware Companv 1otal 2
o
Cost =
Balance at Apnl 1, 2006 118 135 253 =
Addiwons 31 10 gy [
Reclassifications 16 e
Net transfer from subsidiary companies 10 10 A
Disposals {2) {2} o
Balance at March 31, 2007 175 143 358 |3
Addions 28 i1 39 5
Disposals m {1 '§
Balance at March 31, 2008 203 153 356 -
Amortsation f’:
Balance at Apri 1, 2006 22 89 it ®
Rediassificauons 2 2
Charge for the year 1 22 33
Net transfer from subsicdiary companies 1 1
Oisposals (2} 2) {=
Balance at March 31, 2007 36 109 145 |
Charge for the year 8 23 3 g
Disposals (13 18
Balance at March 31, 2008 44 131 175 g
Net book amounts z
March 31, 2008 159 22 1 7
March 31, 2007 139 34 173
l.anding nghts are depreciated over a penod of 20 years g
s
¢ Analysis of Group intangible asset additions g
Group toeal a
£ milbon Landing nghts Software 2008 2007 | =
Cash pad 21 12 33 36 ‘a;
Non-cash additions 7 7 5 ]
Total additions 28 12 40 41 g
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Notes to the accounts continued

18 Imparment of goodwill
Prior io the disposal of the regional business of BA Connect, goodwill acquired through business combinauons was allocated for the purposes of
impairment reviews to two cash-generating units with separately identifiable cash inflows and which were reportable business segments The two

segments were the arrline cash-generating urit and the regional airine cash-generating unit

In the quarter ending September 30, 2006, an imparment review was performed on the assets, including goodwilt of the regional airline business
i accordance with 1AS 36, using value in use This was prompted by the ongoing deterioration in trading performance against plan This resulted
in a goodwill impairment charge of £32 midlion This impairment charge was reflected in discontinued operations

The carrying amount of goodwill s now wholly reflected in the airline cash-generating unit
Group
2008 2007
40 40 ‘

£ rilion

Carrying amount of goodwill

The recoverable amount of the airhne urt has been measured on the basis of its value in use, by applying cash flow projections based on the
financral budgets approved by the Board covering a two-year period Cash flows beyond the two-year perad are projected to increase by the
long-term grawth rate of 2 5 per cent The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections 1s 8 9 per cent (2007 8 9 per cent) This
discount rate 1s derived from the Group's post-tax weighted average cost of capital, adjusted for the risks specific to the market

The calculation of value in use far the airkng unit 15 Most sensitrve 1o the following assumptions
= Operating margin
« Discount rates, and

* Long-term growth rate

Operating margins are based on the esumated effects of planned business efficiency and business change programmes, approved and enacted

at the balance sheet date These are adjusted for the volatile trading condiuons that have impacted the airline unit over the past three years The
trading environment 15 subject 1o both regulatory and competitive pressures that can have a matenal effect on the operating performance of the
business Foreseeable events are unlikely to result in a change in the projections of a significant nature $¢ as to result In the unit’s carrying amaunt
exceeding Its recoverable amount

The discount rate reflects management’s esumate of the long-run return on capital employed for the arline unit Changes in the cash-generating
unit's sources of funding or the cost of that funding {referring to long-term market rates) could result n changes to the discount rates used An
increase in discount rates by 1 5 ponts (2007 4 1 points) would result 1n the arbne urit's carnying amount being equal to its recoverable amount
A sensitvity analyss was performed by reducing the nisk-adjusted cash flow projections (decrease in margins and increase in capital expenditures)
by 10 per cent, which did not lead to an imparrment of goodwill

19 Investments

a Group
Investments In associates
Group

£ mithen 2008 2007
Balance at Apnl 1 125 i31
Exchange movements 24 (3}
Addwons* 57
Share of attnbutable results 23 3
Share of movements on other reserves {2) 8 i
Reclassification of Comarr Ltd {10}
Disposals 4}

227 125

Balance a1 March 31
“£3 milhon of the additions are non-cash attnbuled Lo deferred tax habilites recogrised on [berias unremizied earnings
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19 Investments continued

Market value of listed associates

Group e1al o)
£ milion 2008 2007 3
<
275 256 ]
£
Details of the nvestments that the Group accounts for as associates using the equity method are set out below o
"
Country of 3
Percentage of Principal ncorperadon and 8
equity owned actvities Helding anncipd operations
Iberia, Lineas Aereas de Espafia, S A (Iberia)* 1315 Aurline operations  QOrdinary shares Spain

*Held by a subsidiary company

The Group accounts for its mvestrnent m thena as an assoctate although the Group holds less than 20 per cent of the 1ssued share capital as the
Group has the ability to exercise significant influence aver the investment due to the Group's voung power (both through ts equity holding and s
representation on key decision-making committees) and the nature of the commercial relationships with Iberia On November 1 &8, 2006 the Group
acquired the munonty interest held by American Awhnes in BA B AA Holdings Ltd, the subsidiary that holds the nterest in lbena (see note 34)

In February 2008, the Group purchased 28 7 million additonal shares in iberia at an average prce of €2 34 per share (£54 million), taking 1t
holding to 13 15 per cent (2007 995 per cent) The acquisibon of additonal shares in (bena resulted in goodwill of £9 miian, which has been
reflected n investment in associates

On June 9, 2006 the Group's shareholding n Comar Ltd was reduced from 18 3 per cent to 12 9 per cent Due to the Group's ability to exercise
significant influence, the mvestment in Comar Lid was accounted for using the equity method In September 2006, the Group's shareholding in
Comanr Lid decreased to 1092 per cent and the Group no longer had the abllity 10 exercise significant influgnce over the investment at which
ume the nvestment was reclassified as an avallable-for-sale financial asset

The following summansed financial informaton of the Group's investrnent In assoriates 1s shown based on the Groups share of results and net assets

Group Lotal

£ milhon 2008 2007
Non-current assets 218 168
Current assets 414 222
Current hiabihities (234) {145}
Non-current habilities (188) (128}
Share of net assets 210 "7
Goodwill attributable to investments in asscciates 17 &
Revenues 556 389
Net profit after tax 26 5
b Company
Investments in associates and subsidianes

Company

Total Torta)

£ mifion Cost Pravisions 2008 2007
Balance at Apnl 1 2,191 {1,006} 1,185 1350
Exchange movements 17 17 {1
Additions 1016 1,016 125
Intra group transfer {3 {5}
Provision™ 6 (6) {289}
Balance at March 31 3,219 (1.012) 2,207 1,185
Investments in assoclates
Balance at April 1 1
Disposals (1

Balance ai March 31

“The 2007 prowision of £259 million ncludes a provisien of £287 milion an investments in subsiciaries which was recorded as a result of the sale of the regional business

of BA Connect

The Company accounts for its investments in subsidianes and associates using the cosi method

The Group's and Company’s principat (nvestments i subsidiaries, asseciates and other investments are fisted on page 130
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Notes to the accounts continued

19 Investments continued
During the year, the Company invested £999 million 1n a subsidiary funded by the transfer of interest-beanng deposits to the subsidiary whose
primary purpose Is to mvest the Company’s excess cash In addition, in the current year the Company invested £17 milion in a subsidiary relaung

to the launch of a new airhne, OpenSkies

20 Available-for-sale financial assets

Group Company
£ mitlan 2008 2007 2008 2007
Availlable-for-sale financial assets 80 107 24 41

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value For listed investments the fair value compnses the market price at the balance sheet date
For unlisted investments the fair value 1s estimated by reference to the discounted cash flow analysts or by reference to other valuation methods

On March 5, 2007 the Group acquired a 15 per cent mvestment in the Flybe Group Ltd in connection with the disposal of the regional business
of BA Connect At March 31, 2007 this investment was valued at £49 milion

The Group performed a review of its investment in the Flybe Group Lid and due 1o an expected significant and protonged decline in far value,
associated with fuel price ncreases the Group recogrised a £6 mill:or impairment of the investment The imparment charge has been reflected
in the iIncome statement refating to other financial assets

Available-for szle investments include investments in listed ordinary shares, which by their nature have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate

The 1able below shows 1otal Iisted and unlisted avaitable-for-sale investments

Group Company
E million 2008 200/ 2008 2007
Listed 13 17
Unhsted 67 S0 24 41

80 107 24 41

21 Inventories

Group Company
E milion 2008 2007 2008 2007
Expendables and consumables 112 76 108 74
22 Trade receivables

Group Company
£ million 2008 2007 2008 2007
Trade receivables 598 670 586 651
Less prowvision for doubtful receivables 12 16 12 16
Net trade receivables 586 654 574 635
Movements in the provision for doubtful trade receivables were as follows
£ milhon Group Company
At Apnil 1, 2006 17 17
Frowvision for doubtful recervables 2 2
Exchange movement on revaluation ) {1)
Recevables written off dunng the year {1 (1
Unused amounts reversed (i} (1)
At March 31, 2007 16 16
Provision for doubtful receivables 7 7
Recervables written off during the year N (7}
Unused amounts reversed 4) (4)
At March 31, 2008 12 12

The fair value of trade recevables is equal to therr carrying value




British Airways 2007/08 Annual Report and Accounts / 105

22 Trade recevables continued
As at March 31, the ageing analysis of trade recewables 1s as follows

Past due but not impaired

Neither
past due

£ mdhon Totat nor rmpaved < 30 days 30-60 days > 60 days
Group
2008 586 578 1 1 6
2007 654 637 9 2 6
Company
2008 574 567 1 1 5
2007 635 624 3 2 [
Trade recervables are generally non-interest-beanng and on 30 days’ terms
23 Other current assets

Group Company
£ millon 2003 2007 2008 2007
Amounts owed by subsidianes 116 99
QOther debtars 103 68 102 68
Prepayments and accrued ncome 205 200 153 169

308 268 3n 336

24 Cash, cash equivalents and other current interest-bearing deposits
a Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
£ million 2008 2007 2008 2007
Cash at bank and in hand 180 594 175 589
Short-term deposits faling due wathin three months 503 119 258 73
Cash and cash equivalents 683 713 433 662
Other current Interest-bearing deposits maturing after three months {,181 1,642 359 1,639
At March 31, 2008 the Group and Company had the following undrawn general and comnitted arcraft financing faclives
milign Currency £ equwvalent
115 dollar facility expiring fune 2010 $266 134
US dolfar faciity expinng December 2015 $115 58
US dollar facility expining December 2015 $509 256
US dotlar faciliiy expinng Decernber 2015 3940 472
US doliar faciity expiring Decernber 2015 $1,615 812
Japanese yen facility expiring january 2011 ¥75,000 381
At March 31, 2007 the Group and Company had the following undrawn general and committed aircraft finanang facthues
milllon Currency £ equwvalent
US doliar faciity expiring December 2007 $172 88
US dollar facility expiring May 2008 $180 92
US dollar facility expining June 2012 $15 8
Japanese yen facility expinng January 201 1 ¥75000 325

The decrease in other current interest-bearing deposits matunng after three months, for the Company, 1s due to the Investment N a new

subsidiary {see note 19)

Cash at bank earns interest at floaung rates based on daly bank deposit rates Short-terrm deposits are made for penods up to three months
depending on the cash requirements of the Group and earn interest based on the floating deposit rates The fair value of cash and cash equivalents

15 £683 million for the Group {2007 £713 million) and for the Company £433 mition (2007 E662 million)
At March 31, 2008 the Group and Company had no outstanding bank overdrafts (2007 £nil}

Included within cash and cash equvalents at March 31 2007 was £560 million held in escrow for the benefit of the NAPS This was subsequently

paid to the pension fund on April 2, 2007
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Notes to the accounts continued

24 Cash, cash equivalents and other interest-bearing deposits continued

Other current Interest-beanng deposits are made for periods in excess of three months with matunity typically within 12 months and earn
interest based on the market rates avaifable at the time the deposit was made

At March 31 2008 the Group and Comparty had unused overdraft faciities of £20 million (2007 £20 muill:ion) and €20 milion (£16 million)
{2007 €20 million (£14 milhon) respecuvely)

The Group and Company held undrawn uncommutted money market ines of £45 mihion as at March 31, 2008 (2007 £45 million)

b Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

Group
£ milion 2008 2007
(Decrease}/increase in cash and cash equivalents dunng the year 1 331
Net cash outflow from decrease in debt and lease financing 424 485
Decrease in current interest-beanng deposits maturing after three months (458) (389)
New loans and finance leases taken cut and hire purchase arrangements made (179 9
Reducuon in finance leases and loans due to disposal of BA Connect 85
Changes in net debt resulting from cash flows (214) 503
Exchange and other non-cash movements (105) 147
Movement i net debt duning the year (319) 650
Net debt at Aprl 1 (991) (1.641)
Net debt ag March 31 (1,310} (991}
¢ Analysis of net debt
Group
Balance at Net Crher Disposal of Balance at
% milon Aprit 1 cash flow non-cash BA Connect Exchange March 31
Cash and cash eguivalents 398 331 {16) 713
Current interest-beaning deposits matuning after three menths 2,042 {389} {1 1,642
Bank and other loans {1,116) 97 57 16 (946}
Finance leasas and hire purchase arrangements (2,965) 388 {3} 28 158 (2,400}
Year to March 31, 2007 {1.641) 427 {9) 85 147 {991)
Cash and cash equivalents 713 m (29 683
Current interest-bearing deposits maturing after three months 1,642 (458) (3 1,181
Bank and other loans (946) 68 2 (876)
Finance leases and hire purchase arrangements (2,400) 184 {7) (75) (2,298)
Year to March 31, 2008 991 (207) N (105) (1.310)
25 Trade and other payables
Group Company
£ million 2008 2007 2008 2007
Trade crediors 648 723 621 697
Unredeemed frequent flyer rabihties 21 24 21 24
Amounts owed to subsidiary companies 1,543 1,515
Other creditors
Qiher creditors 517 S60 572 556
Orher taxation and socal secunty 40 39 40 39
617 599 612 595
Accruals and deferred imncome
Sales in advance of carnage 911 1,008 892 979
Accruals and deferred income 393 372 160 114
1,304 1,380 1,052 1,093
2,550 2,726 3,849 3,924
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Groug Company
£ million 2008 2007 2008 2007
Other creditors 13 5 7
Accruals and deferred income 155 183 125 150
168 188 132 150
27 Long-term borrowings
Group Campany
£ milhon 2008 2007 2008 2007
a Current
Loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements
Bank and other ioans 113 68 102 57
Finance leases® 64 80 73 87
Hire purchase arrangements 246 269 246 269
423 417 421 413
b Non-current
Loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements
Bank and other loans 764 878 554 657
Finance leases* 1,376 1,275 1,567 1,476
Hire purchase arrangements 611 776 611 776
L.oans from subsidianes 239 204
2,751 2,829 2,971 3,713

“Included 1 finance leasas far the Company 15 £200 million (2007 £209 rilion} of finance leases with other subsidiaries of the Group

15 classified as current

Bark and other loans are repayable up to the year 2019 Bank and other loans of the Group amounting (O 1S%132 milhon (

of which £9 mullon (2007 £8 mihon)

2007 LIS$155 muihon)

and £410 million (2007 £437 mifion} and bank loans of the Company amounting to US$t 32 milion (2007 US$155 million) and £1 83 mifiion
(2007 £205 million) are secured on arcraft Euro-sterling notes, other loans and lozns from subsidiary undertakings are not secured Finance
leases and hire purchase arrangements are all secured on awcraft or property assets

¢ Bank and other loans
Bank and other loans comprise the foliowing

Group Company

£ mithon 2008 2007 2008 2007
£250 million fixed rate § 75 per cent eurobonds 2016 248 248 2438 248
£100 million fixed rate 10 875 per cent eurabonds 2008 61 61 61 &1
Floating rate sterling mortgage loans securecd on arrcrait 201 213 153 162
Floaung rate US dollar mortgage loans secured on arcraft 67 79 67 79
Fixed rate sterling mortgage loans secured on aircraft 209 224 36 42
Floaung rate US dollar mortgage ioans not secured on arrcraft 40 45 40 45
European investment bank loans 51 76 51 77
877 946 656 714

Less current instalments due on bank toans 113 638 102 57
764 878 554 657

£250 million fixed rate 8 75 per cent unsecured eurcbonds 2016 are repayable In one nstalment on August 23, 2016

E100 million fixed rate 10 875 per cent unsecured eurobonds 2008 are repayable in one instalment on june 15, 2008

Floating rate sterling mortgage loans are secured on specific aircraft assets of the Group and bear interest of between 0 53 per cent and

059 per cent above LIBOR The loans are repayable between 2015 and 2019

Floating rate US dollar mortgage loans are secured on specific aircraft asseis of the Group and bear interest of between 0 40 per cent and
099 per cent above LIBOR The loans are repayable between 2009 and 2016

Fixed rate sterling mortgage loans are secured an specific arcraft assets of the Group and bear interest at 614 per cent to 7 35 per cent

The loans are repayable between 2012 and 2016

Floaung rate US doliar mortgage loans are unsecured and bear interest of 009 per cent above LIBOR The Ioans are repayable in 2014

European investment bank oans are secured on certain property assets of the Group and bear interest of batween 0 20 per cent below LIBOR
and LIBOR The loans are repayable between 2014 and 2017
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Notes to the accounts continued

27 Long-term borrowings continued

d Total loans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements

Group Company
£ miton 2008 2007 2008 2007
Loans
Bank
LS dollar $211m 3242m $211m $242m
Sterling €461m £514m £240m £282m
568 637 347 405
Euro-sterling notes
Sterling 309 309 309 309
Loans from subsidiary undertakings
Euro €300m €300m|
239 204
Finance leases
US dollar $1,205m $991tm  51,205m $990m
Sterling £834m £849m  £1,034m £1,058m
1,440 1,355 1,640 1,563
Hire purchase arrangements
Japanese yen ¥112,442m ¥129,694m ¥112,442m ¥129,694m
US dollar $89m $104m $89m $104m
Sterling £244m £430m £244m £430m
857 1,045 857 1,045
! 3,174 3,346 3,392 3,526

e Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts

The Group uses finance leases and hire purchase contracts principally to acquire aircraft These leases have both renewal optiens and purchase
optons These are at the option of the Group Future minimum lease payments under finance leases and hire purchase contracts are as follows

Group Company
£ million 2008 2007 2008 200/
Future mimmum payments due
Within one year 389 440 407 458
After more than one year but within five years 1,218 1,298 1,303 1,330
In five years or more 1,268 1,306 1.431 1,500
2,875 3.044 3,141 3,338
Less finance charges allocated to future periods 578 644 644 730
Present value of minimum lease payments 2,297 2,400 2,497 2,608
The present value of minimum lease payments 1s analysed as follows
Within one year 310 349 319 348
After more than one year but within five years 989 1,048 1,040 1,102
In five years or more 998 1,003 1,138 1,158
2,297 2,400 2,497 2.608
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The Group has entered to commeraizl leases on certain properties, equipment and aircraft These leases have durations ranging from five years
for arcraft ta 150 years for ground leases Certain leases contain options for renewat

a Fleet
The aggregate payments, for which there are commiimentis under operating leases as at March 31, fall due as follows
Group Company
£ million 2008 2607 2008 2007
whthin one year 17 81 62 65
Between one and five years 169 141 143 103
Over five years 17 27 17 27
263 249 222 195

b Property and equipment

The aggregate payments, for winch there are commitments under operating leases as at March 31, fall due as follows

Group Company

£ million 2008 2007 2008 2007
Within one year 86 88 82 83
Between one and five years 244 181 229 165
Ower five years, ranging up o the year 2145 1,612 1,483 1,603 1471
1,942 1,752 1,914 1,719

The Group and Company sub-leases surplus rental properties and aircraft assets held under nan-cancellable leases to third parties and subsidiary
companies These leases have remaining terms of cne to eight years and the assets are surplus to the Group's requirements

Future mimmuen rentals recevable under non-cancellable operaung leases are as follows

Group Company

£ milion 2008 2007 2008 2007
Fleet
Within one year [ 6 1 2
Between one and five years 13 16

19 22 3 2
Property and equipment
Within one year 5 2 5 {
Between one and five years 19 4 19 4
Over five years 1 1 1 1

25 7 25 6
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29 Prowvisions for iabilities and charges

Graup
Restoration
insurance Onerous  and hardback
£ milhon provisions  lease contracts ProvisIons Severance Litigation COther Total
At Apnl 1, 2007
Current 1 16 38 355 410
Noen-current 27 26 91 9 153
27 27 107 38 355 ] 563
Ansing duning the year 8 2 23 6 8 1 48
Utilised (7} {11) (32) (153} (203)
Release of unused amounts (13) (11} (9) 5 (38)
Uinwinding of discount 2 8 10
At March 31, 2008 22 11 112 7 218 10 380
Analysis
Current 29 7 134 170
Non-current 22 11 83 84 10 210
22 11 112 7 218 10 380
Company
Restoranon
Onerous  and handback
£ milion Jease contracts Provisions Severance Liuganen Qther Total
At April 1, 2007
Current 16 34 355 405
Non-current 18 87 9 114
18 103 34 355 9 519
Ansmg dunng the year 2 23 6 8 1 40
Uuiised G} {11) (30 (153) (200)
Release of unused amounts (3} (8) {5) (16)
Unwinding of discount 2 8 10
At March 31, 2008 11 109 5 218 10 353
Analysis
Current 29 5 134 168
Non-current 11 80 84 10 185
11 109 5 218 10 353

Insurance provisions relate to provisions held by the Group's captive insurer, Speedbird Insurance Company Limited, for incurred but not
reported losses Such prowisions are held untl such tme as further claims are considered unlikely under the respective insurance policies

The onerous lease provision relates partly to the sub-lease of five Jetstrearn 41 aireraft to Eastern Airways and six Avro Rj 100 aircraft 1o Swiss
International Air Lines This provision will be fully utilised by October 2011 In addiien, the provision mcludes amounts relating to properties
leased by the Group that are either sub-feased to third parties or are vacant with no immediate intention to utibse the property This provision
will be fully utilised by Apnl 2045

Restoration and handback costs include provision for the costs to meet the contractual return canditions on aircraft held under operating leases
The provision also includes ameunts relaung to feased land and burldings where restoration costs are contractually required at the end of the
lease Where such costs anise as a result of capital expenditure on the leased asset, the restorauon costs are also capitalised This provision will
be unised by March 2145

The severance provision at March 31, 2008 relates 1o commiited voluntary severance costs expected to be paid duning the next financial year

The Company has settled $300 million (£149 millien) in respect of all invesugations into 1ts cargo and passenger business in the US with the
Department of Justice It has agreed a settlement of £121 5 mulion with the Office of Fair Trading in respect of longhaul passenger fuel surcharges
These amounts are included within the itigation analysis above There are ongoing invesugauons into the Company's cargo surcharges by the
European Commission and ather jurisdictions These investigations are likely to continue for some tme The Company is also subject to related
class action claims The final amount required to pay the remaining clams and fings s subject to uncertainty A detailed breakdown of the remaining
provision Is not presented as 1t may senously prejudice the posiuon of the Company in these regulatory investigations and potenttal litigation

Qther provisions include staff leaving indemmities relating to amounts due to staff under vanous overseas contraciual arrangements
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30 Financial sk management obyectives and policies

The Group 15 exposed 10 a variety of financial nsks market risk (including foreign currency sk, interest rate risk and fuel price nsk), credit nsk
and hquidity sk The Group's overall sk management grogramme focuses on the unpredictabiity of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects an the Group’s financal performance

The Group enters into denvatve transactions in order to manage certain market nsks All such transactions are carned out within guidelines
approved by the Board

Group treasury carnes out financial nsk management under governance approved by the Board Group treasury identifies, evaluates and
hedges financial risks The Board provides written principles for overall nsk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas,
such as foreign exchange risk, nterest rate nsk, credit risk, use of dervauve financial mstruments and investment of excess iquidity

a Fuel price nsk

The Group 15 exposed to fuel price risk The Group’s fuel pnce risk management strategy aims to provide the arrhine with protection against
sudden and significant increases in oil prices while ensuring that the airline 1s not competitively disadvantaged ih a Serious way in the event
of a substanual fall i the price of fuel

In meeting these objactives, the fuel risk managerment programme allows far the judicious use of a number of derwatives avallable on the
QOver The Counter [OTC) markets with approved counterparties and within approved limits

The following table demonstrates the sensiuvity of financial instruments to a reasonably possible change in fugl prices with all othes variables
heid constant, on profit before tax and equity

Group Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
Increase/ Effect on Effect on Increase/ Effecton Effect on

decrease in profit Effect on profit Effect on decrease in profit tffecton profit Effect on
fuel price before tax equity before tax equily fuel price before tax equity before tox equity
per cent £ milhon £ mihon £ mifhon £ maihon per cent £ million £ milkon £ midtion { mmithion
10 14 166 6 70 10 14 166 6 70
(10) (1) (163) {11} {59) 10 (11) {163) (11 (59)

b Foreign currency risk

The Group s exposed to currency nsk on revenue purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than sterling

The currencies in which these transactions are primarily denominated are euro, US dollar and Japanese yen The Group generates a surplus
10 most currencies 1n which it does business The US dollar can be an excepuion as capital expenditure debt repayments and fuel payments
denominated in US dollars can create a deficit

The Group can experience adverse or beneficial effects ansing from foreign exchange rate movernents The Group seeks to reduce foreign
exchange exposures ansing from transactions In vanious currencies through a policy of matching, as far as possible, receipts and payments
In each individual currency Surpluses of convertible currencies are sold, either spot or forward, for US dollars or sterling

The Group has substantial iabiliues denominated in yen and US dollars
The Group utilises its yen debt repayments as a hedge of future US dollar and yen revenues

Forward foreign exchange contracts and currency cptions are used to cover near-term future revenues and operatng payments 1 a varety
of currencies
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30 Financial sk management objectives and policies continued
The following table demonstrates the sensiuvity of financial instrumenits to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar, Japanese yen and euro
exchange rates, with all other vanables held constant, on profit before tax and equity

Strengthening/ Effect on Strengthening/ Effect on Strengthemng/ Effect on
{weakening) n profit Effecton  (weakemng)in profit Effecton  (weakening) in profiy Effect on
US dollar raze befare tax equity fapanese yen rate befare tax equity euro rate before 1ax equity
per cent £ million E million per cent £ million £ milhon per cent £ milion £ million
Group .
2008 10 (4) (42) 10 N (57) 10 (2} (26}
(10} 3 32 (10} 5 47 (1) 2 22
2007 10 {8} {49) o {8) {439) 10 (i)
{10} 7 38 (10} 6 40 {10) 10
Company
2008 10 (6) (42) 10 7 (57 10 2) (26) !
(10) 5 32 (10 5 47 (10} 2 22
2007 10 {10) {49) 10 (8) 48) 10 (1
{ia} 8 36 {10) 6 40 {10) 1o

¢ Interest rate risk

The Group 1s exposed to changes in interest rates on floating debt and cash deposits

The following table lustrates the sensitvity of financizl instruments on profit before tax for the year 1o a reasonably possible change in interest
rates, with effect from the beginming of the year There was no impact on shareholders’ equity These changes are considered to be reasanably
possible based on cbservation of current market conditions The calculations are based on financial nstruments held at each baiance sheet date
All other vanables were held constant

March 31, 2008
Effect on profit before tax
100 basis powmts 100 basis poants
£ million NCrease decrease
Group
Vanable rate instruments 3 (3)
Company
Variable rate instruments 3 3
March 31, 2007
Effect on profit before tax
100 basis pownts 100 basis paints
£ million mcrease decrease
Group
Variable rate instruments 4 {4)
Interest rate swap ! {1
Company
Vanable rate nstruments 4 )
Interest rate swap ! {1)
d Credit sk

The Group 15 exposed 1o credn risk 1o the extent of non-performance by its counterparties in respect of financial assets recervable However, the
Group has policies and procedures in place to ensure credit nisk is hited by placing ¢redit imits on each counterparty The Group continucusly
monitors counterparty credit imits and defaults of counterparues, incorporaung this information into credit nsk controls 1tis the Group's policy
that all counterparties who wish to trade an credit terms are subject to credit venfication procedures

The maximum expasure to credit risk 1s imited to the carrying value of each class of asset as summansed in note 31

The Group does not hold any colfateral to mitigate this exposure Credit risks anising from acting as guarantor are disclosed in note 36
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30 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

e Liguidity nsk

Prudent iquidity nisk management includes mantaining su
amount of ¢redit facsives and the ability 10 close out market positions

maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining avaiiabihty under commuitted credit hines

fficient cash and interest-beanng deposits, the avaability of funding from an adequate
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, Group treasury

The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and liabilities into relevant matunty groupings based on the remaining period at the balance
sheat to the contractual matunty date The amounts disciosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and include interest

Group
Within More than Total
£ millen & months 6-12 montihs 1-2 years 2 5 years 5 years 2008
Cash and cash equivalents 683 683
QOther current interest-bearnng deposits 861 360 1.221
Trade recevables 586 586
Interest-beanng loans and borrowings.
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations (169) {220} (523) (695) (1,268) (2,875)
Fixed rate borrowings (98} 21 (51) (150) {468) (788)
Floaung rate borrowings 20y (37) (56) (143) 211) (467)
Trade and other payables (1,163) (1,163)
Derwative financial instruments
Crass currency swaps m 1) 2)
Forward currency contracts {15) (4) m (20)
Fuel dervatives (20) {18) (18) {12) (68)
Forward currency contracts 5 3 8
Fuel denvatives 170 100 68 i2 350
820 163 (581) (989) {1,948) (2,535)
Group
Within More than Total
£ muion 6 months §-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 yrors 5 years 2007
Cash and cash equivalents 713 713
Other current interest-bearing deposits 1.016 707 1,723
Trade receivables 654 654
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations {252} {188} {373) {925) (1,306) {3,044)
Fixed rate borrowings (37} (42} (113} {155) {513} (866}
Floatung rate borrowings {22) 34) {59} {158} (261) {535]
Trade and other payables {1,230) {1.230)
Dervative financial instruments
Farward currency contracts {2) m 3]
Fuel derwvatives (n {14) {6} 21)
Interest raie swaps 2 2
Forward currency contracts ! !
Fuel denvatives 9 56 8 33
859 486 {549) {1,239) (2,080} {2.523)
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30 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued

Campany
Within More than Total
E milion 6 months  §-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years 2008
Cash and cash equivalents 433 433
Cther current interest-bearing deposits 414 414
Trade recevables 574 574
Interest-bearing loans and borrawings
Finance lease and hire purchase obhigations (182) (223) (543) (760} (1,431) (3,141)
Fixed rate borrowings (92) 24) (47) (138) {586) (1.287)
Floating rate borrowings (18) 33 5N (126) (172} (400)
Trade and other payables (2679) (2,679)
Derwative financial instruments
Cross currency swaps n M (2)
Forward currency contracts (15} 4) m (20)
Fuei denvatives (20) 18) 8 12 {68)
Forward currency contracts 5 3 8
Fuel denvatves 170 100 68 12 350
(1,410) {201) {592) (1.025) (2,590} (5.818)
Company
Witfim More thon Total
€ muthon 6 months 6- 1.2 months 1-2 yeors 2-5 years 5 years 20067
Cash and cash equivalents 662 662
Other current mterest-bearing depesits 1,016 704 1,720
Trade recewvables 635 635
interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Finance lease and hire purchase obligations {265) {193} (392} (988) {1,500) (3,338)
Fixed rate porrowings {29) (44) {113} {136) {930) (1,252)
Floating rate borrowings {21) (30) {54) (143) {214} (462)
Trade and other payables (2,719) (2.719)
Derivauve financial instruments
Forward currency contracts (2} (1) (3)
Fuel dervatives o (14) (6} {21)
interest rate swaps 2 z
Forward currency contracts ! 1
Fuel dervatives 19 56 8 83
(704} 480 (557) {1,267} {2.644) (4,692)

f Capital sk management

The Greup's objectives when managmg capital are 1o safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an opumal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital

Consistent wath others in the industry the Group monitors capital on the basis of the geanng ratio, net debt as a percentage of total capital Net debt
i1 defined as the total borrowings, finance leases and hire purchase liabilities, net interest-bearing deposits and cash and cash equivalents less overdrafts
See note 24 for details of the calculation of net debt Total capital 15 defined as the total of capital reserves minority interests and net debt

The gearing ratios at March 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows

£ million (except ratios) 2008 2007
Capital reserves 3,033 2,211
Add minonity interests 200 200
Total equity 3,233 2411
Net debt (a) 1,310 991
Total capital (b) 4,543 3,402
Gearng ratio (a)/(b) 288 291

The decrease n the gearing ratio duning 2008 resulted primanly from increased equity due to higher operating profit The impact of this on the
geaning rat was partially offset by the mcreased borrowings relating 1o the purchase of three Aurbus 320s and lower cash balances as a result
of the £610 milhon cash injection into NAPS together with the $300 million (£ 149 million) payment made to the US Department of Justice in

respect of anti-competitive activity

»
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31 Financial instruments

a Fair values of financial assets and financial habilities
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's finanaial assets and habiliies at March 31, 2008 are set out below

Group Company
£ million Carrying value Faivalue  Carrying value Farr value
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 683 683 433 433
Other liquid deposits maturing over three months 1,181 1,181 399 359
Availlable-for-sale financial assets 80 80 24 24
Farward currency Contracts 8 8 8 8
Fuel dernivatives 350 350 350 350
Financial habiities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Finance lease and hire purchase abligations 2,297 2,324 2,497 2,526

Fixed rate borrowings 518 526 584 586

Floating rate borrowings 359 359 3 eI
Cross currency swaps 2 2 2 2
Forward currency contracts 20 20 20 20
Fuel denvatves 68 68 68 68
The farr values of the Group’s financial assets and habites at March 31, 2007 are set out below

Group Company

£ milon Carrying value Farvolue  Carrying value Farr velue
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 713 713 662 662
QOther hquid deposits maturing over three monchs 1,642 1,642 1,639 1,639
Avallable-for-sale financial assets 107 107 4] 41
Interest rate swap arrangements 2 2 2 2
Forward cutrency contracts ! ! 1 !
Fuel dervatves 83 83 33 83
Financial habulities
interest-bearing lozns and borrowings

Finance tease and hire purchase obligauons 2,400 2,406 2,608 24815

Fixed rate borrowings 553 592 575 605

Floaung rate borrowings 393 393 343 343
Forward currency contracts 3 3 3 3
Fuel dervatives 21 21 21 21

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Group In esumating its fair value disclosures for financial instruments

Available-for-sale financial assets and loan notes
« Listed fixed asset investments are stated at market value as at March 31, 2008 For other Investments the fair value 1s estimated by reference
to a discounted cash flow that 1s not expected 10 reverse

Bank and other loans, finance leases, hire purchase arrangements and the non-Japanese yen denorminated portions of hire
purchase arrangements carrying fixed rates of nterest
« The repayments which the Group 15 commutted to make have been discounted at the relevant interest rates apphicable at March 31, 2008

Japanese yen denominated portions of hire purchase arrangements carrying fixed rates of interest

» These amounts relate to the tax equity partions of Japanese leveraged leases which are personal to the Group, cannot be assigned and could
not be refinanced or replaced in the same cross border market on 2 marked-to-market basis and accordingly, a fair value cannot be determined
The carrying value of £569 million (2007 £561 miflion) has therefore been included as the fair value above

Euro-sterling notes and Euro-sterling bond 2016
* Quoted market value
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31 Financial instruments continued
b Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate Swaps

« Discounted cash flow analyss, to determmine the esumated amount the Group would recemve or pay to terminate the agreements

Forward currency transactions
= The marked-to-market value of the instiuments

Over The Counter (OTC) fuel derivatives
* The marked-to-market value of the instruments

¢ Hedges
1 Cash flow hedges

At March 31 2008 the Group and Company held four principal risk management activities that were designated as hedges of future forecast

transactions These were

A hedge of a proporuion of future long-term revenue recespts by future debt repayments in foreign currency hedging future foreign exchange nsk

A hedge of certain short-term revenue receipts by foreign exchange contracts hedging future foreign exchange risk

A hedge of certain short-term foreign currency operational payments by forward exchange contracts hedging future foreign exchange risk

A hedge of future jet fuel purchases by forward crude, gas ol and jet kerosene denvative cantracts hedging future fuel price nsk

To the extent that the hedges were assessed as highly effective, a summary of the amounts included in equity and the periods i which the

related cash flows are expected to occur are summarnsed below

March 31, 2008

Group
More than
E milhon 0-6 months 6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years Total
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue m m (5) {(10) a7
Forward contraces to hedge future payments 10 1 1 12
Hedges of future fuel purchases (148) {94) (45} (2) (289)
(139) 94 (44) 7 {10) (294)
Related deferred tax charge 83
Total amount included within equity (211)
Notional value of financial instruments used as cash flow hedging instruments
Group Company
Nononal Notonal
£ mithan amount amount
To hedge future currency revenues against LIS dollars $143m $143m
To hedge future currency revenues against sterling £235m £235m
To hedge future operating payments against US dollars $440m $440m
Hedges of future fuel purchases $4,143m  $4,143m
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue — Japanese yen ¥100,798m ¥100,798m
- US dollars $1,307m  $1,307m
March 31, 2007
Group
More thon
£ million G-6 manths 6-12 months 1-2 yeors 2-5 years S years Toral
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue 4 1 5 39 44 93
Forward contracts to hedge future payments (1) {1 {2)
Hedges of future fuel purchases 29 g 2 40
32 L) 7 39 44 131
Related deferred tax charge {39)
92

Total amount included within equity
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31 Financial Instruments continued
Notional value of financial instruments used as cash flow hedging instruments

Group Company

Notonal Notonal

£ mulltion amount amount
To hedge future currency revenues against US dollars $73m $73m
To hedge fulure currency revenues against stering f£i44m £144m
To hedge future operating payments agamst US dolfars $261m $26im
Medges of future fuel purchases 52,440m $2,440m
Debt repayments to hedge future revenue — Japanese yen ¥118,729m ¥118,729m
— US dolfars $1,140m 31, 140m

The ineffectve portion recognised in the income statement that anses from cash flow hedges amounts 1o a gain of £12 milion (2006/07 £1 2 millon toss)

i Fair value hedges
The Group has no hedges designated as farr value hedges

m Net investments in foreign operations
The Group has no hedges designated as hedges of net iInvestments in foreign operations

Company
The Company undertakes hedging actmties on behalf of other companies within the Group and performs the treasury activities of the Group
centrally As a resuit, the disclosures above apply to the Company as for the Group

32 Share caprtal !

Group and Cornpany

2008 2007
Number of Number of

Qrdinary shares of 25 pence each shares 000s £ milhans shares 000s £ miffons
Authorised
At April 1 and March 31 1,512,000 378 1,512,000 378
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At April 1 1,151,575 288 1,130,882 283
Exercise of options under Employee Share Opuons Schemes 1,530 - 20,693 5
At March 31 1,153,105 288 1,151,575 288

33 Share options

The Group operates share-based payment schemes as part of the total remuneration package provided 1o employees - these schemes COmprise
both share option schemes whese employees acquire shares at a grant price and share award plans whereby shares are issued o employees 2t no
cost, subject to the actnevement by the Group of specified performance targets Details of the performance criterta to be met for each of the
schemes, and details of the awards (o the directars, are set out In the Remuneration report on pages 651073

a Share Option Plan 1999

The Briush Airways Share Opuon Plan granted options to qualifying employees based on performance at an option price which was not less than
the market price of the share at the date of the grant {or the norminal value if shares are 1o be subscribed and this value 15 greater than the market
value) The opuons are subject 1o a three-year vesting period Llpon vesung, options may be exercised at any ume untd the 10th anniversary of
the date of grant with the exception of grants made during 2004/05 when there will be a single re-test after a further year which will measure
performance of the Group over the four-year penod from the Gate of grant No further grants of opsons under the Share Opuon Plan will be
made other than those during 2005/06 1 refation to performance during 2004/05 (for which there will be no re-testing)

b Long Term Incentive Plan

The Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) awarded opuions to semor executives conditional upon the Company’s achieverment of a performance
condition measured over three financal years If granted, all options are immediately exercisable for seven years and no payment 1s due upen
exercise of the options Mo further awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan have been made since June 16, 2004
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33 Share options continued

¢ Performance Share Plan

From 2005 the Group introduced a Performance Share Plan for senior executives Options over shares witl be awarded condiuonal on the
achievement of a variety of performance conditions and will vest after three years subject to the executive remaining employed by the Group
A further award will be made that will vest based on the achievement of perfarmance conditions over the following three financial years No
payment s due upon exercise of the options Executives awarded shares under the Performance Share Plan will be expected to retain no fewer
than 50 per cent of the shares (net of tax) which vest from the new schemes untit they have built up a shareholding equivalent to 100 per cent
of basic salary

d Deferred Share Plan

In 2006 the Group ntroduced a Deferred Share Plan (DSP) granted to qualifying employees based on performance and service tests It will

be awarded when a bonus is triggered subject ta the employee remaining in employment with the Group for three years after the grant date
The relevant management populaton will receive a percentage of their bonus in ¢ash and the remaining percentage in shares through the DSP
The maximum deferral 1s 50 per cent

e Share option summary

Group and Company
Daferrad Share Plan Performance Share Plan LTiPs Share Opuion Plan
Weighted weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average Number average Number average average
of shares fair value of shares fair value of shares farr value of shares  exercise pnce faw value
000s £ 000s £ 000s £ 000s £ £
Qutstanding at Apnl 1, 2006* 1,789 4,395 42,047 257
Granted in the year 843 184 1,101 435
Exercised during the year *™*/*** (2,336} {20,689) 238
Expired/canc elled {13} (247) {576) (2,018) 281
Qutstanding az Apnl 1 2007 830 2,643 1,483 19,340 274
Granted in the year 1,444 261
Exercised during the year **/*** (157) (1,530) 271
Expired/cancelled (43) (191) (44) (896) 273
Outstanding at Apnl 1, 2008 787 3,896 1,282 16,914 275
Options exercisable
At March 31, 2008 7 484 1,282 11,413 274
At March 31, 2007 1,483 7,642 282
Range of exercise prices at March 31, 2008 for Share Option Plan
Options cutstanding QOplons exercsable
Weghted Weighted Weghted
Number average average Number average
of shares remaining ife  exercise price of shares  exercise price
Ranga of exercise prices Q00s {years) £ £
£157-£261 2,784 482 167 2,784 167
£262-£320 10,073 679 270 4,572 262
£321-£394 4,057 240 361 4,057 361
16514 541 275 11,413 274
Range of exercise prices at March 31, 2007 for Share Option Plan
Options outstonding Ophions exercisable
Weighted Werghted Weighted
Number uveruge average Number average
of shares remoning iife EXEYLiSe price of shores BXEICISE price
Range of exercse pnces 000 {years) £ 000s £
£157-£261 3,024 584 167 3,024 167
£262-£320 11,848 776 269 150 264
£321-£394 4,468 342 361 4,468 367
19,340 646 274 7,642 282

*  Included vathin thes balance are opuons over 5235 228 (2007 5708 227) shares that have not been recognised t accordance with IFRS 2 as the opuons were granted
on or before November 7 2002 These opuons have not been subsequently modified and therefore go not need 10 be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2

** The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for the opuons exercised 1s £4 19 (2007 £504)
** Part of the exercise of share options during the year met through shares previously held by Briush Airways Employee Benefits Trust (Jersey) Limiied

For the share options outstanding as at March 31, 2008 the weighted average remamning contractual Iife is five years (2007 six years)
For options granted during the year the weighted average option hfe was three years (2007 three years)
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33 Share options continued

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted 1s esumated as at the date of grant using a binomial
the terms and conditions Uipon which the options were granted The following table ists the inputs 10 T

tattice or Monte-Carlo model, taking Nt account
he models for the options granted in the year

2008 2007

Expected share price volaulity (per cent} 24 28
Historical volaulity (per cent) 24 28
Expected comparator group volatiiity (per cent) 19-96 19-116
Expected comparator correlation (per cent) 28 23
Expected life of options (years) 3 3
403 494

Weighted average share price

The expected life of the options is based on histancal data and 1 not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur Volatlity was calculated

with reference to the Group's weekly share price volaulity The expected volatilty reflects the assumption that the h

istonical volatility 1s indicative of future

trends, which may alse not necessarlly be the actual outcome The fair value of the Performance Share Pians also takes into account a market condition of

tatal shareholder returns as cornpared to strategic competitors No ather features of options granted were

The share-based payments charge has been recorded in the income statement as follows

incorporated mto the measurement of fair value

1234 311 JO MBIAIBAD

Included within minonity nterests are €300 million of 6 75 per cent fixed coupen euro perpetual preferred secunues issued by Brinsh Airways Finance (fersey) L.P 11 which
the general partner 15 British Asrways Holdings Limuted a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company The hotgers of these secunties have no nghts against Group undertakings
other than the 1ssuing enbty and, to the extent prescribed by the subordinated guarantee, the Company The effect of the securiies on the Group as a whele taking into
accoun: the subordinate guarantee and other suTounding arrangements 1 that the obliganions to transfer economic benefits In connecuon with the securiies do not go
beyond those that would normally attach to preference shares issued by a LK company

*+On November 15 2006 the Group acquired the minonty nzerest held by American Airiines in BA & AA Holdings the subsidiary that held the Groups interest in Iberia
The consideration paid was £13 million

2
£ mithon 2008 2007 E
<
Employee cCosts 3 10 2
IR
34 Other reserves and minority interests o
a Group 3
Group =4
Retaned Unrealised Currency Minority 2
£ mithon earmings gans and losses ranslation Totat mteres.s” g
Balance at Apnl 1, 2006 589 160 1 6590 213 3
Profit for the penod attributable 1o shareholders 290 290 g
Exchange differences and other movements (3) {3) Z
Share-based payments 10 0 -
Tax effect of share-based payments 18 18
Fair value of cash flow hedges ransferred to passenger revenue (3) {(3)
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and o1l costs {(61) (61} O
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to currency differences 12 i2 g
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges 48 48 ]
Share of other movements in reserves of associates 8 8 Jid
Purchase of minority interests** (13} %
Net gains an avallzble-for-sate financial assets 3 3 3
Total income and expense for the period 326 1 3} 322 (13 i3
Exercise of share options {12) {12}
Balance at March 31, 2007 903 99 {2} 1,000 200
Profit for the period attnbutable to shareholders 680 630
Exchange differences and other movements 24 24 -
Share-based payments 3 3 ]
Tax effect of share-based payments (N V)] 2
Deferred tax ~ rate change adjustment & 6 z
Far value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue {5) 5) =
Farr value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and ol costs {136) {136) g
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred 1o currency differences 15 15 3
Net change in fair value of cash flow hedges 245 245 “'
Share of other movements In reserves of associates 2) (2)
Net losses on avallable-for-sale financial assets {5} (5}
Total income and expense for the period 680 114 24 818 1
Balance at March 31, 2008 1,583 213 22 1,818 200 |
a
3
o
g
g
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34 Other reserves and minority interests continued

b Company

Company

Retained tnrealised

£ million earmings gans and losses Total
Balance at Apnl ¥, 2006 557 96 653
Profit for the penod attributable to shareholders 18 8
Share-based payments 10 10
Tax effect of share-based payments 18 18
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue {(3) 3)
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to fuel and ail costs (et) 61)
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to currency differences 12 i2
Net change i fair value of cash flow hedges 48 48
Total income and expense for the penod 46 {4) 42
Exercise of share options (12) (12)
Balance at March 31, 2007 591 92 683
Prchit for the period attributable to shareholders 540 540
Share-based payments 3 3
Tax effect of share-based payments (73 (7N
Deferred tax — rate change adjustment & 6
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to passenger revenue (5) (5
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred 1o fuel and ol costs {136) (136)
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to currency differences 15 15
Net change In fair value of cash flow hedges 245 245
Deferred tax related to fair vaiue movements
Total income and expense for the penod 542 119 661
Balance at March 31, 2008 1,133 211 1,344

The unrealised gains and losses reserve records fair value changes on availlable-for-sale investrments and the portion of the gain or loss on
a hedging instrument in 2 cash flow hedge that 1s determined to be an effective hedge

The currency translation reserve is ssed to record exchange differences ansing from the translauion of the financial statements of foreign
subsidianes and associates

Totai shareholders' equity also includes the balance classified as share capital that includes the total net proceeds (both nominal value and
share prermium) on issue of the Company's equity share capital, compnsing 25 pence ordinary shares nvestment in own shares consists of
shares held by Briush Airways Employee Benefits Trust {Jersey) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary, for the purposes of the Employee Share
Ownership plans including the Long Term Incentive Plan At March 31, 2008 the Group and Company held 2 087 147 shares for the Long
Term Incentwve Plan and cther employee share schemes (2007 1,994,079 shares) The purchase of shares was financed by the Company
granting a loan to British Airways Employee Benefits Trust (Jersey) Limited

35 Pension costs

The Company operates two funded pnncipal defined benefit pension schemes in the LIK, the Airways Pension Scheme (APS) and the New Airways
Pension Scheme (NAPS) both of which are closed to new members APS has been closed to new members since March 31, 1984 and NAPS
closed to new members on March 3%, 2003 From Apri 1, 2003 the Company commenced a new defined contrbution scheme, the Brniish
Arrways Retirement Plan (BARP) of which all new permanent employees over the age of 18 employed by the Company and certain subsidiary
undertakings in the UK may become members The assets of the scheme are held in separate trustee-administered funds Benefits provided
under APS are based on final average pensionable pay and, for the majority of members, are subject to Increases In payment it Iine with the
Retail Price Index (RP!) Those provided under NAPS are based on final average pensionable pay reduced by an amount (the ‘abatement’) not
exceeding one and a half times the government’s lower earnings limit NAPS benefits are subject to RPl increases in payment up 1o a maximum
of 5 per cent In any one year
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35 Pension costs continued

In February 2007, following consultaton with members and agreement with the Trustees, the Group amended NAPS for fuiure service 1o restnct
future increases In pensionable pay 1o RPI and increase the normal retrement age to 65 The change In scheme rules to restrict future increases in
pensionable pay was treated as a curtailment under IAS 19, resulting in a £396 mullion credit, due to the reduction of the Defined Benefit Obligauon
for NAPS In addinon, the Group agreed to make a one-off cash imjection of £800 milton into NAPS, of which £240 milhon was paid in February 2007,
with the remaining balance of £560 million paid in April 2007 and an 2ddmional £50 milion was paid 1n March 2008 The Group also agreed 1o
make annual contributions of approximately £280 milkon a year for the next 10 years, and 1ssued guarantees of up to £1 00 mullion over the next
1wo years, subject to financial performance The Group also 1ssued 10 APS, guarantees of up 1o £230 million over the next nine years

Mast employees engaged outsice the UK are covered by appropnate local arrangements The Company provides certain additional post-retrement
healthcare benefits to eligible employees in the US The Company participates in 2 mutt-employer defined benefit plan operated in the UsS by
the International Association of Machinists (lAM) and presents the plan in the financial statements as If it were a defined contribution plan as s
not possible to allocate the assets and habiiues of the scheme due to the nature of the scheme Contnbunons to the IAM pian were £1 9 mifion
(2007 £1 8 mullion)

Pension contributions for APS and NAPS were determined by actuanal valuations made as at March 31, 2006 using assumptions and methodologes
agreed between the Campany and the Trustees of each scherme Al the date of the actuanal valuauon, the market values of the assets of APS and
NAPS amounted to £6,650 millon and £5,832 million respectively The value of the assets represented 100 per cent (APS) and 74 per cent (NAPS)
of the value of the benefits that had accrued to members after allowing for assurned ncreases in earnings These valuations showed that employer
contributions at an average rate of 34 6 per cent of pensionable pay for APS and 20 7 per cent of pensionable pay for NAPS were appropriate
from Apnl 1, 2007 (from Aprdl 1, 2006 to March 31, 2007 the contributions were expressed as a multiple of standard employees’ contributions,
375 umes for APS, 2 & umes for NAPS} For NAPS, the contribution rate to be paid by the employer from Aprl 1, 2007 depends on the normal
retirement age chosen by members

Employer contrbutions in respect of overseas employees have been determined in accordance with best local practice

Total employer contnbutions to defined contribution pension plans both in the UK and overseas for the year were £17 milon (2007 E14 miltion)
The Company's contributions 16 APS and NAPS in the next year as determined by the actuanial review completed in March 2006 and agreement
with the Trustees are expected to be approximately £305 milion

Emplayee benefit obligatians comprise
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Group
£ million 2008 2607
Obligations ansing under defined benefit pension plans and post-retirement benefits 204 1,021
Obligations ansing under post-retrement medicat benefit plans 116 109
Total obligations ansing under post-retirement benefits 320 1,130
Other employee benefit obligations 10 12
330 1,142
The assets and liabilities of the schemes at March 31 are
Year ended March 31, 2008
Employee benafit obligatons Emptoyee benefit assats
£ mihon NAPS  Other schemes Total APS  (nher schemes Toral
Scheme assets at fair value
Equities 4,488 147 4,635 1,033 20 1,053
Bonds 1,882 68 1950 5,079 15 5094 |3
Others 578 6 984 556 556 3
Fair value of scheme assets 7.348 21 7,569 6,668 35 6,703 by
Present value of scheme habilies 7,705 384 8,089 5,432 29 5,461 g
(357 {163) (52Q) 1,236 6 1,242 3
APS irrecoverable surplus 1,159 1,159 2
Net pensian (hability)/asset (357) (163) (520) 77 6 83 |
Net pension {hability)/asset represented by
Net pension (fiabshty)/asset recognised (148) {(172) (320) 77 8 85 &
Cumulative actuanial (losses)/gains not recognised (209) 9 (200) (2) {2) E
o
35N {163) (5203 77 6 a3 2
3
o
3
2
g
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35 Pension costs continued
Year ended March 31, 2007

Empioyee benefit obhigotions Empioyce benefit assers
E mithon NAPS  Qrther schemes Totaf APS  Other schemes Totaf
Scheme assets at fair value
Equities 4,359 169 4,528 1,610 20 1,630
Bonds 1,604 &7 1,671 4,023 14 4,037
Others 590 2 592 858 858
Fair value of scheme assets 6,553 238 5,791 6,491 34 6,525
Present value of scheme habilities 8,110 397 8,507 6,076 27 6,103
{1,557} {159) (1,716} 415 7 422
APS irrecoverable surplus 306 306
Net pension {iability}/asset {1,557} {159) {1,716} 109 7 116
Net pension (hability)/asset represented by
Net pension {liability)/asset recognised {964} {166) (1.130) 109 7 116
Cumulative actuanal (Josses)/gans not recognised (593} 7 {586}
{1.557) {159) {1,716} 109 7 116

The pension plans have not Invested in any of the Group’s own financial instruments nor in properties or other assets used by the Group

The amounts recogrused in the income statement for the year are analysed as follows

Year ended March 31, 2008

Employee benrefit obligarons

Empioyee benefit assets

£ milhon NAPS  Other schemes Total APS  Other schemes Total
Current service cost 170 7 177 20 20
Past service cost 1 1 1 1
Recogrised i arriving at operating profit 171 7 178 21 21
Expected return on scheme assets (495) (18) (513} (341) (2) (343)
Immediate recogrmuon of losses and the effect of the asset celing 55 55
Interest costs on scheme habilities 425 23 448 38 1 319
Other finance cost {(70) 5 (65} 32 (1) 31
Year ended March 31, 2007

Employee benefit oblieations Employee banefit ossers
£ mdhon NAPS  Other schemes Totol APS  Other schemes Torat
Current service cost 264 7 271 23 23
Past service cost 29 29 10 10
Credit ansing on changes to penston scheme £396) {396)
Recognised in arnving at operating praofit {103) 7 (96} 33 33
Expected return on scheme assets {392} {18) {410} (330} {2) {332)
Immediate recognition of losses and the effect of the asset cefing 64 64
Interest costs on scheme liabitities 388 23 411 284 ! 285
Amortisation of actuanal losses in excess of the corndor ! {
QOther finance cost {4} [ 2 18 &2 17
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35 Pension costs continued
The amount of unrecognised cumulative actuanal gains and losses is as follows

Empioyee banefit obligations Employee benefit assets
£ miflon NAPS  Qther schemes Total Cther schemes Total
Amount of unrecogrised actuanal losses at Aonl 1, 2006 (483) (16} {499)

Actual return on scheme assets 357 {3} 354 £} 1

Less Expected return on scheme assets (392) {18) (410} {2) {2)

{33) {21] {56} 3 37

Oither actuanal (losses)/gains {113) 52 {61) 3 3

Settlement of BRAL scheme 9 {9

Charge ansing due to changes to pension scheme 38 38

Amortisation of actuaral losses in excess of the corndor ! !

Cumulative unrecognised actuanal losses at March 31, 2007 (593) 7 {586)

Actual return on scheme assets ) 8} (2) 3 3

Less Expected return on scheme assets (495) (18) (513) {2) (2)
{489) (26) (515) 1 1

Qther actuarnal gamns/{losses) 873 28 901 3) (3)

Cumulative unrecogmised actuanial losses at March 31, 2008 {209) g (200} {(2) {2)

Scheme assets and habilities are measured by qualified actuanes Scheme assets are stated at their market values at the respective balance
sheet dates and overall expected rates of return are estabhshed by applying published brokers’ forecasts 1o each category of scheme assets

Group

At March 31 2008 At March 31 2007

Par cent per annum NAPS APS* Other schemes NAPS APS  Other schemes
Inflauon 35 35 30-50 30 30 3040
Rate of increase in salanes 35 40 15-55 35 35 30-60
Rate of increase of pensions N payment 34 35 15110 29 29 20-110
Discount rate a6 70 20-66 53 54 20-70
Expected rate of return on scheme assets 69 52 40-76 69 54 5583

“Rate of increase n salanes 15 4 O per cent per annum for three years, 1 0 per cent in excess of RPI to March 2016 and 1 5 per cenz in excess of RP! thereafter (2006/07 Rate
of increase in salaries 15 4 O per cent to March 2016 and 4 5 per cent thereafter)

Rate of Increase 1n healthcare costs are based on medical trend rates of 11 per cent grading down to 5 per cent over six years (2006/07 11 per cent
to 5 per cent over Six years)

In the UK, mortality rates are calculated using the 00-series standard mortality tables for APS and the PABO standard mortality tables for NAPS
(the two largest Group and Company schemes) The standard mortality tables were selected based on the the aciual recent mortality experience
of members and were adjusted to allow for future mortality changes In the US, mortality rates were based on the 1994 GAM Static tables If the
post-retrement mortality tables used for APS and NAPS were to be changed such that the Iife expectancy of members was mcreased by one
year, the defined benefit obligations would mncrease by approximately £120 milion in APS and £150 milhon in NAPS

If the discount rate were to be decreased by 0 1 per cent without changing any other assumptions, the defined benefit obligauons would increase
by approximately £60 million i APS and £130 million in NAPS

A one percentage point change In the assumed rate of increase i healthcare costs would have the following effects

£ mithon Inczease Decrease
Effect on aggregate service cost and interest cost (2) 2
Effect on defined benefit obhgauon (24 17
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35 Pension costs continued

{Changes in the present value of the defined benefit pension obligations are analysed as follows

£mpilayee benefit oblgatons Employee benefit assets
£ million NAPS  Qther schemes Total APS  QOther schemes Tota!
As at Apnl 1, 2006 7,902 538 8,440 5,867 30 5.897
Current service cost 264 7 271 23 23
Past service cost 29 29 10 10
Interest cost 388 23 411 284 { 285
Benefits paid (210} {15) {225} {388} {1 (383)
Employee contributions 58 58 8 8
Settlement of BRAL scheme* (104} {104}
Credit anising on changes 1o pension scheme {434) {434}
Acwanal losses/{gains) 113 {52} 61 272 {3} 269
As at March 31, 2007 8110 397 8,507 6,076 27 6,103
Current service cost 170 7 177 20 20
Past service cost 1 1 i 1
Interest cost 415 23 448 318 1 319
Benefits paid (202} (15) (217} (375) (2) (377)
Employee contributions 74 74 8 8
Actuanal (gains)/losses (873} (28) (901} (616) 3 (613)
As at March 31, 2008 7,705 384 8,089 5,432 29 5461

*As a result of the sale of BA Connect, the Company Issued to the BRAL scheme a guarantee of £50 mullion over the next two years

The defired benefit obligation compnises £7 million (2007 £7 million) ansing from unfunded plans and £8,082 million (2007 £8,500 million)

from plans that are wholly ar partly funded

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are analysed as follows

£mployee benefir obligatons

Employee benefit assets

£ mdlion NAPS  Other schemes Tota! APS  Other schemes Total
As at Apnil 1, 2006 5,832 318 6,150 6,650 36 6,686
Expected return on plan assets 392 18 410 330 2 332
Emplayer contributions 508 6 514 29 29
Contrnbuuons by employees 58 58 8 8
Benefits paig (210) {15) {225) (388) L)) (389)
Settlement of BRAL scheme (68} {68)

Actuarial losses (27) (21} {48} (138) {3} {141)
As at March 31, 2007 6,553 238 6,791 6,491 34 6,525

Expected return on plan assets 495 18 513 341 2 343

Employer contrnibutions 917 6 923 21 21

Contributions by employees 74 74 8 8

Benefits paid (202) (15) (217) (375) (2) (377
Actuanal (losses)/gains {489) (26} {515) 182 1 183

As at March 31, 2008 7.348 221 7.569 6,668 35 6,703
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35 Pension costs continued
History of experience gains and losses

Employee herefit abligations Employee benefit asses
£ milkon NAPS Cther schemes Total APS  (Onher schemes Toral
As at March 31, 2008
Fair value of scheme assets 7348 221 7.569 6,668 35 5,703
Present value of defined benefit obligai:on {7,705) (384) (8,089) (5.432) (29) (5,461}
APS irrecoverable surplus {1,159) {1,159)
(Defici)/surplus in the scheme {357) (163} (520) 77 6 83
Experence adjustments ansing on plan habilives (873) (28) @on (616) 3 (613)
Experience adjustments ansing on plan assets (489) (26) (515) 182 1 183
As at March 31, 2007
Fair value of scheme assets 6,553 238 6,781 6,491 34 6,525
Present value of defined benefit obligatuon {8,110) (397} (8,507) {6,076) {27} {6,103)
APS irrecoverable surplus (306) {306}
(Defict)/surplus in the scheme (1,557} {159) (1,716} 109 7 116
Experience adjustments arising on plan habiliues {113) 52 {61) (272} 3 {269}
Expenence adjustments ansing on plan assets {27) {21) {48} {138} {3} {141)
As at March 31, 2006
Farr value of scheme assets 5832 318 6,150 6,650 36 6,686
Present value of defined benefit obligation {7.902) {538] {8,440} (5.867) 30 (5.897}
APS irecoverable surplus (652) {652)
(Deficit)/surplius in the scheme {2,070} 2209 {2,290} 13t 6 137
Expenence adjustments ansing on plan habilities {920} {25} (945} (235) {5} 290}
Expenence adjustments ansing on plan assets 794 35 829 581 5 586
As at March 31, 2005
Fair value of scherme assets 4,554 266 4,820 6,031 29 6,060
Present value of defined benefit obligavon {6,523} {488} {7.011) {5,603} {24} (5,627}
APS irrecoverable surplus {296) {296)
{Deficit)/surplus in the scheme {1,969) {222} {2,191) 132 5 137

The directors are unzble to determine how much of the pension scheme surplus or deficit recagnised on transiion 1o IFRS and taken directly
to equity Is attributable to acwanal gains and losses since incepuion of those pension schemes
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Notes to the accounts continued

36 Contingent habilities

There were contingent liabilities at March 31, 2008 in respect of guarantees and indemniues entered into as part of the ardinary course of the
Group's business No matenal losses are Iikely to anse from such contingent hiabilives A number of other lawswits and regulatory proceedings are
pending, the autcome of which in the aggregate 1s not expected to have a matenal effect on the Groups financial pesition or results of operations

The Group and the Company have guaranteed certain borrowings, labiites and commitments which at March 31, 2008 amounted to £173 milhion
(2007 £168 million) and £448 milion (2007 £397 million) respectively For the Company these included guarantees given in respect of the fixed
perpetual preferred securities issued by substdiary undertakings

The Group 15 nvolved in certain claims and litigation related to 1ts operations In the opinion of management, lizbilues, if any, ansing from these
claims and hugation will not have a material adverse effect on the Groups consolidated financial postuon or results of operations The Group files
INcome tax returns in many junsdictions throughout the world Various tax authorities are currently examining the Group's income tax returns Tax
returns contain matters that could be subject to differing interpretations of applicable tax laws and reguiations and the resolution of tax posiions
through negottations with relevant tax authoruies, or through liugation, can take several years 1o complete While it 1s difficult to predict the ulumate
outcome In some cases, the Group does not anticipate that there will be any matenal impact on the Group's financial position or results of operations

37 Related party transactions
The Group and Company had transactions 1 the ardinary course of business dunng the year under review with related parties

Group Company
£ milkon 2008 2007 2008 2007
Associates
Sales 10 asscoates 43 45 43 45
Purchases from associates 54 105 54 105
Amounts owed by associates 4 4
Amounts owed Lo associates ) /
Subsidiaries
Sales to subsidiaries 36 73
Purchases from subsidiaries 126 121
Amounts owed by subsidianes 116 a9
Amounts owed to subsidianes 1,982 1,928

tn addiwion, the Company meets certain costs of administering the Group’s retirement benefit plans, ncluding the provision of support services
to the Trusiees Costs borne on behalf of the retrement benefit plans amounted 10 £3 6 millen in relation 1o the costs of the Pension Pratection
Fund levy (2006/07 £5 3 million)

Associates

a Ibena, Lineas Aereas de Espafia, S.A (lbena)

Duning the year, the Group increased its investment in Iberia from 9 95 per cent to 13 15 per cent Areas of opportunity for cooperation have
been identified, and work continues 1o pursue and implement these Sales and purchases between related parties are made at normal market
prices and cutstanding balances are unsecured and interest free Cash settlement s expected within the standard settlement terms specified
by the JATA Clearing House

As at March 31, 2008, the net trading balance owed by Iberia to the Group amounted to £3 1 million (2007 £0 4 milkon owed to Ibena)

b Comair Limited (Comanr)

Prior to September 30, 2006, the Group's shareholding in Comair was 18 3 per cent and due to the Group's ability to exercise sigruficant
influence, the investment in Comair was accounted for using the equity method On September 30, 2006, the Group's shareholding in Comair
decreased to 1092 per cent and the Group no longer had the ability to exercise significant influence over the investmen, at which ume the
wvestment was reclassified as an avallable-for-sale financial asset Sales and purchases 1o and from Comair up to September 30, 2006 have
been included in the numbers above
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37 Related party transactions continued

¢ Other associates
The remaining net trading balances are due to transactions between the Group and Dunwoady Arrine Services (Holdings) Lid

Subsidiares

Transactions with subsidianes are carried out on an arm's-length basis Outstanding balances that relate to trading balances are placed on
Inter-company accounts with no specified credit penod Long-term Joans owed to and from the Company by subsidiary undertakings bear
market rates of interest in accordance with the inter-company loan agreements

Directors’ and officers’ loans and transactions
No loans or credit ransactions were autstanding with directors or officers of the Company at March 31, 2008 or arose during the year that

need to be disclosed 1n accordance with the requirements of Schedule 6 to the Companies Act 1985

In addition to the above, the Group and Company also have transactions with related parties which are conducted in the normal course of
airhne business These include the provision of airfine and refated services

Nerther the Group nor Company have provided or benefited from any guarantees for any related party recewables or payables Dunng the

year ended March 31, 2008 the Group has not made any provision for doubtful debts refating to amounts owed by related parties (2007 £rl)

Compensation of key management personnel (including directors)

Group Company
£ mullion 2008 2007 2008 2007
Shart-term employee benefits 4 4 4 4
Share-based payments 2 3 2 3
6 7 6 7

38 Foreign currency translation rates
At March 31 Annual average
£1 equals 2008 2007 2008 2007
US dollar 199 196 201 189
Japanese yen 197 231 231 220
Euro 126 147 143 i47
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Operating and financial statistics

For the five years ended March 31, 2008

Total Group operations

2008 2007 2006* 2005 204
Traffic and capacity
Revenue passenger km (RPK) milhan 113,016 112851 109,713 107,852 103,097
Available seat km (ASK) million 149,545 148,321 144,194 144,189 141,273
Passenger load factor per cent 756 761 761 748 730
Cargo tonne km (CTK) million 4,80 4,695 4,929 4,954 4,461
Total revenue tonne km (RTK) million 16,256 16,112 15,909 15,731 14,771
Total avallable tonne km (ATK) million 22,829 22,882 22718 22,565 21,859
Overall load factor per cent 712 704 700 697 676
Passengers carnied ‘000 33,161 33,068 32,432 35,717 36,103
Tonnes of cargo carmed 000 805 762 795 877 796
Frequent flyer RPKs as a percentage of total RPKs (note 2) per cent 39 38 38 32 40
Revenue arrcraft km millian 644 637 614 661 644
Revenue flights ‘000 281 276 280 378 391
Break-even overall load factor per cent 636 65 4 636 643 636
Financial
Passenger revenue per RPK pence 667 §44 6 31 602 630
Passenger revenue per ASK pence 504 490 4 80 451 459
Cargo revenue per CTK pence 1259 1274 12 94 973 1038
Average fuel pnce (US cents/US gallon) 245 26 209 60 188 22 136 44 94 49
Operations
Average manpower equivalent (MPE) 42,403 42,683 43,814 47,472 49,072
RTKs per MPE 3834 3775 3631 3314 3010
ATKs per MPE 538 4 536 1 5185 4753 445 4
Aircraft in service at year end 245 242 284 290 291
Aircraft utisation (average hours per arcraft per day) 1091 10 82 1029 283 921
Unduplicated route km ‘000 629 589 574 623 657
Punctuabty - within 15 minutes per cemnt 63 87 75 76 81
Regulanty per cent 982 985 988 988 98 8

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004+
Financial**
interest cover (note 3) umes 148 167 60 38
Dmdend cover umes n/a n/a n/a n/a
Operaung margin {(note 4) per cent 100 71 85 72
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation
and rentals (EBITDAR) milion 1,777 1,549 1,666 1,552
Net debt/total capital ratio (note 5) per cent 288 291 442 677
MNet debt/total capital ratio incleding operating leases per cent 384 396 530 724
Total traffic revenue per RTK pence 5018 4879 47 53 44 4
Total traffic revenue per ATK pence 3573 3435 3328 3054
Total operating expenditure per RTK {note 6) pence 48 46 49 26 47 26 40 85
Total operating expenditure per ATK (note 6) pence 3451 3468 33710 2848

.

Restated tor the disposal of the regwonal business of BA connect

Financial ratios are only available unaer comparauve IFRS from the Group s transiion date of Apnil 1, 2004

n/fa = not appiicable
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Notes
1 Operating statstics do not include those of associate undertakings

{Ibena and Comair) and franchisees (Loganair and Sun Axr (Scandinavia))

2 The carnage of passengers on the Frequent Flyer Programme 1s
evaluated on a ticket by ticket basis

3 Interest caver is defined as the number of tmes profit/{loss) before
tax excluding net nterest payable covers the net nterest payzble
Interess cover 1s not a financial measure under IFRS However,
management believes this measure 15 useful 10 Investors when
analysing the Group's abdity to meet its interest comaitments from
current earnings The following table shows a reconciiation of net
interest payable for each of the two most recent financial years

Year ended March 31

(€ million [except ratos)} 2008 2007
Profit before 1ax 883 611
Net interest payable {3) {64) (39)
Profit adjusted for interest payable (b) 947 650
Interest cover (b)/(a} 148 167

4 QOperatng margin is defined as operating profit as a percentage of
revenue Revenue compnises passenger revenue (scheduled services
and non-scheduled services), cargo services and other revenue

5 Net debt as a percentage of totat capital Net debt 5 defined as
the total of loans, finance leases and hire purchase habilities, net of
short-term loans and deposits and cash less overdrafis See note 24
10 the financial statements for details of the calculation of net debt
Total capital 1s defined as the total of capital, reserves, minofity
imterests, and net debt Total capital and the net debt/total capital
ratio are not financial measures under IFRS However, management
believe these measures are useful to INvestors when analysing
the extent 1o which the Group 1s funded by debt rather than by
shareholders’ funds See note 30 to the financial staternents for
details of the calculation of the net debt/total capital (gearing) rauo

6 Total expenditure on operations, total expenditure on operations
per RTK and total expenditure on operauons per ATK are not
financial measures under IFRS However, management believes
these measures are useful to Investors as they provide further
analysis of the performance of the Group's main business
activity 1e airline operations The Board of directors reviews
these measures internally on a monthly basis as an indicatton of
management's performance In reducing €osts The followmg 1abte
shows a reconciliation of total expenditure on operations per RTK
and total expenditure on operatcns per ATK for each of the two
most recent financal years

Year ended March 31

I 1E3A YD JO MIAIIND I

(£ mulhon (except ratos)) 2008 2007
Total expenditure on operations 7,878 7.936
RTKs 16,256 16,112
ATKs 22,829 22,882
Total expenditure on operations per RTK {pence) 48 46 4926
Total expenditure on operations per ATK (pence) 34 51 34 68
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Principal investments

at March 31, 2008

Investments in subsidiaries

The following table includes those principal investments which significantly impact the results or assets of the Group

These subsidiaries are wholly-owned except where indicated

Principal actvities

Country of incorporation
and regstration
and principal cperatucns

Air Mies Travet Promotions Lid Aurline marketing England
BA & AA Holdings Lid Holding Company England
BA Cash Management LP Investment Company England
8A Cityflyer | td Aurline operations England
BA European Ltd (trading as OpenSkies) Airhine operations England
Britarr Holdings Lid Hotding Company England
British Airways 777 Leasing Ltd Aircraft financing England
Bniush Airways Avionic Engineerning Ltd Aurcraft maintenance England
Brish Awrways Capital Ltd Airhne finance Jersey
{89 per cent of founders' shares owned)
British Asrways Holdings Ltd Airline finance Jersey
Briush Airways Holidays Lid Package holidays England
Briush Airways Interior Engineering Ltd Auarcraft maintenance Engtand
Britsh Airways Leasing Ltd Aircraft financing England
Briush Airways Maintenance Cardiff Ltd Aircraft maintenance England
2ntish Airways Regionat Ltd Aur travel services Engtand
Speedbird Cash Managemen: Ltd tavestment Company Bermuda
Speedbird Insurance Company Ltd Insurance Bermuda
The Piimsoll Line Ltg Holding Company England
Investments In associates
Country of
Percentage of Pnncipal incorporation and

equity awned

acuwvites

prnncipal operatsons

Ibena, Lineas Aereas de Espafia, S.A (lbena’)* 1315 Airline operations Spain
Available for sale and other investments
Percentage of Country of incorporation
equity owned Principal acovibies and principal operations
Aurline Group Ltd 167 Aur traffic control holding company England
Flybe Group Lid* 150 Aurline operations England
Comarr Ltd* 109 Aurline operations South Africa

"Not owned drrectly by Briush Airways Plc
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Shareholder information

General Information

Financial calendar

Financral year end March 31, 2008
Annuat general meetung July 15,2008

Announcement of 2008/09 results

Three month results to June 30, 2008 August 1, 2008
Six month results to September 30, 2008 November 7, 2008
Nine month results 1o December 31, 2008 February 6, 2009
Preliminary announcement May 22 2009
Renorts and Accounts June 2009
Registered Office

Waterside, PO Box 365, Harmondsworth, UB7 0GB
Registered number — 1777777

Qutside advisers
Company Registrars Computershare Investor Services Plc,
PO Box 82, The Pavilions, Bridgewater Rozd, Bristol, BS99 7NH

ADR Depositary Cittbank Shareholder Semvices, PO Box 43077,
Providence, RI 02940-3077, USA

Unschcited mail

The Company 1s obliged by law to make its share regisier avallable

on request 1o other organisations who may thenuse it as a maling

list This may result in receving unsohcited mail If you wish to hmit
the recept of unsolicited mail you may do so by writing to the Mailing
Preference Service, an independent orgarisation whose services are
free 10 you Once your name and address have been added to1ts
records, 1t will advise the companies and oiher bodies which support
the service that you no longer wish to recerve unsohcited mai

If you would like more details please write to
The Mailing Preference Service, FREEPOST 22, London, W1E 7EZ

The Company asks organisations which obtain its register to suppoft
this service

ShareGift

Sharehatders with small numbers of shares may fike to consider
donating their shares to charity under ShareGift, administered
by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation Details are available from
the Company Registrars
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Glossary

Aurline operations
Available seat kilometres (ASK)
Available tonne kilometres (ATK)

Revenue passenger kilometres (RPK)
Cargo tonne kilometres (CTK}
Revenue tonne kilometres (RTK)
Load factor

Passenger |load factor

Overall load factor

Break-even load factor

Frequent flyer RPKs as a percentage
of total RPKs

Revenue per RPK
Totat traffic revenue per RTK
Total traffic revenue per ATK

Punctuzlity
Regularity

Unduplicated route kilometres

Interest cover

Dividend cover
Operating margin

Nat dabt

Net debt/total capital ratio
(including operating leases)

Totat capital

Net debt/total capital ratio
Manpower equivalent
EBITDAR

n/a

This includes British Airways Ple and BA CityFlyer Ltd
The number of seats available for sale multiplied by the distance flown

The number of tonnes of capacity available for the carriage of revenue
load (passenger and cargo) multiplied by the distance flown

The number of revenue passengers carried multiplied by the distance flown

The number of revenue tonnes of cargo {freight and mall) carred muluplied by the distance flown
The revenue load in tonnes multiplied by the distance flown

The percentage relationship of revenue load carried to capacity avalable

RPK expressed as a percentage of ASK

RTK expressed as a percentage of ATK

The load factor required to equate total traffic revenue with operating costs

The amount of frequent flyer RPKs expressed as a percentage of total RPKs 15
indicative of the proportion of total passenger traffic that is represented by redemption
of frequent flyer points in the year

Passenger revenue from Auriine scheduled operauons divided by Airline scheduled RPK
Revenue from total traffic (scheduled and non-scheduled} dwvided by RTK
Revenue from total traffic (scheduled and non-scheduled) dwided by ATK

The industry’s standard, measured as the percentage of fights departing within
15 munutes of schedule

The percentage of flights completed to flights scheduled, excluding flights cancelled for
commercial reasens

All scheduled flight stages counted once, regardless of frequency or direction

The number of times profit before taxation and net interest expense and interest iIncome
covers the net interest expense and interest Income

The number of umes profit for the year covers the dvidends paid and proposed
Operating profit/(loss) as a percentage of revenue

l.oans, finance leases and hire purchase arrangements, net of other current tnterest bearing
deposits and cash and cash equivalents less overdrafts

Net debt as a ratio of total capital, adjusted to include the discounted value of future
operatng lease commitments

Total equity pius net debt

Net debt as a rauio of total capital

Number of empioyees adjusted for part-ume workers, overtime and contractors
Earmings before interest tax, depreciation, amort:isation and rentals

Mot applicable
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